
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764599 
e-mail: Demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL

Date & Time - Wednesday, 19 September 2018 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Policy Development Panel:

Councillors: D Ashby, J R Astill, F Biggadike, M D Booth, H Drury, L J Eldridge, 
P C Foyster, A Harrison, J L King, J D McLean (Vice-Chairman), A M Newton, 
J L Reynolds, S-A Slade, E J Sneath, J Tyrrell and A R Woolf (Chairman)

Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings.

Quorum: 6

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   11 September 2018



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 26th June 
(copy enclosed).

(Pages 
5 - 12)

3. Declaration of Interests.  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation.

4. Questions asked under Standing Order 6
 

5. Tracking of recommendations
To consider responses of the Cabinet reports of the Panel.
  

6. Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel 

7. Key Decision Plan
To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
13 - 16)

8. Policy Register
To note the current Policy Register (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
17 - 22)

9. Revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy
To seek the Panel’s recommendation that Cabinet adopt a Revised 
Street Naming and Numbering Policy (report of Executive Director –
Place is attached).

(Pages 
23 - 46)

10. Gambling Act - Statement of Principles 
To consider the draft revised Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) 
(report of the Executive Manager - People and Public Protection is 
enclosed).

(Pages 
47 - 98)

11. Review of Housing Allocations Policy
To report on the review and seek agreement to changes proposed in the 
Housing Allocations Policy (report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing 
and Health and Executive Director – Place is enclosed).

(Pages 
99 - 
130)

12. Houses In Multiple Occupation Policy - 
To update members on changes to legislation and to provide a policy 
framework to enable licensing in houses of multiple occupation (report of 
Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and Executive Director – Place 
is enclosed).

(Pages 
131 - 
144)



13. Addressing Long Term Empty Homes
To update members on changes to legislation, a recent initiative taken 
to reduce the numbers of empty homes and current performance (report 
of the Executive Director – Place is enclosed).

(Pages 
145 - 
150)

14. Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 
To update members on changes to legislation and to provide a policy 
framework to enable Private Sector Housing Enforcement (report of the 
Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and Executive Director – Place).

(Pages 
151 - 
178)

15. Reduction of Paper and Postage Task Group
To provide a progress update following the sign-off of the 
recommendations of the Reduction in Printing and Postage Task Group 
in February 2017 (report of Councillor J Astill, Chairman of the 
Reduction in Postage and Paper Task Group is enclosed).

(Pages 
179 - 
194)

16. Policy Development Work Programme
To consider the work programme of the Policy Development Panel 
(report of the Executive Manager – Governance is enclosed).

(Pages 
195 - 
202)

17. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent.

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Meeting 
Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 26 June 2018 at 6.30 
pm.

PRESENT

A R Woolf (Chairman)
J D McLean (Vice-Chairman)

D Ashby
J R Astill
F Biggadike
L J Eldridge

P C Foyster
A Harrison
J L Reynolds
S-A Slade

E J Sneath
J Tyrrell

In Attendance:  Portfolio Holder – Place, Portfolio Holder – Housing and Health, Place 
Manager and Democratic Services Officer

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors M D Booth, 
H Drury, J L King and A M Newton 

Action By
1. MINUTES 

Policy Development Panel – 1 May 2018

AGREED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Development Panel 
held on 1 May 2018 be agreed as a correct record.

Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel – 25 January 2018

AGREED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel held on 25 
January 2018 be agreed as a correct record.

Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel – 24 April 2018

AGREED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel held on 24 April 
2018 be agreed as a correct record.

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 2 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 26 June 
2018

3. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were none.

4. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were no tracking of recommendations to consider. 

5. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL 

There were none.

6. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan published on 4 
June 2018.

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted.

7. POLICY REGISTER 

Consideration was given to the Policy Register Dated 13 June 
2018

AGREED:

That the Policy Register was noted

8. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which sought to update the Policy Development Panel on 
the draft revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy.

The Portfolio Holder for Place presented the report.

The Portfolio Holder for Place recognised the longevity of the 
policy and stated that the biggest opportunity brought by this was 
the introduction of charges for exercise of consulting with various 
bodies about proposals for names. It was stated that these 
charges were not for profit, but simply to reclaim the costs.

Officers added that they welcomed feedback for review of the 
draft to be ready for the final presentation in September.

Page 6



- 3 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 26 June 
2018

Members stated that they knew of one street that was named 
differently at either end. Members wanted to know what the policy 
was on such errors. The Portfolio Holder for Place stated that this 
should have been rectified at the time of implementation but 
stated that residents can submit a complaint and the relevant 
steps can then be taken. He offered to investigate this particular 
case.

Councillors stated that one of the aims of PDP was to shorten and 
simplify policies, they therefore stated that they would appreciate 
seeing some of the unnecessary material cut out. Officers stated 
that the vast majority of the policy was still relevant and valid, but 
they asked that members contact them to highlight areas they felt 
could be cut/simplified.

Members stated that it was a problem with houses having hard-to-
find numbers. They therefore asked if a specification could be 
made to make it so a house had to display a number. Officers and 
The Portfolio Holder for Place stated that this was already the 
case, but that here was no regulation to allow a stipulation to be 
made as to what number should be displayed.

The Chairman advised of some words that were on the list of both 
acceptable and not acceptable suffixes. Officers stated that they 
would look into this.

AGREED:

a. That members of the Panel notify officers of any areas of 
the policy which could be cut or simplified while still 
maintaining the legal integrity of the document; and

b. That the final revised policy be considered by Policy 
Development Panel on 19 September 2018 prior to it being 
considered by Cabinet.

ES, CB 

9. HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – 
Place. Which sought to provide an update to Houses in Multiple 
Occupation.

The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health introduced the report. 
It was stated that the Spalding Voice had featured an article about 
the prosecution of The Chequers, which it was hoped would prove 
an example of enforcement

Page 7



- 4 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 26 June 
2018

It was stated that the new regulation was removing the stipulation 
that a HMO had to be a property which was 3 or more stories.

Phase 1 of the changes was due to begin in October which was 
when the Policy would be implemented. Landlords who were not 
previously subject to licenses would not be prosecuted 
immediately and would have a grace period to obtain a licence. It 
was stated that some reports would have to go to Council for 
approval but that, generally, progress was good.

The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health stated that she would 
ask that members feed back to officers if they knew of any HMOs

The Chairman stated that he was pleased with the information 
given

Members asked what happened to individuals living in properties 
which were prosecuted. The Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Health stated that they would need to vacate the property, as it 
would be deemed unsafe, but that these people would be pointed 
toward housing advice and given the necessary support to aid 
them in finding new accommodation. Officers stated that here was 
a homelessness team and policies in place to resolve such 
issues. Officers also stated that when enforcement took place it 
was hoped to be about making the property owner comply rather 
than to deny a licence immediately.

Members asked that because the new HMOs would be so difficult 
to find, if there were any other identifying factors that could be 
used to find offending properties. Officers stated that they would 
rely heavily on individuals such as Post Office staff and 
neighbours and that HMO properties were often uncared for and 
run-down, more so than neighbouring properties. The Chairman 
stated that refuse collection staff could also be a valuable 
resource for identifying such properties.

Members asked a number of questions to Officers;

 How the policy was being publicised.

 If the new figure of 1200 HMOs in the district included the 
properties which would fall under the new legislation and if  
these buildings would be written to to inform the owners 
that they would need to comply; and

 If  employment agencies would be notified and told what 
the changes were. 

Page 8



- 5 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 26 June 
2018

Officers stated that they would get back to members with the 
answers to these questions

Members asked if this policy would include Caravan sites used to 
house workers. Officers stated that they would not be included 
and that this was a separate type of license

The Chairman asked when the new legislation would be 
implemented, the Place Manager stated that the 1st phase would 
begin on 1st October 2018 but that she would get back to 
Members on this to confirm.

The Chairman asked that the policy document be brought to the 
meeting in September

AGREED:

a. That the report be noted.

b. That the Houses in Multiple Occupation policy be brought 
to the Policy Development Panel on 19 September 2018

ES 

ES, DS, 
GW 

10. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – 
Strategy and Governance which sought to present the draft of the 
Council’s Equality and Diversity policy to the Policy Development 
Panel for review.

Officers stated that the last update was in 2013 and that the new 
draft had been simplified and shortened significantly.

The Vice-Chairman  wanted to thank officers for their hard work 
on the policy with regard to shortening and simplifying the 
document. The Chairman wished to echo this sentiment.

AGREED:

That the Policy Development Panel recommend the draft Equality 
and Diversity Policy to Cabinet.

11. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – 
Strategy and Governance which sought to present the draft of the 
Council’s Freedom of Information policy to the Policy 
Development Panel for review.

Page 9



- 6 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 26 June 
2018

It was stated that the previous review of this policy was in June 
2014. The document linked to the relevant act and therefore was 
simple and short.

The Vice-Chairman  wanted to thank officers for their hard work 
on the policy with regard to shortening and simplifying the 
document. The Chairman wished to echo this sentiment.

AGREED:
That the Policy Development Panel recommend the adoption of 
the draft Freedom of Information Policy to Cabinet. 

12. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager – 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the Policy 
Development Panel. The Work Programme consisted of two 
separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the future 
Panel meetings along with proposed items for consideration, and 
the second setting out the Task Groups that had been identified 
by the Panel.

Public Open Spaces Task Group

The Task Group was expecting that the Senior Planning Lawyer 
would be at the next meeting to provide information. It was further 
stated that after this had taken place, the Task Group could be 
closed.

Data protection

The Data Protection and Retention Task Group was currently on 
hold but was still active, awaiting a new meeting.

Planning Design

The Portfolio Holder for Place stated that it was hoped that the 
new local plan would be completed at some point before the end 
of the year, at which point this Task Group could commence.

HMOs task group

It was agreed that this could be brought off the Work Programme 
in September after the HMO policy had been presented to PDP. 
Officers stated a review could take place 6 months after the 
implementation on 1 October 2018, members agreed that this 
was a good idea. The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health 

Page 10



- 7 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 26 June 
2018

said that in September’s update, best practice photos could be 
provided alongside the report.

It was agreed that the HMO policy would be presented to PDP on 
19 September 2018.

It was agreed that the HMO policy would be reviewed 6 months 
after the new legislation was implemented on 1 October 2018.

Leisure Facilities Task Group

Members asked why the leisure facilities Task Group was still on 
the work programme. The Chairman stated that this was still 
active and had never gone away. Officers stated that as a holding 
position a new short term leisure contract was out to tender. This 
position enables the council to work with local partners to carry 
out a ‘full options appraisal’ for long-term provision of leisure 
services in the district. 

Officers stated that the upcoming new leisure contract was far 
more robust than the previous version which set out clear 
performance standards to be met by the potential supplier.

Officers stated that tenders were to be submitted in August 2018. 
Officers agreed that the Chairman and Vice Chairman would be 
briefed on any further information after this date.

AGREED:

a. That the HMO policy be presented to PDP on 19 
September 2018.

b. That HMOs Task group be removed from the Work 
Programme after the HMO policy had been presented to 
PDP on 19 September 2018.

c. That the HMO policy be reviewed 6 months after the new 
legislation was implemented on 1 October 2018; and

d. That the Work Programme be noted.

DS, ES, 
GW 

DS, GW 

ES, DS, 
GW 

13. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were none

Page 11



- 8 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 26 June 
2018

(The meeting ended at 7.39 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 12



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued – 7 September 2018 

  

 

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to:  

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 
 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 7.



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock 
 

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock. 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager. 
 
Informal meetings and 
discussions. 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Sep 
2018 
 

 
 
 
Acquisition 
opportunity to 
expand the 
Housing 
Revenue 
Account 
 

To set out details of a commercial 
opportunity relating to the potential for 
the council to acquire 15 units of 
affordable rented housing and 8 units 
of shared ownership over four 
development sites within the district. 
To set out the business case 
associated with this commercial 
opportunity and to set out details of an 
officer recommendation in relation to it. 

 

 
 
 
 

Acquisition 
opportunity to 
expand the 
Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Delivery and 
Strategic Oversight Not 
before 5th Oct 2018 
 

P
age 14



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
CSU Building 
Materials 
Contract 
 

To award a contract. 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing.  
 
Meetings and discussions.  
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Oct 
2018 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
CSU Electrical 
Materials Supply 
Contract (EMSC) 
2017 - 2021 
 

To award the EMSC to the successful 
supplier from the outcome of the 
procurement process 
 

 
 
Meetings and discussions 
 

 Officer Decisions Before 
30 Oct 2018 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Place 
 
 
Car Parking 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

To review the recommendations for car 
parking provision in SHDC owned car 
parks prior to statutory consultation 
 

 
 
 
 

Car Parking 
Recommendatio
ns 

Cabinet 20 Nov 2018 
 

P
age 15



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
4 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Place 
 
 
Lincolnshire 
Waste 
Partnership - 
Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy 
 

To consider the adoption of the Joint 
Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy 
 

 
 
 
 

Lincolnshire 
Waste 
Partnership - 
Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy 

Cabinet 12 Feb 2019 
 

 

*Cabinet Membership 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor T Carter (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C Johnson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 
 
 

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 
 

Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

P
age 16



1

SHDC Policy Register
Generated on: 03 September 2018

Rows are sorted by Approved Date

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy

Statutory 01-Jan-2005 3 years 01-Jan-2008 Being Reviewed Draft receicved at 
PDP in June 2018. 
Final copy to be 
received by PDP in 
September 2018.

Clinton Bell

Affordable Housing 
Policy

Non Statutory 01-Jan-2009 3 years 01-Jan-2012 Being Reviewed This policy sits 
within the Local plan 
and will therefore be 
approved alongside 
it. The local plan has 
been submitted and 
it is anticipated to be 
approved in 
Nov/December of 
2018 by the Joint 
planning committee.

Matthew Hogan

Strategic Tenancy Policy Statutory 12-Sep-2012 3 years 12-Sep-2015 Being Reviewed Confirmed with 
Matthew Hogan that 
the update provided 
to PDP was to come 
back in Feb 2019 
with an update on 
the position

Matthew Hogan

South Holland Common 
Housing Allocations 

Statutory 01-Jun-2013 3 years 01-Jun-2016 Being Reviewed Will be reviewed by 
PDP on the 19th 

Phil Stacey

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 8.



2

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Policy September, pending 
approval it will then 
go out to 
consultation with our 
housing association 
partners.

Safeguarding Policy Statutory 01-May-2014 3 years 01-May-2017 Being Reviewed • Safeguarding 

County policy just 
being changed for 
SHDC

Looking to go to 
19th Sept PDP

Will be going to 
Strategic 
Safeguarding Board 
and EMT

Donna Hall

Asset Management 
Strategy

Constitutional 18-Jun-2014 5 years 18-Jun-2019 Pending Approval This will be reviewed 
as per the schedule, 
the service is 
currently looking at 
producing an 
integrated strategy 
which will involve 
high level 
discussions with 
Councillors and 
Senior managers 
and therefore will 
incur delays.

Ross Hastie

Gambling Policy - 
Statement of Principles

Constitutional 16-Dec-2015 3 years 16-Dec-2018 Pending Approval Gambling policy is 
out for consultation 

Donna Hall

P
age 18



3

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

and on the forward 
plan to be approved 
at council in Jan 
2019

Hate Crime Policy Non Statutory 01-Jan-2016 3 years 31-Dec-2018 Approved superceded by 
county policy - 
internal procedures 
will be updated as 
per agreement wth 
policy panel

Dee Bedford

Statement of Licensing 
Policy

Constitutional 07-Jan-2016 4 years 07-Jan-2020 Approved Statutory 
requirement to 
review every 5 years  

Donna Hall

Corporate Asbestos 
Policy

Statutory 22-Jun-2016 2 years 22-Jun-2018 Being Reviewed A revised policy was 
submitted to key 
managers for 
feedback,, will be 
ready for approval at 
PDP in November 
2018

Emily Ferrier1; Nick 
Kendrick

Anti-Social Behaviour 
Policy

Statutory 01-Jul-2016 3 years 01-Jul-2019 Approved SHDC is now using 
the Lincolnshire 
ASB Strategy in 
conjunction with 
South Hollands 
enforcement policy, 
if a separate ASB 
policy is still required 
then the service has 
stated this could be 
prepared for Q4 
18/19

Dee Bedford

HR Policy Handbook Non Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years 18-Jan-2020 Approved Claire Burton

P
age 19



4

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Corporate Debt Policy - 
Accounting Services

Non Statutory 25-Jul-2017 3 years 25-Jul-2020 Approved This will be reviewed 
as per the schedule

Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Sexual Establishments 
Policy Statement

Non Statutory 06-Sep-2017 3 years 06-Sep-2020 Approved https://democracy.
sholland.gov.uk/ie
ListDocuments.asp
x?CId=141&MId=22
27&Ver=4

Donna Hall

Unreasonable Behaviour 
and vexatious requests

Non Statutory 21-Nov-2017 3 years 21-Nov-2020 Approved Approved by 
Council.  Now on 
SHDC intranet and 
website.

 

just need to email 
SMT to provide link 
and confirm

Sarah Wolstenholme-
Smy

Health & Safety Policy Statutory 22-Nov-2017 2 years 22-Nov-2019 Approved Complete on 
forward plan 
awaiting approval 
from EMT

Emily Ferrier1; Nick 
Kendrick

Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Policy

Non Statutory 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 Approved This is due to Gov & 
Aud committee in 
December 17

Faye Haywood; Emma 
Hodds

Whistleblowing Policy - 
Confidential Reporting 
Code

Statutory 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 Approved This is due to Gov & 
Aud committee in 
December 17

Faye Haywood; Emma 
Hodds

Constitution Statutory 18-Jan-2018 1 year 18-Jan-2019 Approved the ability to make 
changes to the 
constitution at any 
time is available and 

Rhonda Booth

P
age 20

https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4


5

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

these are agreed or 
reported back to 
Council as and 
when approrpriate

AHM Collections 
Development Policy

Non Statutory 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Approved Email attached to 
advise that desktop 
review has taken 
place and policies 
are ok for next 2 
years.

Julia Knight

AHM Collections Care 
and Conservation Policy

Non Statutory 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Approved Email attached to 
advise that desktop 
review has taken 
place and policies 
are ok for next 2 
years.

Julia Knight

Corporate Plan Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2019 Approved Plan is reviewed 
annually  

Greg Pearson

Capital Strategy Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Corporate Charging 
Policy - Accounting 
Services

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Treasury Policy 
Statement & Clauses to 
be Adopted

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

P
age 21



6

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Statement
Data Protection Policy Statutory 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved Agreed at 29th May 

Cabinet
Mark Stinson

Corporate Enforcement 
Policy

Non Statutory 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved Sarah Shipley

Equalities Policy Non Statutory 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Being Reviewed Equalities policy is 
being presented at 
the 26th June PDP

Greg Pearson

Freedom of Information 
(FoI) Policy

Statutory 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Being Reviewed FOI policy is being 
presented at the 
26th June PDP

Greg Pearson

 P
age 22



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Rob Walker, Executive Director - Place

To: Policy Development Panel Wednesday, 19 September 2018

(Author: Phil Norman, Planning & Building Control Manager)

Subject Revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy

Purpose: To seek the Panel’s recommendation that Cabinet adopt a Revised Street 
Naming and Numbering Policy.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Policy Development Panel review the revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
and recommend its adoption to Cabinet on 20th November 2018 as per Appendix 1.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 A draft revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy was presented to Policy Development 
Panel on 26th June 2018.  The recommendation of that report was that the Policy 
Development Panel review the draft revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy with an 
intention to returning a final revised Policy to a future meeting of the Panel before 
recommending its adoption to Cabinet.

1.2 At that meeting it was agreed:
 that members of the Panel notify officers of any areas of the policy which could be cut 

or simplified whilst still maintaining the legal integrity of the document; and
 that the final revised policy be considered by Policy Development Panel on 19th 

September 2018 prior to it being considered by Cabinet.

1.3 In respect of the first bullet point above, and in response to comments received, officers 
have liaised with the Council’s legal department to seek their input.  Whilst officers agree 
that policies should be short and succinct wherever possible, the Council’s legal team have 
advised that the areas suggested for deletion should be retained for fullness and clarity, 
which will reduce the risk of legal challenge.  On that basis the following report and 
appended revised policy remains unchanged from the previous version considered by the 
Panel on 26th June.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 The Council has a duty under sections 17-19 of the Public Health Act 1925 (“the 1925 Act”) 
and sections 64 and 65 of the Town Improvement Clauses Act 1847 (“the 1847 Act”) to 
ensure that all roads in South Holland District are named and all properties numbered or 
named. The responsibility for dealing with applications for street naming and numbering, or 
re-naming, or re-numbering is administered by the Council’s Building Control section who 
will ensure that this information is relayed to appropriate organisations.

Page 23

Agenda Item 9.



2.2 To ensure that this service is operated effectively and efficiently it is necessary to set out 
procedures and performance standards.  The current Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
was originally adopted in 2005.  It is therefore timely to review its contents.

2.3 The main purpose of the policy is to provide a workable framework for the Council to 
operate its street naming and numbering function effectively and efficiently according to set 
procedures and performance standards, for the benefit of residents and visitors to South 
Holland.  It outlines how this will be carried out providing: guidelines on choice of name for 
streets in new development, design and positioning of street name plates, repair, 
maintenance and numbering/naming of properties; cost recovery; refunds; records; 
timescales; enforcement; and, appeals.

2.4 The main changes proposed in the reviewed policy relate to charging for the work that 
South Holland Building Control carry out in relation to street naming and numbering.  The 
power to charge falls under section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003 (“the 2003 Act”). 
This sets out that a local authority may charge for discretionary services. Discretionary 
services are those services that an authority has the power but not a duty to provide. An 
authority may charge where the person who receives the service has agreed to its 
provision and the charge must not exceed the cost of providing the service. The Council 
cannot charge for Street Naming services (since the duty to provide this service is not 
discretionary), but it can charge for elements of the naming and numbering function (which 
is a discretionary service) by virtue of Section 64 and 65 of the 1847 Act coupled with 
Section 93 of the 2003 Act.

2.5 Where a local authority wishes to charge for discretionary services, Section 93 of the 2003 
Act allows charging on a 'not for profit' basis, that is, the Council can only aim to recover 
costs incurred.  This is to encourage improvements to existing services and to develop new 
services with the aim of improving overall services to the customer.

2.6 All new development within South Holland will require the use of the Street Naming and 
Numbering function, as all new development needs address data, be they residential or 
commercial.  There is a considerable amount of resource, both in staff time and associated 
costs that are incurred in the Street Naming and Numbering process.

2.7 The draft revised policy proposes to charge in the follow instances:
• Consultation and liaising with other external organisations such as Royal Mail, 

Parish/Town Councils, Ward Members (as a non-statutory element of naming 
streets).

• The naming of new streets.
• The naming and/or numbering of new properties (including conversions).
• Alteration in either name or numbers to new developments after initial naming 

and/or numbering has been undertaken.
• Renaming of existing properties.
• Addition of names to an already numbered property.
• Confirmation of existing addresses.
• Challenges to existing official naming/numbering schemes/addresses held within 

the Street naming and Numbering records.

2.8 A draft schedule of charges is contained in the appendix to the attached revised policy.  
These costs have been calculated based on the Building Control service’s experience of 
the time taken to undertake such tasks and by applying the approved hourly rate of £57.67.

Page 24



2.9 There are no other fundamental changes to the policy with the procedures remaining 
largely unchanged.  The 2005 policy is still deemed to be fit for purpose in this regard.

3.0 OPTIONS

3.1 Option (A) – Do Nothing 

3.2 The ‘Do Nothing’ option is not recommended.  The current Street Naming and Numbering 
Policy was originally adopted in 2005.  It is therefore timely to review its contents.

3.3 Option (B) - That the Policy Development Panel review the revised Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy and recommend its adoption to Cabinet on 20th November 2018 as 
per Appendix 1.

3.4 This option is recommended.  There have been no changes to the Council’s responsibilities 
in respect of street naming and numbering.  The Council is still required to provide this 
service and to ensure there is no confusion over addresses of properties in the District.

3.5 There are limited changes to the policy in terms of procedure.  The main proposed change 
is to potentially charge for this service and generate income for the Council.  Other 
Councils are known to be charging for these works.  It is therefore reasonable for South 
Holland to explore this opportunity further.

3.6 Following the Panel on 26th June 2018 the views of the Panel have been discussed with the 
Council’s legal department in line with its recommendation.  Whilst officers agree that 
policies should be short and succinct wherever possible, the Council’s legal team have 
advised that the areas suggested for deletion should be retained for fullness and clarity, 
which will reduce the risk of legal challenge. On that basis the appended revised policy 
remains unchanged from the previous version considered by the Panel on 26th June.  It is 
therefore, considered that this option is the most reasonable recommendation.

3.7 Option (C) - That the Policy Development Panel review the revised Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy and recommend its adoption to Cabinet on 20th November 2018 as 
per Appendix 1 with revisions.

3.8 As outlined above, the clear advice from the legal department is that areas suggested for 
deletion should be retained within the document for fullness and clarity.

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

4.1 The recommendations set out above are self-explanatory.

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1 To ensure that the current policy is up to date and fit for purpose, providing clarity as to how 
streets and properties should be named and numbered.

5.2 There is also the opportunity to generate a new income stream and provide clarity on how 
this will be carried out.

Page 25



6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Constitutional & Legal
6.1.1 The Council must provide property numbering schemes under the 1925 Act. The power to 

charge falls under section 93 of the 2003 Act. This sets out that a local authority may 
charge for discretionary services.  Discretionary services are those services that an 
authority has the power but not a duty to provide. An authority may charge where the 
person who receives the service has agreed to its provision and the charge must not 
exceed the cost of providing the service. The Council cannot charge for Street Naming 
services (since the duty to provide this service is not discretionary), but it can charge for 
elements of the naming and numbering function (which is a discretionary service), as 
outlined above, by virtue of Section 64 and 65 of the 1847 Act coupled with Section 93 of 
the 2003 Act.

6.1.2 In accordance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, this is an executive function 
exercisable by the Cabinet.

6.2 Financial
6.2.1 Any potential introduction of a charge for this service will generate income for the Council. 

Detailed analysis of the potential for income has not been carried out.  However, as a 
benchmark East Lindsey Building Control Service, who also charge in this manner, 
generated £10,000 last year.

6.3 Health & Wellbeing
6.3.1 Clear street naming and property numbering makes it easier for the emergency services to 

locate properties.

6.4 Reputation
6.4.1 Where streets have been poorly named or numbered in the past the Council have received 

adverse press publicity, this policy seeks to eliminate that.

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1 All wards and communities are affected.

8.0 ACRONYMS

8.1 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Norman, Planning and Building Control Manager
Telephone Number 01775 764669
Email: pnorman@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

Page 26



This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1 Revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1

 

Revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy

Policy Name:

Responsible 
Executive: Date of signing:

Responsible 
Office: Date of signing:

Policy Register 
Number: Service Area:

Adopted: Reviewed:

Page 29



2

 

Contents

1. Introduction ...........................................................................................................3

2. What is our aim? ...................................................................................................3

3. Why are we doing it?.............................................................................................3

4. How will we do it?..................................................................................................3

5. How will we measure our progress? .....................................................................7

6. Who will do this? ...................................................................................................8

7. Appendices ...........................................................................................................8

Appendix A – Schedule of Street Naming and Numbering Charges ...........................9

Appendix B – Supplementary Guidance....................................................................10

Page 30



3

 

1. Introduction

The District Council requires street name plates to be clearly legible and to conform to 
the Council’s agreed specification. Wherever possible the name plates should enhance 
the street scene and preserve the local character and identity.

Clearly legible street name plates are essential for the emergency and postal services 
as well as for the convenience and safety of the general public. It should be 
remembered that street name plates need to be legible by night as well as by day.

The principles of this policy are supported in law under the following Acts:
• Disability Discrimination Act 1995
• Public Health Act 1925 (sections 17,19)
• Public Health Act 1907 (section 21)

and South Holland District Council’s:
• Code of Conduct
• Consultation and Participation Strategy and Methods
• Vision and Corporate Plan

2. What is our aim?

The aim of this policy is to provide a workable framework for South Holland District 
Council to operate its street naming and numbering function effectively and efficiently 
according to set procedures and performance standards, for the benefit of the residents 
of and visitors to South Holland.

3. Why are we doing it?

The Council has a duty to ensure that all roads in  South Holland District are named 
and all properties numbered or named. The responsibility for dealing with applications 
for street naming and numbering, or re-naming, or re-numbering will be administered 
by the Council’s Building Control section who will ensure that this information is relayed 
to appropriate organisations. To ensure that the service is operated effectively and 
efficiently it is necessary to set out procedures and performance standards.

4. How will we do it?
This policy is divided into several sections:

• Guidelines
• Cost recovery
• Records
• Time scales
• Enforcement
• Appeal

Page 31



4

 

GUIDELINES

Choice of name for streets in new developments

Whilst the clarity of street numbering, naming and name plates is important for all 
users, from visitors to the emergency services, street names often preserve facets of a 
settlement’s history. In Spalding, for example, the names Herring Lane, Hall Place, 
Foundry Lane and Hole-in-the-Wall Passage reflect former activities of the area. 
Unfortunately over the years this distinctive naming culture has been replaced by a 
trend for using names with no significant meaning for the location. However, it is hoped 
that by thoughtful, informed choice of street names such as Cley Hall Drive and Castle 
Fields, new developments can help to preserve and strengthen the local identity.

In choosing street names, developers and individuals will be required to respect the 
proper meaning of terms such as ‘Close’, ‘Drive’, ‘Court’ etc which are in danger of 
being lost through inappropriate use.

To prevent confusion names must not be similar to, or sound similar to others in the 
same town, village or postal region. 

The 'Postal Region' is used throughout this document, and is as defined by Royal Mail 
and adopted by South Holland District Council for the avoidance of confusion. It 
consists of the first 3 or 4 digits of the first part of the postal code and the first digit of 
the second part of the postal code, i.e. PE11 3.. , PE12 9.., PE6 0.. and this definition 
will be used  throughout this document.

Preference will be given to names drawing on topographical features or historical 
association of the site or surrounding area.

Design of street name plates

In conservation areas and all other parts of a town or village where historic street signs 
remain, the historic signs must be retained. If a structure carrying a historic sign is to be 
demolished or redeveloped, the sign must be retained, refurbished and re-used.

In new developments the design shall be as set out in the Council’s Supplementary 
Guidance (Appendix B) for street name-plates which has been drawn up in accordance 
with Ministry of Transport Circular 3/93.

Positioning of street name plates

Street name plates should normally be mounted in the preferred order, on legs, on 
walls, buildings, railings or boundary structures at the nearest point to the highway 
boundary or back edge of footway.

Location requirements are set out in the Council’s Supplementary Guidance (Appendix 
B).

Page 32



5

 

Repair and maintenance

The current stock will be maintained by the Council and a rolling programme will be 
introduced to bring the existing street name plates up to the Council’s agreed standard.

The Council has a responsibility to carry out a survey of the condition of the District’s 
existing street name plates and Parish Councils and Civic Societies will be encouraged 
to assist in the identification of damaged, missing or signs in poor state of repair.

Numbering/naming of properties

Mandatory numbering will be applied to both new and existing properties during any 
renumbering or postal identification process of properties. On occasion there may be 
exemptions to this process, however, these will be at the discretion of the Council. 
Naming of properties with no number displayed is only acceptable where there is no 
current numbering scheme in place

COST RECOVERY

The Power to charge falls under Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003 (“the 
2003 Act”). This sets out that a local authority may charge for discretionary services. 
Discretionary services are those services that an authority has the power but not a duty 
to provide. An authority may charge where the person who receives the service has 
agreed to its provision and the charge must not exceed the cost of providing the 
service. The Council cannot charge for Street Naming services (since the duty to 
provide this service is not discretionary), but it can charge for elements of the naming 
and numbering function (which is a discretionary service) by virtue of Sections 64 and 
65 of the Town Improvement Clauses Act 1847 Act (“the 1847 Act”) coupled with 
Section 93 of the 2003 Act

For Street Naming and Numbering the charges cover the following elements:

• Consultation and liaising with other external organisations, such as Royal Mail, 
Parish/Town Councils, Ward Members (as a non-statutory element of naming 
streets).

• The naming of new streets.
• The naming and/or numbering of new properties (including conversions).
• Alteration in either name or numbers to new developments after initial naming 

and/or numbering has been undertaken. 
• Renaming of existing properties.
• Addition of names to an already numbered property.
• Confirmation of existing addresses.
• Challenges to existing official naming/numbering schemes/addresses held within 

the Street Naming and Numbering records.

All charges are to be paid prior to any service being provided. Please note: Any change 
to a property name/number made without contacting the Council will not be officially 
recognized and will not be registered with service providers and/or other organisations.

The Scale of Charges for Street Naming and Numbering can be found in Appendix A.

Page 33



6

 

Fees and charges applicable for Street Naming and Numbering service(s) will be 
annually reviewed during the Council's budget setting process and publicized through 
the Council's agreed communication channels including the website.

Payment can be made by phone by contacting the Council on 01775 764723 after 
completing the appropriate application form. Large developments may be invoiced if 
required and payment made via the methods indicated on the invoice.

Where a local authority wishes to charge for discretionary services, Section 93 of the 
2003 Act allows charging on a 'not for profit' basis, that is, the Council can only aim to 
recover costs incurred. This is to encourage improvements to existing services and to 
develop new services with the aim of improving overall services to the customer.

All new development within South Holland will require the use of the Street Naming and 
Numbering function, as all new development needs address data, be they residential or 
commercial. There is a considerable amount of resource, both in staff time and 
associated costs that are incurred in the Street Naming and Numbering process.

REFUNDS

Where an application form and fee has been submitted and a naming/numbering 
scheme has already been issued, no refund of fee will be available. No refund of the 
street naming fee can be made once a name has been submitted for the consultation 
period.

It has been agreed by the District Council that any Parish/Town council requiring a 
‘leading to’ sign to be installed in addition to, or instead of, the mandatory sign, will be 
liable to pay 50% of the cost involved in purchasing and installing such a sign. This 
percentage split will be assessed and agreed on an annual basis by the District 
Council.

Where an existing sign is damaged, and the person or persons responsible is known, 
then the cost of replacing the sign, including any administrative charges, will be 
recovered from them. There will be no profit element in this charge.

RECORDS

Written records will be issued to interested parties and the information stored in 
electronic format by the Council.

TIME SCALES

Street numbering will be effective 7 working days from the date of issue of the 
schedule.

Street renumbering will be effective, following completion of the necessary 
consultation and decision making process, from the date of issue of the schedule.

Street naming will be effective, following all necessary consultations and approvals, 
from the date of issue of the schedule.
Street renaming - Following consultation with and agreement from relevant 
stakeholders. Owners/occupiers will receive notification of the intended street renaming 

Page 34



7

 

6 months prior to implementation, a further two notices will be issued at 28 and 7 days 
prior to implementation.

Installation of street signs by the Council - Signs will be erected within 4 weeks of 
delivery of the signs from the manufacturer.

Installation of street signs by developers - Signs will be installed within 14 days of 
occupation of the first property in the development.

ENFORCEMENT

On occasion action may be required to ensure that names and numbers are correctly 
displayed. Initially, an informal approach will be attempted to resolve the issue. If 
however this fails to achieve a satisfactory solution, the authority may resort to litigation 
through the Magistrate’s Court.

APPEAL

If any resident/owner or interested party wishes to appeal against a decision of the 
Council they should in the first instance seek to do so through the Council’s complaints 
procedure. If this fails to satisfy they have the right to seek redress through the 
Magistrate’s Court under the Public Health Act 1925.

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS POLICY?

• Councillors
• Parish/Town Councils
• Citizens of South Holland
• Business operating within South Holland
• All permanent and temporary employees of the Council
• Contractors and sub-contractors
• Service users

5. How will we measure our progress?

Monitoring and review

The Building Consultancy Manager will review the operation of this policy 12 Months 
after its implementation. The outcomes and effectiveness of the policy may be 
managed by the use of local key performance indicators.

Page 35



8

 

The policy will be monitored in the following ways:

MONITORING ACTIVITY PERSON RESPONSIBLE
Check to see if the policy has been 
implemented effectively

Building Consultancy Manager

Data collection and quarterly reporting Building Consultancy Manager
Periodic check of performance Building Consultancy Manager
Review of policy Building Consultancy Manager
Survey of customer satisfaction Building Consultancy Manager
Guidance package on implementation and 
use for new customers

Building Consultancy Manager

External auditing to be in conjunction with 
Building Control Service

Building Consultancy Manager

Complaints/grievance procedure
If any member of the public or member of our staff believes that the Council has acted 
in a way that is not in accordance with this policy the Council’s formal complaints 
procedure and grievance policy should be followed. Appropriate action will be taken to 
remedy any breaches.

6. Who will do this?

The commitment of everyone in the South Holland District, including District 
Councillors, Town/Parish councils, local interest groups, businesses, residents and 
employees is essential to make this policy a success. The Building Consultancy 
Manager has operational responsibility for this service, whilst overall responsibility rests 
with the Planning and Building Control Manager.

7. Appendices
Appendix A - Scale of Charges for Street Naming and Numbering
Appendix B – Supplementary Guidance

Page 36



9

 

Appendix A – Schedule of Street Naming and Numbering 
Charges

Existing Addresses (or addresses on new developments where schedules of numbering scheme 
have already been agreed and issued)

Type of Project Charge
Renaming/Renumbering/Adding Name to an 

Already Numbered property £40.00

Development renumbering due to change in 
layout (plot numbers or positions) £25 per plot requiring renumbering

Renaming/Renumbering of street where 
requested by residents

Fees dependent on number of properties 
(see fees for New Addresses below)

New Addresses  (new plots added to an existing street)

Naming/Numbering of up to 5 new 
properties    £40.00 per plot (capped at £120.00)

Naming/Numbering from 6 to 25 new 
properties

   £120.00 plus £15.00 per plot (capped at 
£350.00)

Naming/Numbering from 26 to 75 new 
properties

   £120.00 plus £10.00 per plot (capped at 
£750.00)

Naming/Numbering of more than 75 
properties    Price on application

Naming/Numbering following conversion of 
existing property to alternative configuration    £40.00 plus £10.00 per property

Re-issue of an address for a replacement 
dwelling £50.00

New Addresses  (new plots combined with creation of new streets(s))

Additional charge where new street names 
required

   £100.00 up to 5 new street names plus 
£10.00        per additional street thereafter

Schedule of Street Naming 
and Numbering Charges

Page 37



10

 

Appendix B – Supplementary Guidance

1. INTRODUCTION

As set out under the Public Health Act 1925 and the Town Improvement Clauses 
Act 1847, the Council must provide property numbering schemes and implement 
the name of every street to be conspicuously displayed in or near the street. 
Ministry of Transport Circular 3/93 reminds Authorities of the need to maintain such 
property numbering scheme and all street name plates to a good standard, improving 
existing standards where necessary. It is the Council’s duty under the Street 
Naming and Numbering Policy to implement its procedures in accordance with the 
attached Supplementary Guidance.

2. STREET NAMING (NEW DEVELOPMENTS) PROCEDURE

2.1.1. It is advisable that the builder, owner or developer submits suggestions for 
street names for agreement as early as possible in the application/build 
process. This is particularly relevant on large developments where sales 
promotion literature often includes names, which may not have been 
approved and may be unacceptable to the District Council. Builders, 
developers and owners will be asked to provide a number of alternative 
names, which should not duplicate, or sound similar, to other names in the 
town, village or Postal District. Three suggestions are requested as a 
minimum. It is necessary for the Council to consult the appropriate parish or 
town council and ward members and a 21 day period for objections to be 
submitted is specified to avoid unnecessary delay. Only valid reasons for 
objections will be considered.

2.1.2. It is suggested that prior to any names being proposed, local opinion is 
sought on possible names e.g. through the local parish or town council. This 
should help to identify names with particular relevance to the area and 
preserve links with local history, identity and character. 

2.1.3. If appropriate, on receipt of acceptance of a name or names from the ward 
member, town or parish council, a decision is made by the Building 
Consultancy Manager. In the event of a developer and the consultees 
failing to agree a road name and negotiation failing to reach an agreed 
solution, the Council must uphold the objection. A report must be prepared 
as a matter of urgency for the Portfolio Holder for Place to make a decision. 
The developer/owner has the right of appeal to the Magistrate’s Court against 
the objection.

2.1.4 The procedure to be followed for street naming is:

 Planning permission granted, Building Regulations Approval/Acceptance or 
Initial Notice Acceptance.

 Letter sent to the developer requesting street name(s) suggestions.
 Consult Parish/Town Councils, Ward members on suggestions. The 

consultation period will be 21 days unless extended with the agreement 
of all parties and notified to us by email.

Page 38



11

 

 Refusal letter sent to developer/owner if necessary.
 In the event of the developer/owner and the Council failing to reach 

agreement on a road name, the Council must object. The developer/owner 
has the right of appeal to the Magistrates Court against the objection.

 If no objection received from consultees approve road(s) names.
 Following the decision, developers/owners should be notified in writing 

without delay. The numbering of the new development may also be dealt 
with at this time. This will be carried out once official confirmation of the 
post code(s) is received from the Post Office Registration Authority following 
a request from the Building Consultancy Manager. (This will only be 
carried out by the District Council and not the developer/owner).

 Where developers use a 'Development Name' for marketing purposes, re-
use of that name should be avoided in the final naming schedule.

 The final stage is to notify essential services and other interested parties of 
the official name and postal numbering of new developments. This list 
includes the following:
• Royal Mail Address Management, Local Post Office sorting depot.
• Lincolnshire Fire Authority Headquarters and Boston Fire Station.
• Lincolnshire Ambulance Service.
• Lincolnshire Police Authority.
• BT Openreach.
• Anglian Water Authority.
• East Midlands Electricity/Western Power.
• British Gas.
• Internal Council departments i.e. Council Tax, Electoral Registration.

2.1.5 Following agreement on the name(s) for development the developer/owner will 
be issued with guidelines for the manufacture and installation of new signs. 
The cost of the signs will be borne by the developer/owner.

2.1.6 The developer/owner will agree the number, position and type of sign(s) to be 
installed with South Holland District Council Building Control prior to any 
installation. The Council’s decision on location, design and timing of installation 
will be final.

2.1.7 The installation of signs will take place when the first property in the relevant 
road/development is occupied. If this is not carried out within 14 days of 
occupation the Council can take any necessary steps to have this done. If it 
becomes necessary for the Council to supply and install any signs, the full cost 
including administrative charges will be recharged to the developer/owner.

2.1.8 Following completion of the final property on the site the developer/owner will 
contact South Holland District Council Building Control to arrange an audit of 
all new signs. Any additional or alterations to the signs will be purchased and 
installed by the developer/owner. 

2.1.9 Following the audit, any discrepancies found must be rectified within 6 weeks 
from the date of written/email notification. If the work is not completed by this 
time, South Holland District Council reserves the right to undertake the works 
and pass on any costs to the developer. 

Page 39



12

 

3. STREET NUMBERING (NEW DEVELOPMENTS) PROCEDURE

3.1.1 The following procedure for numbering properties will affect all new 
developments that will require a postal address.

3.1.2 Main roads should be numbered so that when traveling away from the centre of 
town the odd numbers are on the left hand side and even numbers on the right. 
Succeeding numbers should be approximately opposite one another; even 
though this may mean the omission of certain numbers where frontages vary. 
(Suffix letters may be used in such cases as an alternative). Side roads should 
be numbered in ascending order from the main road, either consecutively or 
odds and evens as appropriate to the layout.

3.1.3 Where a new development consists of 3 or more properties and delivery points 
cannot be accessed directly from the existing street, the creation of a new street 
and the associated name will be considered. Where the development is less 
than 3 new dwellings, suffixes will be used to maintain the numbering 
sequence.

3.1.4 The postal authorities (i.e. the Royal Mail Postcode Centre) can be consulted 
on numbering pedestrian type layouts and other complex urban developments.

3.1.5 In small groups of low rise flats, dwellings should be numbered within the 
ordinary street numbering system, but in tall blocks of flats each flat should be 
numbered so that the number indicates the floor level. The numbers of the flats 
contained in each block should also appear at the entrance to the block in a 
position clearly readable from the roadside.

3.1.6 All houses, offices, business establishments and other premises should be 
numbered, preferably with numerals of a minimum size of 62.5mm, and their 
numbers should be displayed so as to be in a clearly readable position facing 
the road. Mounting may be on gates, gate posts, doors or walls as appropriate, 
but ensuring that there is a good colour contrast between the numerals and the 
background to which they are fixed.

3.1.7 When considered appropriate a scheme of numbering will be prepared and 
implemented. A numbering scheme will be used in all cases except in 
exceptional circumstances e.g. where t h e r e  i s  n o  numbering scheme 
currently in place for existing surrounding properties or where no existing 
logical numbering pattern exists.

3.1.8 It will be the responsibility of the developer/builder to supply all necessary 
information/plans to enable a suitable scheme to be prepared.

3.1.9 If deemed necessary letters are sent/delivered to the occupiers of the dwellings 
by the developer as soon as possible to assist future occupiers of their postal 
address.

3.1.10 Notifications and copies of the scheme are sent to the statutory bodies (as 
specified in 2.1.4 above).

Page 40



13

 

3.1.11 After a reasonable period, the scheme may be surveyed to ascertain the level 
of implementation.

3.1.12 If a survey is carried out reminders are sent to those occupiers not complying 
with the scheme.

3.1.13 If reminders fail to achieve compliance direct action can be taken through the 
Magistrate's Court.

4. EXISTING STREET NAMING AND/OR NUMBERING PROCEDURE

4.1.1. There are occasions where existing naming and or numbering is found to be 
unsatisfactory and changes need to be made. Complaints come from many 
sources and all should be properly investigated before deciding on a course 
of action.

4.1.2. If the Council feels it appropriate that renaming/numbering/renumbering is 
required, the essential services should first be consulted and proposals agreed.

4.1.3. It is then necessary to seek consent from two thirds in number of the ratepayers 
in the street.

4.1.4. Following the expiry of 28 days, a decision is reached taking into account 
objections and other observations received.

4.1.5. A report will be prepared with recommendations for the Place Portfolio 
Holder to make the necessary decision.

4.1.6. Once a decision has been made and has not been called in for scrutiny a 
scheme will be prepared and implemented.

4.1.7. A letter of notification will be sent to all relevant parties informing them that the 
new naming/numbering scheme will be implemented in 6 month’s time from 
date of the letter.

4.1.8. Four weeks prior to implementation a further letter will be sent to all parties 
reminding them of the pending change-over, stating that they will use their new 
official street name/number from given date and all new signs to be placed on 
their property as per the schedule.

4.1.9. Where necessary all new street signs will be purchased and installed by South 
Holland District Council on the day of change-over.

4.1.10. Notification will be provided to all relevant parties giving details of the 
scheme including statutory bodies.

4.1.11. A survey may be carried out after a period of 28 days to ascertain the level of 
implementation.

4.1.12. Where necessary a communication will be sent to occupiers not complying 
with the scheme of their legal duty to do so.

Page 41



14

 

4.1.13. The renaming and/or renumbering of existing streets and buildings is 
normally only considered when changes occur which give rise or are likely to 
give rise to problems for the occupiers, Post Office or Emergency Services.

4.1.14. If notification of difficulties has been received from one of the following 
major stakeholders i.e. Emergency Services, Post Office, the 
implementation of a renaming/numbering/renumbering exercise will be 
undertaken within a shorter timescale due to the serious nature of these 
concerns. This will entail reduction of implementation from 6 months to 3 
months.

5. NAMING STREETS AND BUILDINGS PROCEDURE

5.1.1. New street names should not duplicate any similar sounding or looking name 
already in use in the town, village or Postal District. A variation in the terminal 
word, i.e. ‘street’, ‘road’, ‘avenue’, ‘drove’, etc will not be accepted as sufficient 
reason to duplicate a name.

5.1.2. It is important to both the Royal Mail and the Emergency Services to avoid 
giving streets similar names within the same locality. The close juxtaposition of 
similar names such as Riverside, River Bank, Riverside Park and River Lane in 
the same area has proved to be a particular source of difficulty. A great variety 
of “999” calls are received each day and some callers can be vague in the 
details they give. Where names are duplicated it can be extremely difficult to 
pinpoint an exact location in order to enable emergency services to attend in 
the time allowed. Duplication of any existing street name within the District is to 
be avoided.

5.1.3. Street names should not be difficult to pronounce or awkward to spell. In 
general, words of more than three syllables should be avoided and this 
precludes the use of two words except in special cases.’

5.1.4. Subsidiary names (e.g. a row of buildings within an already named road being 
called ’… . terrace’) should not be used.

5.1.5. All new street names should end with one of the following suffixes:-

Major Roads
Street 
Way 
Road
Avenue (If to be tree-lined)

Residential Roads
Gate (South Holland’s oldest road name) 
Drive
Grove
Lane (if narrow) 
Drove
Gardens (subject to there being no confusion with any local open space) 
Place

Page 42



15

 

Bank (if appropriate)

Towns/Villages
Road 
Street 
Gate 
Avenue 
Lane
Court – for cul-de-sac or similar roads
Crescent – for a crescent shaped road 
Close – for cul-de-sac or similar roads
Square – for a square only surrounded by buildings 
Hill – hillside roads only
Circus – for a large roundabout
Terrace – Urban, for a terrace of houses (provided it is not a subsidiary name) 
Row – Village, for a terrace of houses (provided it is not a subsidiary name) 
Market – If market intended or historic use
Vale )
Dene ) for residents roads only for exceptional use 
Mead )
Rise )

Pedestrian Ways
Path 
Passage 
Lane 
Walk

Blocks
Court 
House 
Chambers

Non acceptable suffixes:
End )
Cross )
Side )
View ) All these words can of course be incorporated in 
Wharf ) a street name provided it terminates with an 
Walk ) appropriate suffix (e.g. Riverside Path)
Park )
Meadow ) 

Exceptions: Single or dual names without suffixes in appropriate places (e.g. 
Broadgate – for major roads only).

Page 43



16

 

 All new pedestrian ways should end with one of the following suffixes:- 
Walk
Path 
Way

 All new block names should end with one of the following suffixes: 
House Court – residential only
Point – high block residential only 
Tower – high block offices or residential

 For private houses it is sufficient that the name should not repeat the 
name of the road or that of any house or building in the relevant town, 
village or postcode area.

 Under exceptional circumstances, a duplicated new property name can 
be allowed provided that it is within the curtilage of the existing building 
with the same name. That is, it does not cause confusion with another 
property outside of that curtilage.

 Avoid aesthetically unsuitable names such as Gasworks Road, Tip 
House, Coal Pit Lane, or names capable of deliberate misinterpretation 
like Tipple Avenue, Swag House etc.

5.1.6 If the owners of a property that currently uses a number wish to use a name, 
this is acceptable as long as the number is retained. Under no circumstances 
will a number be removed and replaced with a name.

6. DESIGN/LAYOUT

6.1.1. The design and installation of road signage should be in accordance with that 
specified within Department of Transport circular 3/93.

6.1.2. All new road signage within the District leading to a dead-end will have a NO 
THROUGH ROUTE symbol included within the sign (on leg) to indicate this.

6.1.3. All new and replacement signs when installed within Conservation Areas will be 
in keeping with the area i.e. cast type.

6.1.4. In accordance with the Public Health Act 1925 and Department of Transport 
circular 3/93 the Council has the right to install signs on private properties or 
business walls etc. in the interest of public safety. There is no legal obligation to 
notify owners, but it is likely to cause ill will if this is not done. In the interests of 
good relations, the Council will attempt to notify owners/occupants of the 
affected part of the property prior to installation.

6.1.5. The design of all new signs within the District will be 150mm plate white 
lettering on Mid Brunswick Green background. A 100mm actual capital letter 
height of lettering is the required Standard. (Exceptions to this may be 
allowed within the conservation areas to keep signage in character with the 
original design but only by agreement with Council).

6.1.6. The spacing of letters must give good legibility having regard to the letter 

Page 44



17

 

form used. Spacing should be sufficient to prevent letters having a jumbled 
appearance when viewed from an oblique angle. The apparent area 
between successive letters should be as uniform as possible and this is 
affected by the shape of individual letters: vertical strokes found in B, D, E, 
etc. are those which need to be farthest apart; curves in B, C, D, G, etc. permit 
a slight decrease in spacing; right angled letters E, F, L, etc. and sloping 
ones, A, K, V, etc. can be closer still; some combinations such as LT, LY and 
VA can almost overlap.

7. THE INSTALLATION OF STREET NAME PLATES

7.1.1. Street name plates should be fixed as near as possible to street corners, so as 
to be easily readable by drivers as well as pedestrians. The name plate should 
normally be within 3 metres of the intersection of the kerb lines, but where this 
is not practicable the distance may be varied up to a maximum of 6 metres.

7.1.2. Street name plates should be mounted so that the upper edge of the plate is 
no more than 900mm above the ground at sites where they are unlikely to be 
obscured by pedestrians or vehicles and at approximately 2.5 metres where 
they are likely to be obscured. They should never be lower than 0.6 metres or 
higher than 3.6 metres. In conservation areas where cast signs are to be 
installed, consideration should be given to position and height and 
discussion with the Council is recommended.

7.1.3. Name plates should normally be fixed at each street corner. At minor 
crossroads, particularly in residential areas, one plate on each side of the street 
positioned on the offside of traffic emerging from the road may be sufficient, 
except where the road name changes or where it is thought that paragraph
7.1.8 would apply. At major crossroads, name plates will be necessary on both 
sides of each arm.

7.1.4. At T-junctions a main street name plate should be placed directly opposite the 
traffic approaching from the side road.

7.1.5. Where the street name changes at a point other than cross-roads both names 
should be displayed at the point of change to include arrows to indicate clearly 
to which parts of the street the names refer.

7.1.6. On straight lengths of road without intersections name plates should be 
repeated at reasonable intervals with priority given to such places as bus and 
railway stations and opposite entrances to often frequented sites, such as 
car parks.

7.1.7. Where two streets branch off obliquely from a common junction with a third 
street, plates on fingerpost mountings can be useful, provided they do not 
obscure any traffic sign.

7.1.8. Where it might reasonably be expected, for example at intervals on long straight 
lengths of road or at intersections or T-junctions, the name plate could 
incorporate information indicating the street numbers on either side of the 
intersection.

Page 45



18

 

7.1.9. Whenever practical, street name plates should be mounted on walls, buildings 
or other boundary structures at the back edge of the footway. Post mounting or 
finger mounting should only be used where normal mounting does not make the 
plate conspicuous (e.g. where an important side road has a narrow entrance or 
in the exceptional circumstances mentioned in paragraph 7.1.7 above or where 
it will frequently be obscured by pedestrian movement and cannot be mounted 
at the 2.5 metre height).

7.1.10. The name plates should be fixed so that there is a clear space of at least 
300mm in every direction between them and any notices, advertisements or 
other printed or written matter. Wherever possible a greater clearance should 
be provided. Nor should they be incorporated in other direction sign 
assemblies, but be kept distinct and mounted in as standardised a manner as 
possible. Care should be taken to keep the view of name plates free from 
obstruction by trees and other growth.

7.1.11. Where possible, name plates should be fixed so that they will be illuminated by 
light from street lamps, especially at important junctions, provided they remain 
visible to vehicles on the main carriageway.

Page 46



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager - People and Public Protection

To:  Policy Development Panel Wednesday, 19 September 2018

(Author: Donna Hall Licensing and Business Support Manager)

Subject Gambling Act Statement of Principles

Purpose: Consideration of the draft revised Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) 
during consultation.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Panel consider the amended Council’s Gambling Policy (Statement of principles) as 
shown at Appendix A of this report

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council (the Licensing Authority) to 
prepare and publish a Statement of the Principles (Gambling Policy) that it proposes to 
apply in exercising its licensing functions. The statement will last for a maximum of three 
years, but can be reviewed and revised by the Authority at any time. This Authority’s 
current statement took effect in January 2016 and so the required review process must be 
completed by the end of 2018 to enable publication in January 2019. This report 
summarises the proposed amendments to the Policy.

1.2 The Gambling Act 2005 places the responsibility for the licensing of gambling premises 
and the issuing of gambling permits with Local Authorities, with the associated 
responsibility for ensuring that the conditions on these licences are upheld. Amongst other 
matters the 2005 Act deals with the licensing of: 

 Casinos
 Betting shops
 Bingo halls
 Amusement arcades
 Gaming machines
 Society lotteries

1.3 The Act requires Licensing Authorities to prepare, consult on and publish a Statement of 
Licensing Principles (Gambling Policy) that they propose to apply in exercising their 
functions under the Act during the 3 year period to which the policy applies.

1.4 Core to the Gambling Act are the licensing objectives. These are:

Page 47

Agenda Item 10.



 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime. 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open manner
 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

by gambling.

1.5 Section 349 (3) of the 2005 Act requires the Licensing Authority to consult the following on 
its licensing policy statement or any subsequent revision: 

 The Chief Officer of Police
 One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests 

of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Authority’s area; and
 One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests 

of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions under the Act

The list of persons to be consulted when preparing the licensing policy statement is 
deliberately wide. This enables Licensing Authorities to undertake a comprehensive 
consultation exercise with anyone who may be affected by or otherwise have an interest in 
the Licensing Policy statement.

1.6 Section 154 of the 2005 Act indicates that adoption of the Statement of Principles 
(Gambling Policy) cannot be delegated to the Committee of the Licensing Authority, 
therefore full Council must adopt the final document. This is different to the granting of 
gambling premises licences which the Act automatically delegates to the Committee of the 
Licensing Authority. It is proposed that the Council meeting on 28th November will consider 
the final version of the proposed revised policy. The timetable for the process is below: 

19th July 2018: Draft policy considered by the Committee of the Licensing Authority

23rd July 2018: Draft Policy issued for consultation

19th September 2018: Draft amended policy to be considered by the Policy Development 
Panel

12th October 2018: Closing date for consultation responses

8th November: Consultation results to be considered by the Committee of the Licensing 
Authority. Any appropriate amendments to be made and then recommend the revised 
Policy to the Council for adoption. 

28th November 2018: Revised policy to be adopted by the Council

31st January 2019: Revised policy to come into force

1.7 We have reviewed the current Gambling Policy in light of experience in dealing with 
gambling premises and issues over the last three years, as well as considering the 
Gambling Commission guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

Proposed significant changes to the policy are in red and some are identified below:

Page 48



A) Part A section 1 of the policy provides additional information about how we promote safe 
gambling practices. 

B) Part A section 2 of the Policy now clarifies the relationship with the Planning process

C) Part A section 4 confirms that Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board is the responsible 
authority to advise on the protection of children from harm. 

D) Part A section 5, provides more detail on the definition of “interested parties” and how the 
Licensing Authority will determine these.

E) Part A section 6 provided the up to date position on how and who the council exchanges 
information with in relation to gambling, enabling compliance with the 2005 Act and current 
data protection legislation.

F) Part B section 1 has been expanded to provide additional safeguards for protecting children 
and vulnerable adults from being harmed and exploited by gambling. For example, the 
Licensing Authority will consider recommending measures such as: staff training (to include 
training on dealing with truancy and vulnerable persons); provision of CCTV with images 
retained for 28 days. 

G) Part B section 2 has extended the measures that the Licensing Authority may consider in 
relation to Adult Gaming Centres such as Think 21, notices in relation to “GamCare”, self 
exclusion schemes etc.

H) Part B section 3 now recommends an extended list of measures that the Licensing 
Authority may consider in relation to Licensed Family Entertainment Centres.

I) Part B section 6 makes additional recommendations in respect of the circumstances to be 
considered in limiting the number of betting machines at a betting premises. 

J) Part B section 12 has been included to provide more detail on the Think 21 Policy

K) Part B section 13 has been included to explain this Authority’s stance on test purchasing

L) Part B section 14 has been included to advise that credit facilities should be prohibited from 
casinos and bingo premises. Cash machines (ATMs) may be installed but conditions may 
be applied to where they are sited.

M) Part B section 15 has been added to explain the situation regarding Local Risk 
Assessments which gambling operators are now required to undertake for new premises, 
and for existing premises when certain triggers are met.

Page 49



N) Part B section 16 explains the new recommendation from the Gambling Commission for 
Licensing Authorities to produce a Local Area Profile. 

O) Appendix 5 and 6 have been added to the policy to provide more detail about safeguarding 
children and vulnerable adults.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The options for the Committee are limited as the process is legislative and dictated by the 
Gambling Act 2005. The Council has no discretion as to making the Statement of 
Principles, although there is some discretion as to the content of the statement.

2.2 The Panel consider the revised Policy and provide feedback

2.3 Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To ensure that South Holland District Council, acting as the Licensing Authority, can meet 
its statutory duties under the Gambling Act 2005.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefit is having a transparent and up to date policy on gambling, and 
enabling compliance with our statutory obligations under the Gambling Act 2005.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 The consultation document will be emailed to consultees where possible to reduce paper 
printing and paper. The document will also be available on the Council’s website.

5.2 Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1 It is a statutory requirement that the Licensing Authority produces a Statement of Principles 
that it proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Gambling Act 2005 and that it 
reviews it every three years. If the Authority does not produce a revised policy within the 
statutory timescale, there is a risk that the Authority will not be in a position to process 
applications, leaving the Authority open to challenge.

Page 50



5.3  Corporate Priorities

5.3.1 This policy supports the corporate priorities: 

 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities whilst 
protecting the most vulnerable

 To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way
 To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth

5.4 Crime and Disorder

5.4.1 Lincolnshire constabulary are a consultee on this policy. There are criminal offences under 
the Gambling Act 2005 and so the policy will support businesses to comply with the law.

5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.5.1 The policy addresses how human rights are considered in respect of enforcement action 
and also addresses information sharing and data protection. 

5.6 Health & Wellbeing

5.6.1 The policy addresses how children and vulnerable adults should be protected from 
gambling related harm including addiction and financial exploitation. 

5.7 Safeguarding

5.7.1 The new policy covers safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults in more detail and 
now includes additional appendices to explain in more detail the risks and how these can 
be managed.

5.8 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.8.1 Full consultation will be carried out as detailed in this report and within the policy. 
Consultation will include responsible authorities and other parties listed in Appendix 2 of the 
policy.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The policy applies to all wards

Background papers:- Gambling Commission Guidance for Licensing Authorities 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-
authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Donna Hall Licensing and Business Support Manager
Telephone Number 07866810466
Email: donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Page 51

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx


Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Draft Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) 2019

Page 52



1

South Holland District Council
Policy (Statement of Principles)
Gambling Act 2005

DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

ALL COMMENTS ABOUT THIS DRAFT SHOULD BE EMAILED TO licensing@sholland.gov.uk 
DURING THE CONSULTATION PERIOD

CHANGES THAT HAVE BEEN MADE TO THIS DOCUMENT ARE SHOWN IN RED

CONSULTATION PERIOD 23rd July TO 12th October 2018

2019Page 53

mailto:licensing@sholland.gov.uk


South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

2

Contents

Part A
1. The Licensing Objectives  2
2. Introduction   2
3. Declaration   4
4. Responsible Authorities   4
5. Interested Parties   5
6. Exchange of information   7
7. Enforcement   8
8. Licensing Authority functions   9

Part B - Premises Licences:  Consideration of Applications
1. General Principles   11
2. Adult Gaming Centres   20
3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres   20
4. Casinos   22
5. Bingo Premises   22
6. Betting Premises  23
7. Tracks   25
8. Travelling Fairs   26
9. Provisional Statements   26
10. Reviews   27
11. Appeals   27
12. Think 21 Policy 28
13. Test Purchasing 28
14. Credit Facilities 28
15. Local Risk Assessments 28
16. Local Area Profile 30

Part C - Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notices
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits 31
2. (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits  33
3. Prize Gaming Permits   34
4. Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits   36
5. Temporary Use Notices  37
6. Occasional Use Notices  37
7. Small Society Lotteries   38
8. Review   39
9. Glossary   39

Part D - Appendices
Appendix 1 - Summary of delegated powers  40
Appendix 2 - Persons consulted and Responsible Authorities   43
Appendix 3 - Glossary   44
Appendix 4 - Area map of district   47
Appendix 5 – Safeguarding Children 48
Appendix 6 – Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults 50

Page 54



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

1

South Holland District Council - Statement of Principles - Gambling Act 2005

All references to the Guidance refer to the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities

The Gambling Act 2005 requires every Licensing Authority to publish a Gambling 
Policy (Statement of Principles), which they propose to apply when exercising their 
licensing functions.

This document is the Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) of South Holland 
District Council.

Whilst all applications will be judged and determined on their individual merits the 
policy will be the basis of the Licensing Authority’s decisions.

The policy will be reviewed regularly to reflect the needs of the district of South 
Holland.

Page 55



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

2

PART A

1.  The Licensing Objectives

In exercising its functions under the Gambling 
Act 2005, the Licensing Authority must have 
regard to the licensing objectives as set out in 
Section 1 of the Gambling Act.  The licensing 
objectives are:

i. preventing gambling from being a source of 
crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime.

ii. ensuring that gambling is conducted in a 
fair and open way.

iii. protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling. 

It should be noted that the Gambling 
Commission has stated:  “The requirement in 
relation to children is explicitly to protect them 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling”.

In practice, the objective of protecting 
children from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling usually means preventing them 
from taking part in, or being in close proximity 
to gambling. 

The 2005 Act promotes safe practice at 
premises where gambling activities take place 
and this means that licensees and operators 
have a legal responsibility to ‘protect children 
and other vulnerable person’s form being 
harmed or exploited by gambling’.  More 
information about the signs of problem 
gambling can be found on the Gamble aware 
and Gamcare websites.  The aforementioned 
websites also provide general information 
about gambling, including how to gamble 
safely and where to get help if somebody or 
someone you know has problems with their 
gambling.  This Authority would expect 
licensees and operators to acquaint 
themselves with the contents of the 
aforementioned websites.  

Further specific information on this 
Authority’s recommendations and 
expectations, in relation to the protection of 
children and other vulnerable persons can be 
found at Appendices 5 and 6.  

The Licensing Authority is aware that, as per 
Section 153, in making decisions about premises 
licences and temporary use notices it should aim 
to permit the use of premises for gambling in so 
far as it thinks it:

i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 
practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

ii. in accordance with any relevant guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives and

iv. in accordance with the Authority’s Statement 
of Licensing Policy.

2.  Introduction

South Holland District Council (herein referred 
to as the Licensing Authority) is responsible 
for the licensing of premises and issuing of 
permits and authorisations under the 
Gambling Act 2005.  The Authority’s main 
functions under the Gambling Act 2005 (2005 
Act) are: 

 Be responsible for the licensing of 
premises where gambling activities are to 
take place by issuing Premises Licences

 Issue Provisional Statements
 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ 

welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via the issuing 
of club gaming permits and/or club 
machine permits

 Issue club machine permits to 
commercial clubs

 Grant permits for the use of certain lower 
stake gaming machines at unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centres

 Receive notifications from alcohol 
licensed premises (under the Licensing 
Act 2003) for the use of two or fewer 
gaming machines

 Issue licensed premises gaming machine 
permits for premises licences licensed to 
sell/supply alcohol (for consumption on 
licensed premises) under the Licensing 
Act 2003, where there are more than two 
machines

Page 56



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

3

 Register small society lotteries below 
prescribed thresholds

 Issue prize gaming permits
 Receive and endorse Temporary Use 

Notices (TUNs)
 Receive Occasional Use Notices (OUNs) 
 Provide information to the Gambling 

Commission regarding details of 
licences and permits issued (see section 
in this Policy Statement on ‘information 
exchange’)

 Maintain registers of permits and 
licences that are issued under these 
functions

This Policy (Statement of Principles) is 
intended to provide clarity to applicants, 
interested parties and responsible authorities 
on how this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications.  

South Holland District Council is situated in the 
County of Lincolnshire, which contains seven 
district councils in total.  The South Holland 
District Council area has a population of 88,300 
(census 2011) making it the second smallest 
district in the county in terms of population.  
South Holland District covers a geographical 
area of 750 sq km (290 square miles) and is 
situated in the south eastern corner of 
Lincolnshire, which borders the counties of 
Cambridgeshire and Norfolk.  The district is 
mainly rural and is comprised of 47 towns and 
villages including the main town of Spalding.  
These areas are shown in the map attached at 
Appendix 4.

Number of Gambling Authorisations – Current 
Figures (June 2018)

Betting Premise Licences 7

Bingo Premises Licences 1

Adult Gaming Centre Premises Licences 1

Family Entertainment Centre Premises 
Licences 0

Alcohol licensed premises providing two 
or less gaming machines 75

Alcohol licensed premises providing three 
or more gaming machines 6

Club Gaming Permits 1

Club Machine Permits 4

Prize Gaming Permits 0

In adopting the Policy (Statement of Principles) 
the Licensing Authority recognises its duties to 
consider the impact of all its functions and 
decisions on crime and disorder under the 
requirements of Section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998.  The Licensing Authority 
acknowledges the benefits to the community of 
properly regulating gambling in the district.

The Licensing Act 2003 provides the delegated 
and procedural arrangements for the 
establishment of Licensing Authorities.

Licensing Committees established under Section 
6 of the Licensing Act 2003 are also relevant 
committees for the purpose of gambling 
functions.  Therefore, the same Committee that 
deals with applications and other issues in relation 
to the Licensing Act 2003 will also be responsible 
for Premises Licence applications and other 
issues (i.e. permits) in relation to gambling under 
the Gambling Act 2005.

The proceedings of the Licensing Committee are 
regulated by Section 9 of the 2003 Act (and 
Regulations made under that Section).  Particular 
provision can be made for proceedings in relation 
to just the 2003 Act functions or just the 2005 Act 
functions.

The functions of the Licensing Authority under the 
Act may be carried out by the Committee of the 
Licensing Authority, by a Sub-Committee or by 
one or more officers acting under delegated 
authority.  Delegated powers shall be in 
accordance with the table at Appendix 1 of this 
document.

Licensing Authorities are required by the 
Gambling Act 2005 to publish a Gambling Policy 
(Statement of the Principles), which they propose 
to apply when exercising their functions.  This 
statement must be published at least every three 
years.  The statement must also be reviewed as 
required and any amended parts re-consulted 
upon.  The statement must be then re-published.

The Licensing Authority consulted upon this Policy 
(Statement of Principles) before finalising and 
publishing.  A list of those persons consulted is 
provided at Appendix 2.

Page 57



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

4

The Gambling Act requires that the following 
parties are consulted by Licensing Authorities:

i. the Chief Officer of Police;
ii. one or more persons who appear to the 

authority to represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses 
in the authority’s area;

iii. one or more persons who appear to the 
authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the 
exercise of the Authority’s functions under 
the Gambling Act 2005

The Policy (Statement of Principles) was 
approved at a meeting of the Licensing 
Committee and was subsequently submitted for 
approval at a meeting of the Full Council.

It is also published via the Council’s website.  
Copies of the Statement of Principles are 
available for inspection from the Council Offices 
at Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs.

Should you have any comments as regards this 
Policy (Statement of Principles) please send 
them via e-mail or letter to:

The Licensing Team, South Holland District 
Council, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, 
PE11 2XE

E-mail:  licensing@sholland.gov.uk 
Telephone:  01775 761161.

It should be noted that this Policy (Statement of 
Principles) will not override the right of any 
person to make an application, make 
representations about an application, or apply for 
a review of a licence, as each will be considered 
on its own merits and according to the statutory 
requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.

Planning Permission – The Licensing 
Authority will only take into account relevant 
representations related to gambling and the 
three Licensing Objectives.  The existence of 
a planning permission or building regulation 
approval for a premises or activity associated 
with gambling shall not be taken into account 
by the Licensing Authority in determining a 
Premises Licence application.  Similarly, the 
existence of a gambling licence shall not 
prejudice the consideration of any planning or 
building regulation application related to a 
gambling activity or premises. 

In reaching a decision of whether or not to 
grant a licence, the Licensing Authority will 
take account of any non-compliance with other 
statutory requirements brought to its attention 
(by way of relevant representations), which 
undermine the licensing objectives.  Non-
compliance with other statutory requirements 
may demonstrate that the premises are 
unsuitable for the activities proposed or that 
the management of the premises is not 
adequate to ensure compliance with the 
licensing objectives.

3.  Declaration

In producing the Policy (Statement of Principles), 
the Licensing Authority declares that it has had 
regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling 
Act 2005, the Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
issued by the Gambling Commission, and any 
responses from those consulted on the Policy 
(Statement of Principles).

4.  Responsible Authorities

The Licensing Authority has designated in 
writing, the body it considers competent to 
advise the Licensing Authority on the 
protection of children from harm.  The body is: 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children’s Board

The reasons the Licensing Authority has 
chosen the above as a responsible authority 
competent to advise it on the protection of 
children from harm are:

 That this body is answerable to 
democratically elected persons and is not 
answerable to a particular vested interest 
group.

 That this body is responsible for the area 
covered by the Licensing Authority and 
this Policy.

 That this body is experienced in dealing 
with the protection of children.

The contact details of all the Responsible 
Authorities are available by contacting the 
Licensing Team. 

5.  Interested Parties
Page 58



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

5

Interested parties can make representations 
about licence applications, or apply for a review 
of an existing licence.  These parties are defined 
in the Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

For the purposes of this Part a person is an 
interested party in relation to an application for, 
or in respect of a Premises Licence if, in the 
opinion of the Licensing Authority which issues 
the licence or to which the application is made, 
the person:

i. lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities,

ii. has business interests that might be 
affected by the authorised activities, or

iii. represents persons who satisfy paragraph 
(i) or (ii) e.g. Members of Parliament and 
ward Councillors.

The Licensing Authority is required by 
Regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 
2005 to determine whether a person is an 
interested party.

Interested parties can be persons who are 
democratically elected such as Councillors and 
Members of Parliament.  Other than these 
however, this Authority will normally require 
written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an 
advocate/relative) ‘represents’ someone who 
either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by the authorised activities 
and/or has business interests that might be 
affected by the authorised activity/activities.  A 
letter from one of these persons, requesting the 
representation is sufficient.

If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask 
them to represent their views then care should be 
taken that the Councillors are not part of the 
Licensing Committee dealing with the licence 
application.  If there are any doubts then please 
contact the Licensing Team on 01775 761161 or 
email:  licensing@sholland.gov.uk.  Where a 
Councillor represents an interested party, in 
order to avoid conflict of interests, that 
Councillor shall not be part of the Licensing 
Committee dealing with the licence 
application.  If there are any doubts, 
Councillors will be asked to contact the 
Council’s Member Services to gain further 
advice.
The Licensing Authority is required by 
regulations to state the principles that it will 
apply in exercising its powers under the 

Gambling Act 2005, to determine whether a 
person is an interested party.  With regard to 
specific premises, the Licensing Authority will 
consider whether a person is an interested 
party on a case-by-case basis, judging each on 
its own merit.  The Authority will not apply a 
rigid rule to its decision making. 

The principles the Licensing Authority will 
apply when deciding whether or not a person 
is an interested party are:

 The size of the premises where larger 
premises may be considered to affect 
people over a broader geographical area 
compared to smaller premises offering 
similar facilities;

 The nature of the activities being 
conducted on the premises. 

For persons living sufficiently close to the 
premises, the Licensing Authority will take into 
account the following factors when 
interpreting ‘sufficiently close’. 

 Size of the premises
 Nature of the premises
 Distance of the premises from the 

location of the person making the 
representation

 Potential impact of the premises, i.e. 
number of customers, routes likely to be 
taken by those visiting the establishment

 Circumstances of the complainant, i.e. 
interests of the complainant that may be 
relevant to the distance from the 
premises 

The Licensing Authority recognises 
‘sufficiently close to be likely to be affected’ 
could have a different meaning, for instance, a 
private resident, a residential school for 
children with behavioural or other problems 
and a residential hostel for vulnerable adults 
and will therefore deal with each 
representation on its own merit. 

Where persons with business interests that 
could be affected the Licensing Authority will 
firstly determine whether or not a person is an 
interested party and secondly whether or not 
their representation is relevant. 

Page 59



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

6

Representations by such persons that do not 
relate to the Licensing Objectives but focus 
on demand and competition will not be 
considered as relevant. 

The Licensing Authority will need to be 
satisfied that the relevant business is likely to 
be affected and shall not take into account 
representations put forward by a rival 
operator anywhere in the county, simply 
because they are in competition within the 
same gambling sector.  The following factors 
will therefore be relevant:

 Size of premises
 The ‘catchment’ area of the premises 

(i.e. how far people travel to visit)
 Whether the person making the 

representation has business interests in 
that catchment area that might be 
affected

 Whether or not the representation is 
purely based on ‘competition’ as the 
Licensing Authority does not consider 
this to be a relevant representation

The Licensing Authority will decide upon 
representations from those persons with 
business interests on an individual basis.  
The Licensing Authority will consider the 
Gambling Commission’s guidance that ‘has 
business interest’ should be given the widest 
possible interpretation and include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and 
medical practices. 

With regard to persons representing persons 
living sufficiently close and/or having 
business interests that may be affected, the 
Licensing Authority will take into account 
trade associations, trade unions, residents 
and tenants’ associations.  The Licensing 
Authority will not, however generally view 
these bodies as interested parties unless the 
organisation can demonstrate that they have 
a member who can be classed as an 
interested person under the terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005, i.e. lives sufficiently close 
to the premises to be likely to be affected by 
the activities being applied for. 

Only Responsible Authorities and Interested 
Parties may make representations.  Advice on 
how to make a representation is available from 
the Licensing Team.  Where there are 
representations, the Licensing Authority will 
encourage negotiation between the objector 
and the applicant as to the possible use of 
conditions on the licence.  

Where there are representations, the Licensing 
Authority will determine whether or not they 
will be admissible and will consider carefully 
whether the representations are relevant.  
Relevant representations must be relevant to 
the three Licensing Objectives taking into 
account the Licensing policy (Statement of 
Principles), Gambling Commissions Guidance 
and the Gambling Commissions’ Codes of 
Practice. 

Representations are not relevant where they 
are vexatious or frivolous and before a 
decision is made as to whether it is relevant or 
not, the Licensing Authority will consider:

 Who is making the representation and 
whether there is a history of making 
representations that are not relevant.  

 Whether or not it raises a relevant issue, 
or 

 Whether it raises issues specifically to 
do with the premises that are the subject 
of the application. 

The Licensing Authority strongly recommends 
that representations be submitted at the 
earliest opportunity to allow the maximum time 
to negotiate an appropriate solution. 

6.  Exchange of Information

In its exchange of information with parties 
listed in Schedule 6 of the Gambling Act 2005, 
the Council will have regard to: 

 The provisions of the 2005 Act, which 
include the provisions that data 
protection law will not be contravened;

 The guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

 Other relevant legislation and regulations.

Page 60



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

7

In accordance with Section 350 and Schedule 
6 of the Gambling Act 2005, the Council may 
exchange information with the following 
statutory bodies or individuals:

 A constable or police force;
 An enforcement officer
 Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs;
 The Gambling Appeal First Tier Tribunal;
 The Secretary of State;
 Scottish Ministers; and 
 Any other person or body designated by 

the Secretary of State in accordance with 
the Act.

The Council may also exchange information 
provided by applicants with law enforcement 
agencies for purposes connected with the 
prevention and detection of crime, but we will 
only share any personal details for this 
purpose if required to do so by law. 

Where relevant, information will be protected 
and confidentiality of those making 
representations will be maintained.  
Information will be shared by means of e-mail, 
telephone or in writing between the 
Responsible Authorities and the Gambling 
Commission. 

7.  Enforcement

Decisions on all licensing matters will be taken in 
accordance with an approved scheme of 
delegation, as attached at Appendix 1.  This is 
aimed at underlining the principles of timely, 
efficient and effective decision-making.

The main enforcement and compliance role for 
the Licensing Authority in terms of the Gambling 
Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the 
premises licence, other permissions which it 
authorises and any relevant Codes of Practice.  
The Gambling Commission will be the 
enforcement body for the Operator and Personal 
Licences and illegal gambling.  Concerns about 
manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by the Licensing 
Authority but will be notified to the Gambling 
Commission.

In order to ensure compliance with the law, 
the Licensing Authority will prepare a risk 
based Inspection Programme and will carry 
out ‘routine’ programmed inspections, based 
on risk assessment in the categories High, 

Medium and Low and will also carry out ‘non-
routine’ inspections as required.  Where one 
off events are taking place under a Temporary 
Use Notice (TUN) or Occasional Use Notice 
(OUN), the Licensing Authority may also carry 
out inspections to ensure the Licensing 
Objectives are being promoted. 

High-risk premises are those premises that 
have a history of complaints or non-
compliance and require greater attention with 
low risk premises needing only a lighter touch 
so that resources are effectively concentrated 
on problem premises.

In considering enforcement action, the Licensing 
Authority will bear in mind the Human Rights Act, 
in particular:

i. Article 1, Protocol 1 - peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions

ii. Article 6 - right to a fair hearing
iii. Article 8 - respect for private and family life
iv. Article 10 - right to freedom of expression

The Licensing Authority may carry out risk based 
operations with other agencies including the 
Gambling Commission and the Police to ensure 
the objectives are being promoted.  This includes 
test purchasing operations to ensure children and 
the vulnerable are being protected where 
required.  When undertaking test purchasing 
activities, this Licensing Authority will undertake to 
liaise with the Gambling Commission and the 
operator to determine what other, if any, test 
purchasing schemes may already be in place.  
Irrespective of the actions of an operator on their 
overall estate, test purchasing may be deemed to 
be an appropriate course of action.

As a general rule the Licensing Authority will 
consider formal action where there is evidence 
that the Licensing Objectives are being adversely 
affected.

The Licensing Authority sets out below the 
principles to be applied in exercising its 
functions with regard to inspection of 
premises and enforcement.  The Licensing 
Authority in carrying out its regulation 
functions will follow the Statutory Code of 
Practice for Regulators. 

i. proportionate:  regulators should only 
intervene when necessary:  remedies should 
be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs 
identified and minimised;

ii. accountable:  regulators must be able to 
Page 61



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

8

justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny;

iii. consistent:  rules and standards must be 
joined up and implemented fairly;

iv. transparent:  regulators should be open, 
and keep regulations simple and user 
friendly; and

v. targeted:  regulation should be focused on 
the problem, and minimise side effects

As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, this Licensing Authority will 
endeavour to avoid duplication with other 
regulatory regimes so far as possible and will 
keep itself informed of developments as 
regards the work of the Statutory Code of 
Practice for Regulators

Premises Licence Holders are advised that 
where following the receipt of a warning or 
warnings in relation to a Premises Licence 
breach or breaches, an operator subsequently 
breaches the licence conditions, the Licensing 
Authority will seek to review the Premises 
Licence.

8.  Licensing Authority Functions

South Holland District Council, as the Licensing 
Authority, is responsible for the licensing of 
premises and the issue of permits and 
authorisations under the Gambling Act 2005.  
The Authority’s main functions under the 2005 
Act are:

i. be responsible for the licensing of premises 
where gambling activities are to take place 
by issuing Premises Licences

ii. issue Provisional Statements
iii. issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 

Permits for premises licensed to sell/supply 
alcohol for consumption on the licensed 
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, 
where there are more than two machines

iv. register small society lotteries below 
prescribed thresholds

v. issue Prize Gaming Permits
vi. receive and endorse Temporary Use 

Notices
vii. receive Occasional Use Notices
viii. provide information to the Gambling 

Commission regarding details of licences 
issued (see section above on ‘information 
exchange’)

ix. maintain registers of the permits and 
licences that are issued under these 

functions
x. issue Club Machine Permits to commercial 

clubs
xi. grant permits for the use of certain lower 

stake gaming machines at unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centres

xii. receive notifications from alcohol licensed 
premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for 
the use of two or fewer gaming machines

xiii. Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ 
welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via issuing Club 
Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine 
Permits

It should be noted that Licensing Authorities are 
not involved in licensing remote gambling at all, 
which is regulated by the Gambling Commission 
via Operating Licences.

This Policy is intended to provide clarity to 
applicants, interested parties and responsible 
authorities on how this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications.  Guidance is available to 
assist applicants:  the aforementioned guidance 
does not form part of this Policy.

Page 62



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

9

PART B
Premises Licences:  Consideration of Applications

1.  General Principles

Premises Licences authorise the provision of 
gambling facilities on the following:

 Casino Premises
 Bingo Premises
 Betting Premises (including tracks and 

premises used by betting intermediaries)
 Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs)
 Family Entertainment Centres (FECs)

Except in the case of Tracks (where the 
occupier may not be the person offering 
gambling), Premises Licences will only be 
granted to those issued with an Operating 
Licence by the Gambling Commission. 

Other forms of authorisations are as follows:

 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres 
(uFEC) Permits

 Prize Gaming Permits
 Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 

Permits
 Club Gaming Permits
 Club Gaming Machine Permits

Premises Licences are subject to the 
requirements set out in the Gambling Act 2005 
and Regulations, as well as specific mandatory 
and default conditions, which are detailed in 
Regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  
Licensing Authorities are able to exclude default 
conditions and also attach others, where it is 
believed to be appropriate.

(a) Decision-making

This Licensing Authority is aware that in making 
decisions about Premises Licences it should aim 
to permit the use of premises for gambling in so 
far as it thinks fit:

i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

ii. in accordance with any relevant guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission;

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives; and

iv. in accordance with the Authority’s Statement 
of Licensing Policy

It is appreciated that as per the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
“moral objections to gambling are not a valid 
reason to reject applications for premises 
licences” and also that unmet demand is not a 
criterion for a Licensing Authority.

This Licensing Authority also notes Gambling 
Commission guidance on Appropriate Licensing 
Environment.

It is not permissible for an operator to offer gaming 
machines on a premise which is licensed for non-
remote betting but not to offer sufficient facilities 
for non-remote betting.  A non-remote betting 
operating licence authorises its holder to ‘provide 
facilities for betting’ (s.65(2)(c) of the Act).  
Likewise, a betting premises licence authorises 
premises to be used for ‘the provision of facilities 
for betting’ (s.150(1)(e) of the Act).  The ability to 
make up to four gaming machines, within 
categories B2 – D available, is an additional 
authorisation conferred upon the holder of a 
betting premises licence (s.172(8) of the Act); it is 
not a free standing right to make gaming machines 
available for use.  It follows that unless a betting 
premises operator offers sufficient facilities for 
betting it should not be making gaming machines 
available on the premises in question. 

(b) Definition of ‘premises’

Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”.  
Different Premises Licences cannot apply in 
respect of a single premises at different times.  
However, it is possible for a single building to be 
subject to more than one Premises Licence, 
provided they are for different parts of the building 
and the different parts of the building can be 
reasonably regarded as being different premises.  
Whether different parts of the building can properly 
be regarded as being separate premises will 
always be a question of fact. 

The location of the premises will clearly be an 
important consideration and the suitability of 
the division will be a matter for discussion 
between the operator and the Authority’s 
Licensing Officer.  However, the Gambling 
Commission does not consider that areas of a Page 63



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

1
0

building that are artificially or temporarily 
separated (for example, by ropes or moveable 
partitions) can be properly regarded as 
different premises.  The Licensing Authority 
will consider the definition of premises and 
where there are such concerns the Licensing 
Authority may address these through licence 
conditions.  The Licensing Authority will, if 
necessary, respond to any further guidance by 
the Gambling Commission on this subject by 
way of a minor variation of this Policy.

The Licensing Authority takes particular note of 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities which states that:

Licensing Authorities should take particular care 
in considering applications for multiple licences 
for a building and those relating to a discrete part 
of a building used for other (non-gambling) 
purposes.  In particular they should be aware of 
the following:

i. The third Licensing Objective seeks to protect 
children from being harmed by gambling.  In 
practice that means not only preventing them 
from taking part in gambling, but also

ii. Preventing them from being in close proximity 
to gambling.  Therefore premises should be 
configured so that children are not invited to 
participate in, have accidental access to, or 
closely observe gambling where they are 
prohibited from participating.

iii. Entrances to and exits from parts of a building 
covered by one or more Premises Licences 
should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not 
compromised and people do not ‘drift’ into a 
gambling area.  In this context it should 
normally be possible to access the premises 
without going through another licensed 
premises or premises with a permit.

iv. Customers should be able to participate in the 
activity named on the Premises Licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the 
Licensing Authority should be aware of, which may 
include:

i. Do the premises have a separate registration 
for business rates?

ii. Is the premises’ neighbouring premises 
owned by the same person or someone else?

iii. Can each of the premises be accessed from 
the street or a public passageway?

iv. Can the premises only be accessed from any 
other gambling premises?

This Authority will consider these and other 
relevant factors in making its decision depending 
on all the circumstances of the case.

(c)  Premises ‘Ready for Gambling

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance states that 
a licence to use premises for gambling should 
only be issued in relation to premises that the 
Licensing Authority can be satisfied are going to 
be ready to be used for gambling in the 
reasonably near future, consistent with the scale 
of the building or alterations required before the 
premises are brought into use.

If the construction of a premises is not yet 
complete, or if the applicant does not yet have a 
right to occupy them, then an application for a 
provisional statement can be made instead.  This 
is also the case for a premises requiring 
significant alteration where that alteration is 
unlikely to be completed for some 
considerable period of time.

In deciding whether a Premises Licence can be 
granted where there are outstanding construction 
or alteration works at the premises, this authority 
will determine applications on their merits, 
applying a two stage consideration process:

i. first, whether the premises ought to be 
permitted to be used for gambling

ii. second, whether appropriate conditions can 
be put in place to cater for the situation that 
the premises are not yet in - the state in which 
they ought to be before gambling takes place.

Applicants should note that this authority is 
entitled to decide that it is appropriate to grant a 
licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged 
to grant such a licence.

More detailed example of the circumstances in 
which such a licence may be granted can be 
found within the Gambling Commissions 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

Page 64



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

11

(d)  Location

The Licensing Authority is aware that demand 
issues cannot be considered with regard to the 
location of premises but that considerations in 
terms of the licensing objectives are relevant to 
its decision making.  As per the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, 
this authority will pay particular attention to the 
protection of children and vulnerable persons 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as 
well as issues of crime and disorder.  

With regard to these objectives, upon receipt 
of any relevant representations this Authority 
will look at specific location issues including: 

i. proximity of the premises to schools and 
vulnerable adults 

ii. the proximity of the premises to residential 
areas where there may be a high 
concentration of families with children

iii. the size of the premises and the nature of 
the activities taking place

iv. any levels of organised crime in the area

When considering the location of premises 
the Licensing Authority may take into 
consideration any restrictions on access to 
the premises.

This policy does not preclude any application 
being made and each application will be 
decided on its merits, with the onus upon the 
applicant showing how potential concerns 
can be overcome.

(e) Duplication with Other Regulatory 
Regimes

This Licensing Authority seeks to avoid any 
duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems where possible, including planning.  
This authority will not consider whether a licence 
application is likely to be awarded planning 
permission or building regulations approval, in its 
consideration of it.  It will though listen to, and 
consider carefully, any concerns about 
conditions, which are not able to be met by 
licensees due to planning restrictions, should 
such a situation arise.  It is for the applicant to 
ensure that any other statutory requirements are 
complied with.

Licensing Objectives

Premises licences granted must be reasonably 
consistent with the licensing objectives.  With 
regard to these objectives, the Licensing 
Authority has considered the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
and some comments are made below.

Preventing gambling from being a source 
of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime

This Licensing Authority is aware that the 
Gambling Commission will be taking a leading 
role in preventing gambling from being a source 
of crime.  The Licensing Authority recognises 
it is the responsibility of the Gambling 
Commission when issuing Operating 
Licences to ensure the operator is a suitable 
applicant. However, if during the course of 
considering a Premises Licence application or 
at any other time, the Licensing Authority 
receives such information that causes it to 
question the suitability of the applicant, those 
concerns will be brought to the immediate 
attention of the Gambling Commission.  The 
Gambling Commission's Guidance does however 
envisage that Licensing Authorities should pay 
attention to the proposed location of gambling 
premises in terms of this licensing objective.  
Thus, where an area has known high levels of 
organised crime this authority will consider 
carefully whether gambling premises are suitable 
to be located there and whether conditions may 
be suitable such as the provision of door 
supervisors, CCTV etc.

The Licensing Authority recognises that 
disorder and nuisance may be focused on 
premises and therefore recommends an 
applicant takes such controls as necessary to 
prevent such disorder and nuisance. 
Examples may include thought given to the 
way that gambling is conducted on the 
premises, siting of large pay out machines 
and levels of noise from public address 
systems that should ideally be sited at the 
back of the premises away from residential 
areas. Consideration, where relevant, will be 
given to the placing of appropriate conditions 
on the licence governing opening hours for 
betting shops in residential areas and other 
sensitive areas and in the case of disorder the 
use of Door Supervisors. Section 178 of the 
2005 Act sets out the definition of ‘Door 
Supervisor’ and provides that where a person 
is employed in such a role is required to hold 
a licence issued by the Security Industry 
Authority (SIA), that requirement will have Page 65



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

12

force as though it were a condition on the 
premises licence.  For information regarding 
Door Supervisors, see Part B, Paragraphs 1.30 
to 1.32 of this policy document.

Where there are persistent levels of disorder, 
the Licensing Authority will liaise closely with 
the Gambling Commission to consider the 
suitability of the applicant as an operator.  In 
addition, the Licensing Authority will strive to 
have a good working relationship with the 
Police in accordance with any protocol that is 
currently in place.

As there are no clear lines between nuisance 
and disorder, the Licensing Authority may 
seek legal advice when determining what 
action to take in circumstances in which 
disorder may be a factor.  The Licensing 
Authority appreciates that disorder is 
intended to mean activity that is more serious 
and disruptive than mere nuisance, however, 
in determining this it will take into account the 
following factors:

i. Whether the situation was serious enough 
to require Police or Ambulance assistance;

ii. How threatening the behaviour was to 
those who could see or hear it.

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a 
fair and open way

This Licensing Authority has noted that the 
Gambling Commission states that it generally 
does not expect Licensing Authorities to become 
concerned with ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way as this will be 
addressed via operating and personal licences.  
There is however, more of a role with regard to 
tracks which is explained in more detail in the 
'tracks'.

The Licensing Authority, in certain 
circumstances, may seek to impose 
conditions to ensure that the environment in 
which betting takes place is suitable.

The Licensing Authority may wish to know the 
nature of the venue, have sight of a plan of the 
track which would include access to the place 
where gambling is to take place, where the 
operators will conduct on course betting and 
whether or not there are any off course betting 
operators.

Protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling

Protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling - As children and young persons are 
prohibited from the great majority of gambling 
they must be prevented from entering adult 
only gaming environments. This Licensing 
Objective intends to prevent children and 
young persons from taking part in, or being in 
close proximity to, gambling. Restrictions are 
therefore necessary when advertising 
gambling products that are aimed at children 
or advertised in such a way that makes them 
attractive to children. The Licensing Authority 
will therefore consider whether or not specific 
measures are needed to protect children at 
particular premises. Such measures may 
include:

i. staff training (to include training on how to 
deal with suspected truants and 
vulnerable persons)

ii. careful consideration of the siting of ATMs
iii. additional requirements to provide 

supervision at entrances
iv. steps taken to segregate gambling from 

non-gambling areas frequented by 
children

v. the supervision of gaming machines in 
non-adult gambling specific premises in 
order to prevent children or vulnerable 
young persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling

vi. Minimum staffing levels in adult only 
gambling premises

vii. Induction training for new staff and 
refresher training for existing staff

viii.Maintenance of a refusals register
ix. Proof of age schemes (e.g. Think 21)
x. Third party test purchasing
xi. Location of entry to adult only gambling 

premises
xii. Infra Red Beam positioned across the 

entrance to the adult only gambling 
premises

xiii.provision of CCTV (with images retained 
for a minimum period of 28 days)

PART B

Page 66



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

13

These measures will be particularly 
relevant on mixed-use premises, and on 
tracks where children have freedom of 
movement in betting areas on race days.  
Other such measures may include:

i. appropriate signage
ii. location of gaming machines
iii. numbers of staff on duty
iv. not siting child orientated machines 

or facilities close to the entrance to 
adult gaming/betting facilities

v. ensuring there is no accidental 
access to premises used for adult 
gambling

vi. With regard to vulnerable persons, 
measures such as the use of self-
barring schemes, provision of 
information leaflets and helpline 
numbers for organisations such as 
Gamcare, should be deemed 
particularly appropriate.

Further specific information on this 
Authority’s recommendations and 
expectations, in relation to the protection 
of children and other vulnerable persons, 
can be found at Appendices 5 and 6 of 
this policy document.

The above lists are not exhaustive but 
indicative of examples.

As regards ‘vulnerable persons’, it is 
noted that the Gambling Commission has 
not defined a ‘vulnerable person’ but 
states that it will assume that this group 
will include people who gamble more 
than they want to; people who gamble 
beyond their means; and people who may 
not be able to make informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling due to a mental 
impairment, alcohol or drugs. Whilst the 
Gambling Act does not prohibit 
vulnerable groups in the same manner as 
children and young persons, with regard 
to vulnerable people, the Licensing 
Authority will consider whether or not 
any measures have been taken to protect 
such a group. Any such considerations 
will be balanced against the Licensing 
Authority’s aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling; each application 
will be treated on its own merit.

With this Licensing Objective in mind, the 
Licensing Authority will take particular 
care when considering applications for 
more than one premises licence for a 
building and those relating to a discrete 
part of a building used for other non-
gambling purposes, such as shopping 
malls. Where relevant, applicants will be 
expected to take measures to ensure 
young persons, and children are not in 
close proximity to gambling. Such 
measures may include siting machines at 
the back of a premises so as to ensure 
young children do not have sight of such 
machines, not advertising gambling so as 
to encourage children, not siting child 
orientated machines or facilities close to 
the entrance to adult gaming/betting 
facilities and ensuring there is no 
accidental access to observe or enter 
premises used for gambling.

In the absence of a definition of “direct 
access” between an Adult Gaming Centre 
and a Licensed Family Entertainment 
Centre or Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centre in the 2005 Act or 
Regulations, the Licensing Authority has 
identified a Statement of Principles within 
this Policy to be followed in decision-
making. Should it be established that 
these Principles are inconsistent with the 
legislation (through statute or the 
Courts), the Licensing Authority reserves 
the right to amend this Statement of 
Principles as a minor policy change 
without further consultation.

The Licensing Authority recommends 
that measures are taken to ensure 
entrances and exits from parts of a 
building covered by one or more 
premises licences are separate and 
identifiable so that people do not drift 
into a gambling area in error.  Such 
measures could include appropriate 
signage, physically separating Family 
Entertainment Centres and Adult Gaming 
Centres, and supervision of entrances.

The Licensing Authority will consider 
multiple licences carefully and applicants 
are recommended to configure these 
buildings carefully if they seek to develop 
multipurpose developments and in 
particular consider how they will protect 
children from being harmed by gambling 
as well as preventing children from being 
in close proximity to gambling. 

Page 67



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

14

Applicants are also requested to consider 
entrances and exits from parts of the 
building covered by one or more licences. 
These exits and entrances should be 
separate and identifiable to ensure 
children do not ‘drift’ into a gambling 
area.

The Licensing Authority recommends 
that all staff are suitably trained and 
aware of the Gambling laws, social 
responsibility and statutory 
requirements related to age restrictions 
on gaming machines. Appropriate 
measures should be taken to prevent 
under age use of such machines, 
including clear and appropriate signage, 
an approved Proof of Age scheme (such 
as a Think 21 scheme) and a requirement 
for staff to be vigilant and aware at all 
times.

In relation to amusement arcades the 
Licensing Authority recognises BACTA’s 
voluntary Code of Social Responsibility 
and Good Practice for Adult Gaming and 
Family Entertainment Centres. The 
Licensing Authority recommends that 
operators of Adult Gaming and Family 
Entertainment Centres consider the 
adoption of any areas of the Code that are 
not covered by any current mandatory 
Codes of Practice.

Conditions

Any conditions attached to licences will be 
proportionate and will be:

i. relevant to the need to make the 
proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility

ii. directly related to the premises and the 
type of licence applied for

iii. fairly and reasonably related to the scale 
and type of premises and

iv. reasonable in all other respects.

Decisions upon individual conditions will be 
made on a case by case basis, although 
there will be a number of measures this 
Licensing Authority will consider utilising 
should there be a perceived need, such as 
the use of door supervisors and appropriate 
signage for adult only areas etc.  
This Licensing Authority will also expect the 
licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to ways in which the 
licensing objectives can be met effectively.

This Licensing Authority will also consider 
specific measures which may be required 
for buildings which are subject to multiple 
premises licences.  Such measures may 
include the supervision of entrances; 
segregation of gambling from non-gambling 
areas frequented by children; and the 
supervision of gaming machines in non-
adult gambling specific premises in order to 
pursue the licensing objectives.  These 
matters are in accordance with the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance.

Default Licence Conditions 

Applicants are advised that any 
applications to amend default licence 
conditions will not be dealt with by 
Officers acting under delegated powers. 
A Licensing Sub-Committee hearing will 
consider such applications. The 
Licensing Authority is aware that one 
issue likely to be raised in relation to 
default conditions is the hours the 
premises may be open in order to provide 
gambling or betting facilities (for 
example a betting premises). The 
Authority will only exclude default 
conditions and replace the same with 
less rigid conditions when there are clear 
and identifiable reasons for doing so.

Where an operator breaches the licence 
conditions, initially a warning will 
normally be given to correct the 
breaches. If following such warning or 
warnings, a breach or breaches occur the 
Licensing Authority will seek to review 
the Premises Licence.

Door Supervisors

If there are concerns that premises may 
attract disorder or be subject to 
unauthorised access by children and young 
persons, then the Licensing Authority may 
require that Door Supervisors control 
entrances to the premises.  The Licensing 
Authority recognises that each premises 
application shall be treated on its own merit.  
In addition, the Licensing Authority shall 
take into account the previous trading 
history of the type of premises proposed 
and that any decision shall be necessary 
and proportionate.

Where door supervisors are imposed as a 
Page 68



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

15

condition on a Premises Licence (except 
casino or bingo premises), Section 178 of 
the 2005 Act requires that any person 
employed in that capacity will hold a 
relevant licence issued by the Security 
Industry Authority (SIA).  There are however 
exemptions to this requirement i.e. ‘in-
house’ employees working as door 
supervisors at casino and bingo premises.

It is noted that in-house staff acting as 
door supervisors at casinos or bingo 
premises are not required to be licensed 
by the SIA. However, this Authority 
recommends that where in-house staff 
acting as door supervisors are provided 
at these premises the operator should 
ensure that any persons employed in this 
capacity are fit and proper to carry out 
such duties. Possible ways to achieve 
this could be to carry out a Basic Criminal 
Records (DBS) Check on potential staff 
and for such personnel to have attended 
industry recognised training.

2.  Adult Gaming Centres

The Licensing Authority will specifically have 
regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being 
exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there 
will be sufficient measures to, for example, 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the premises.

The Licensing Authority may consider 
measures to meet the licensing objectives, 
such as:

i. proof of age schemes
ii. CCTV
iii. supervision of entrances/machine 

areas (e.g. use of door supervisors)
iv. physical separation of areas
v. location of entry
vi. Minimum staffing levels
vii. Induction training for new staff and 

refresher training for existing staff

viii. Refusals register
ix. Proof of age schemes (e.g. Think 

21)
x. Third party test purchasing
xi. Location of entry to premises
xii. Infra-Red Beam positioned across 

the entrance to the premises

xiii. notices/signage (including the 
statutory requirement in relation to 
the display of GamCare stickers)

xiv. specific opening hours
xv. self-exclusion schemes
xvi. Provision of information 

leaflets/helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare.

With regard to vulnerable persons, the 
Licensing Authority will consider 
measures such as the use of self-barring 
schemes and the provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare, as 
appropriate measures.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, 
and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

The Licensing Authority will expect 
applicants to adopt an approved proof of 
age scheme (such as Challenge 21/25), for 
staff to be suitably trained and aware of the 
gambling laws, social responsibility and 
statutory requirements relating to age 
restrictions.

3.  Licensed Family Entertainment 
Centres

This Licensing Authority will specifically 
have regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being 
exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority, for 
example, that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds 
do not have access to the adult only gaming 
machine areas.  

Page 69



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

16

The Licensing Authority will expect 
applicants to meet the Licensing 
Objectives and comply with all 
mandatory conditions and Codes of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission. However, appropriate 
measures may cover issues such as:

i. Proof of Age schemes
ii. CCTV, specifically sited where the 

adult machines are to be situated
iii. Door supervisors
iv. Controlled supervision of entrance 

and machine areas
v. Location of entry
vi. Statutory requirement in relation to 

the display of GamCare stickers
vii. Physical segregation of machines 

and areas
viii. Appropriate Notices and signage
ix. Specific opening hours
x. Self-exclusion schemes
xi. Measures/training for staff on how 

to deal with suspected truant school 
children on the premises

xii. Provision of information leaflets/ 
helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare

xiii. Minimum staffing levels
xiv. Induction training for new staff and 

refresher training for existing staff
xv. Refusals register
xvi. Proof of age schemes (e.g. Think 21)
xvii. Third party test purchasing
xviii. Location of entry to premises
xix. Infra-red beam positioned across 

the entrance to the premises
xx. Appropriately trained floor walking 

staff with regard to the protection 
of children and vulnerable adults

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, 
and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

With regard to vulnerable persons, the 
Licensing Authority will consider 
measures such as the use of self-barring 
schemes, provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare as 
appropriate measures.

With regard to segregation of Category C 
machines in licensed FECs, there is a 
requirement that there must be clear 
segregation between the two types of 
machine so that children do not have 
access to Category C machines. All 
Category C machines must be located in 
an area of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical 
barrier, which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated 
entrance. The Licensing Authority will 
seek to ensure that:

i. only adults are admitted to the area 
where the machines are located;

ii. access to the area where the 
machines are located is supervised;

iii. the area where the machines are 
located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by staff of the operator or 
the licence holder; and

iv. at the entrance to, and inside any such 
area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the 
area is prohibited to persons under 
18.

In most cases the Licensing Authority 
will be happy to accept a solid waist 
high barrier (e.g. 1.1 to 1.4 metres in 
height) in order to designate the adult 
only Category C gaming machine area. 
The barrier must be fixed and not 
something which is transient or easily 
moveable.

4.  Casinos

No Casinos Resolution
This Licensing Authority has not passed a 
‘no casino’ resolution under Section 166 of 
the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it 
has the power to do so.  Should this 
Licensing Authority decide in the future to 
pass such a resolution, it will update this 
Policy (Statement of Principles) with details 
of that resolution.  Any such resolution will 
be made by the Full Council.

Page 70



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

17

5.  Bingo Premises

Entry to bingo premises is not generally 
age restricted although entry to certain 
areas of the premises will be restricted by 
law if they contain Category C gaming 
machines. If the bingo premises operator 
intends not to allow under 18s entry to 
any part of the premises then this 
Authority will expect to be advised of the 
same by the operator/licensee as soon as 
reasonably possible after that decision 
has been made.

In accordance with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance, the Licensing 
Authority recognises that it is important that 
if children are allowed to enter premises 
licensed for bingo that they do not 
participate in gambling, other than on 
Category D machines.  Where Category C 
or above machines are available in the bingo 
premises to which children are admitted, the 
Licensing Authority will seek to ensure that:

i. all such machines are located in an 
area of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a 
physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a 
designated entrance;

ii. only adults are admitted to the area 
where the machines are located;

iii. access to the area where the machines 
are located is supervised;

iv. the area where the machines are 
located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by staff of the operator or the 
licence holder; and

v. at the entrance to, and inside any such 
area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the 
area is prohibited to persons under 18.

In most cases the Licensing Authority 
will be happy to accept a solid waist 
high barrier (e.g. 1.1 to 1.4 metres in 
height) in order to designate the adult 
only Category C gaming machine area. 
The barrier must be fixed and not 
something which is transient or easily 
moveable.

The Gambling Commission has issued 
Codes of Practice relating to Bingo 
premises and the Licensing Authority 
expects all applicants to comply with 
these codes. The Licensing Authority will 
not look favourably upon an application 
where an applicant seeks a Bingo 
Premises Licence with the sole intention 
of placing Category B2 Gaming Machines 
only in the premises with no provision for 
facilities for bingo, as this is not 
considered to be in the spirit of the Act. 
This is also referred to in the Gaming 
Machines section of this Policy 
Statement. Applicants and premises 
licence holders are reminded of the 
Gambling Commission’s operator 
licence conditions requiring that bingo is 
provided as the primary activity in any 
premises that hold or apply for a bingo 
premises licence.

Where bingo is provided in alcohol-licensed 
premises and it reaches a certain threshold, 
it will no longer be authorised as equal 
chance gaming and a Bingo Operating 
Licence will need to be obtained from the 
Gambling Commission.  High turnover 
bingo will require a Bingo Operating 
Licence. Definitions of low and high 
turnover bingo are available by referring 
to the Gambling Commission’s website.

The aim of this provision is to prevent bingo 
becoming a predominant commercial 
activity on such non- gambling premises.

The Licensing Authority will take into 
account any additional guidance issued 
by the Gambling Commission in relation 
to the suitability and layout of bingo 
premises.

Page 71



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

18

6.  Betting Premises

The Licensing Authority is responsible for 
issuing and monitoring Premises Licences 
for all betting premises.  Children and young 
persons are not permitted entry to a premise 
with a Betting Premises Licence.  They may, 
however, be permitted entry to tracks and 
special rules will apply.  The Licensing 
Authority recommends that an applicant for 
gaming machines in betting premises 
considers carefully the location of betting 
machines to ensure that they are not in sight 
of the entrance of the premises.

The Licensing Authority has discretion 
as to the number, nature and 
circumstances of use of betting 
machines at a betting premises. However 
the Licensing Authority will consider 
limiting the number of machines only 
where there is clear evidence that such 
machines have been, or are likely to be, 
used in breach of the Licensing 
Objectives. Where there is such evidence, 
the Licensing Authority may consider, 
when reviewing the licence, the ability of 
staff to monitor the use of such machines 
from the counter. When considering 
whether or not to impose such a 
condition the Licensing Authority will 
take into account the following:

i. The size of the premises;
ii. The number of counter positions 

available for person to person 
transactions; and

iii. The ability of staff to monitor the use 
of the machines by children and 
young or vulnerable persons. In 
deciding whether to impose 
conditions to limit the number of 
betting machines each case will be 
considered on its own merits and 
account will be taken of the relevant 
Codes of Practice and Guidance 
issued under the Gambling Act 2005.

The Licensing Authority will not look 
favourably upon an application where an 
applicant seeks a Betting Premises 
Licence with the sole intention of placing 
Category B2 Gaming Machines only in 
the premises with no provision for 
facilities for betting, as this is not 
considered to be in the spirit of the Act. 
This is also referred to in the Gaming 
Machines section of this Policy 

Statement. Applicants and premises 
licence holders are reminded of the 
Gambling Commission’s operator 
licence conditions requiring that counter 
betting facilities are provided as the 
primary activity in any premises that hold 
or apply for a betting premises licence.

The Licensing Authority will expect 
applicants to meet the Licensing 
Objectives and comply with all 
mandatory conditions and Codes of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission. In determining whether an 
application meets the aforementioned 
criteria the Licensing Authority may give 
consideration as to whether appropriate 
measures are or will be in place to 
address the matters listed below:

i. Minimum staffing levels
ii. Induction training for new staff and 

refresher training for existing staff

This list is not exhaustive and is merely 
indicative of example measures.  The 
Licensing Authority will expect 
applicants to offer their own measures to 
meet the licensing objectives.

. 

7.  Tracks

Note there are currently no tracks operating 
in the district.  However, this Statement of 
Principles contains provision for the event of 
such a premise.

This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks 
may be subject to one, or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence 
relates to a specified area of the track.  As 
per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, 
this Licensing Authority will especially 
consider the impact upon the third licensing 
objective (i.e. the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling) and the need to 
ensure that entrances to each type of 
premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they 
are not permitted to enter.

Page 72



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

19

This Authority will therefore expect the 
premises licence applicant to demonstrate 
suitable measures to ensure that children do 
not have access to adult only gaming 
facilities.  It is noted that children and young 
persons will be permitted to enter track 
areas where facilities for betting are 
provided on days when dog-racing and/or 
horse racing takes place, but that they are 
still prevented from entering areas where 
gaming machines (other than category D 
machines) are provided.

This Licensing Authority may consider 
measures to meet the licensing objectives, 
such as:

i. proof of age schemes
ii. CCTV
iii. supervision of entrances/machine 

areas
iv. physical separation of areas
v. location of entry
vi. notices/signage (including the 

statutory requirement for GamCare 
stickers)

vii. specific opening hours
viii. self-exclusion schemes
ix. provision of information 

leaflets/helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, 
and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

Gaming Machines

Where the applicant holds a pool betting 
operating licence and is going to use the 
entitlement to four gaming machines, 
machines (other than category D machines) 
should be located in areas from which 
children are excluded.

Betting Machines

This Licensing Authority will, as per the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance, take 
into account the size of the premises and 
the ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons (it 
is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or 
by vulnerable people, when considering the 
number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer.

8.  Travelling Fairs

This Licensing Authority is responsible for 
deciding whether category D machines 
and/or equal chance prize gaming without a 
permit are to be made available for use at 
travelling fairs, the statutory requirement 
that the facilities for gambling amount to no 
more than an ancillary amusement at the fair 
is met.

The Licensing Authority will also consider 
whether the applicant falls within the 
statutory definition of a travelling fair.

It has been noted that the 27-day statutory 
maximum for the land being used as a fair, 
applies on a per calendar year basis and 
that it applies to the piece of land on which 
the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is 
the same or different travelling fairs 
occupying the land.  The Licensing 
Authority will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that land, which 
crosses our boundaries, is monitored so 
that the statutory limits are not exceeded.

9.  Provisional Statements

Developers may wish to apply to this 
authority for provisional statements before 
entering into a contract to buy or lease 
property or land to judge whether a 
development is worth taking forward in light 
of the need to obtain a premises licence.  
There is no need for the applicant to hold an 
operating licence in order to apply for a 
provisional statement.

Section 204 of the Gambling Act provides 
for a person to make an application to the 
Licensing Authority for a provisional 
statement in respect of premises that he or 
she:

i. expects to be constructed;
ii. expects to be altered; or
iii. expects to acquire a right to occupy.

Page 73



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

20

The process for considering an application 
for a provisional statement is the same as 
that for a premises licence application.  The 
applicant is obliged to give notice of the 
application in the same way as applying for 
a premises licence.  Responsible Authorities 
and Interested Parties may make 
representations and there are rights of 
appeal.

In contrast to the premises licence 
application, the applicant does not have to 
hold or have applied for an operating licence 
from the Gambling Commission (except in 
the case of a track) and they do not have to 
have a right to occupy the premises in 
respect of which their provisional application 
is made.

The holder of the provisional statement may 
then apply for a premises licence once the 
premises are constructed, altered or 
acquired.  The Licensing Authority will be 
constrained in the matters it can consider 
when determining the premises licence 
application, and in terms of representations 
about premises licence applications that 
follow the grant of a provisional statement, 
no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken 
into account unless:

i. they concern matters which could not 
have been addressed at the 
provisional statement stage, or

ii. they reflect a change in the 
applicant’s circumstances.

In addition, the authority may refuse the 
premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional 
statement) only by reference to matters:

i. which could not have been raised by 
objectors at the provisional statement 
stage;

ii. which in the authority’s opinion reflect a 
change in the operator’s circumstances;

iii. where the premises have not been 
constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application.  This 
must be a substantial change to the plan 
and this Licensing Authority notes that it 
can discuss any concerns it has with the 
applicant before making a decision.

10.  Reviews

Requests for a review of a premises licence 
can be made by the Licensing Authority 
itself, interested parties or responsible 
authorities.  However, it is for the Licensing 
Authority to decide whether the review is to 
be carried out.  This will be on the basis of 
whether the request for the review is 
relevant to the matters listed below as well 
as consideration as to whether the 
request is frivolous, vexatious, will 
certainly not cause the Authority to 
wish to alter/revoke/suspend the 
licence or whether it is substantially 
the same as previous requests for 
review:

The review will be:

i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

ii. in accordance with any relevant 
guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives; and

iv. in accordance with the Authority’s 
Statement of Principles.

The Licensing Authority can also initiate a 
review of a particular premises licence, or a 
particular class of premises licence on the 
basis of any reason which it thinks 
appropriate.

11.  Appeals

There is a right of appeal both for applicants 
and those who have made relevant 
representations or applied for a review.  This 
appeal must be lodged within a period of 21 
days from the day on which the applicant 
was notified by the Licensing Authority of 
the decision and must be made to the 
Magistrates’ Court.

Page 74



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

21

12.  Think 21 Policy

The Licensing Authority strongly 
supports campaigns to reduce the illegal 
access of underage persons to adult only 
gambling and encourages the use of a 
Think 21 policy within premises 
providing adult only gambling facilities. 
Under the scheme, premises providing 
adult only gambling facilities should seek 
proof of age from anybody who appears 
to be under the age of 21. The policy 
should create a culture of expectation 
that in premises providing adult only 
gaming facilities, proof of age should 
either be offered or produced on demand 
and that this should be the norm as far as 
access to over 18 gambling is concerned.

Whilst supporting the Think 21 Scheme 
the Licensing Authority recognises that 
some premises may wish to go a step 
further by introducing a Think 25 
Scheme.

13.  Test Purchasing

This Authority may undertake covert test 
purchasing exercises in order to check 
compliance with the requirement that 
under 18s do not access ‘adult only’ 
gambling facilities. This exercise would 
be in response to concerns about 
underage gambling vulnerabilities in 
particular sub-sectors of the gambling 
industry. Under the terms of the 
Gambling Commission’s Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice 
operators must monitor the effectiveness 
of their policies and procedures for 
preventing underage access to gambling 
premises and products. At the time of the 
drafting of this policy certain sub-sectors 
of the gambling industry had not 
provided the Gambling Commission with 
any assurances that this was happening. 
Those sub-sectors are, broadly, the small 
and medium-sized Betting Premises, 
Adult Gaming Centres and Family 
Entertainment Centres.

There are also no assurances in relation to 
Category C gaming machines in alcohol 
licensed premises to which under 18s 

have access. With this in mind this 
Authority intends to include Alcohol 
Licensed Premises with Category C 
gaming machines as being appropriate 
for test purchasing – this being in order 
to monitor the effectiveness of their 
policies and procedures for preventing 
underage access to gambling products.

There are a number of steps which this 
Authority would recommend to operators 
in order to prevent underage access and 
monitor the effectiveness of their 
policies. These steps include the 
adoption of a Think 21 Policy and the use 
of third party test purchasing in order to 
test the effectiveness of the Think 21 
Policy.  Further recommended steps can 
be found in the Premises Sections and 
the Safeguarding Children Section of this 
policy document.

14.  Credit Facilities

Credit facilities are prohibited from being 
provided in casinos and bingo licensed 
premises. Cash machines (ATMs) may be 
installed in such premises but the 
Licensing Authority may apply 
conditions as to where they are sited.

15.  Local Risk Assessments

It is a requirement of the Gambling 
Commission’s Licence Conditions and 
Codes of Practice (LCCP) for licensees 
to assess the local risks to the 
licensing objectives posed by the 
provision of gambling facilities at their 
premises and have policies, procedures 
and control measures to mitigate those 
risks. In making risk assessments, 
licensees must take into account 
relevant matters identified in this policy 
document.

Page 75



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

22

The LCCP goes on to say licensees 
must review (and update as necessary) 
their local risk assessments:

i. to take account of significant 
changes in local circumstance, 
including those identified in this 
policy;

ii. when there are significant 
changes at a licensee’s premises 
that may affect their mitigation of 
local risks;

iii. when applying for a variation of a 
premises licence.

In addition, operators must undertake a 
Local Risk Assessment when applying 
for a new premises licence.

The Local Risk Assessment should 
indicate the provision of gambling 
facilities at each individual premises, and 
set out the policies, procedures and 
control measures that the operator has in 
place to mitigate those risks.

This Authority will expect that the 
manager of the gambling premises in 
question (and wherever possible the 
local staff) are involved in the 
formulation of the local risk 
assessment. It is also expected that a 
copy of the finalised local risk 
assessment will be kept at the 
gambling premises in question and be 
made available to staff (and inspecting 
officers) at all times.

This Authority will expect the local risk 
assessment to consider as a minimum:

i. whether the premises is in an area 
of deprivation;

ii. whether the premises is in an area 
subject to high levels of crime 
and/or disorder;

iii. the demographics of the area in 
relation to vulnerable groups;

iv. the location of services for children 
such as schools, playgrounds, toy 
shops, leisure centres and other 
areas where children will gather;

v. significant presence of young 
children, both residents and 
visitors;

vi. high unemployment area;
vii. nearby homeless hostels;

viii. nearby gambling, alcohol, drug or 

mental health support facilities;
ix. the area has a high number of 

rough sleepers/homeless people;
x. the area has a specific ethnic 

population;
xi. pawn broker/pay day loan 

businesses in the vicinity;
xii. other gambling premises in the 

vicinity.

The local risk assessment should show 
how vulnerable people, including people 
with gambling dependencies, are 
protected.

Other matters that the assessment may 
include:

i. The training of staff in brief 
intervention when customers show 
signs of excessive gambling, the 
ability of staff to offer brief 
intervention and how the   manning 
of premises affects this.

ii. Details as to the location and 
coverage of working CCTV cameras, 
and how the system will be 
monitored.

iii. The layout of the premises so that 
staff have an unobstructed view of 
persons using the premises. 

iv. The number of staff that will be 
available on the premises at any one 
time. If at any time that number is one, 
confirm the supervisory and 
monitoring arrangements when that 
person is absent from the licensed 
area or distracted from supervising 
the premises and observing those 
persons using the premises.

v. Arrangements for monitoring and 
dealing with under age persons and 
vulnerable persons, which may 
include dedicated and trained 
personnel, leaflets, posters, self-
exclusion schemes, window displays 
and advertisements not to entice 
passers-by, etc.

vi. The provision of signage and 
documents relating to games rules, 
gambling care providers and other 
relevant information be provided in 
both English and the other prominent 
first language for that locality.

Page 76



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

23

vii. Where the application is for a betting 
premises licence, other than in 
respect of a track, the location and 
extent of any part of the premises 
which will be used to provide 
facilities for gambling in reliance on 
the licence.

Such information may be used to inform 
the decision the Licensing Authority 
makes about whether to grant the 
licence, to grant the licence with special 
conditions or to refuse the application.

This policy does not preclude any 
application being made and each 
application will be decided on its own 
merits, with the onus being upon the 
applicant to show how the concerns can 
be overcome.

A copy of the Local Risk Assessment 
should be submitted   to the Licensing 
Authority when an operator applies for a 
new gambling premises licence or a 
variation to an existing premises licence. 
The Local Risk Assessment should also 
be presented at such other time as the 
Licensing Authority may require (e.g. 
during the annual premises compliance 
check).

Other than at the time of applications 
and annual compliance checks, this 
Authority may also require risk 
assessments to be submitted (or 
revisited) when there has been a 
significant change in local 
circumstances or at a particular 
premise that might affect the mitigation 
of local risk.

16.  Local Area Profile

The Gambling Commission Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities includes a 
recommendation for Local Authorities to 
produce a Local Area Profile. The 
purpose of a Local Area Profile being a 
means of “mapping out” local areas of 
concern surrounding the licensing 
objectives under the Gambling Act 
2005.

There is no legal requirement upon 
Licensing Authorities to prepare a Local 
Area Profile, but the Gambling 
Commission is strongly encouraging 
Authorities along this route. Where an 
Authority does prepare a Local Area 
Profile, gambling operators will need to 
take it into account in preparing their own 
Local Risk Assessments for their 
gambling premises.

This Authority is currently working 
towards producing a Local Area Profile. 
Our aim is that the Local Area Profile will 
take account of a wide range of factors, 
data and information available to the 
Authority and its partner agencies, such 
as the Police, public health, housing and 
education bodies, community welfare 
groups and safety partnerships and 
organisations.

The aim of the Local Area Profile will be 
to increase awareness of local risk. An 
area will be identified as high risk, for 
example, because of its proximity to a 
school, youth centre, hostel or 
rehabilitation centre.

Page 77



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

24

PART C
Permits/Temporary and Occasional 
Use Notices

Note for information:  The Gambling Act 
2005 introduced a range of permits for 
gambling. Permits are required when 
premises provide a gambling facility but 
either the stakes and prizes are very low 
or gambling is not the main function of 
the premises.

The permits regulate gambling and the 
use of gaming machines in a specific 
premises. The Licensing Authority may 
only grant or reject an application for a 
permit and cannot impose or attach any 
conditions. There are different 
considerations to be taken into account 
when considering the different types of 
permit applications. Where a permit is 
granted, the Licensing Authority will 
issue the permit as soon as is reasonably 
practicable.

1.  Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Machine Permits (Statement of 
Principles on Permits – 
Schedule 10, Para 7

Where premises do not hold a premises 
licence but wishes to provide Category D 
gaming machines, it may apply to the 
Licensing Authority for this permit.  It should 
be noted that the applicant must show that 
the premises will be wholly or mainly used 
for making gaming machines available for 
use.

The Licensing Authority is satisfied that the 
premises will be used as an unlicensed 
FEC, and if the Chief Officer of Police has 
been consulted on the application.  
Licensing Authorities might wish to consider 
asking applicants to demonstrate:

i. a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes of the gambling that 
is permissible in unlicensed FECs;

ii. That staff are trained to have a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes.

iii. The applicant’s previous history 
and experience of running similar 
premises.

iv. Applicants must produce a Basic 
Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) check dated within one 
calendar month of the date of the 
application being submitted to the 
Licensing Authority. The Disclosure 
will reveal the existence and 
content of any criminal record (not 
spent under the terms of the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act) 
held in the name of the applicant.

Where an applicant provides evidence 
that he has an Operating Licence and has 
as a result undergone rigorous checks by 
the Gambling Commission, then a DBS 
check will not normally be required.

When considering any convictions 
revealed in an application the Licensing 
Authority will consider the nature and 
relevance of the offence, how long ago 
the offence took place and any other 
factors that may be relevant. The 
application will be subject to the terms of 
the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act and 
‘spent’ convictions may not be referred to 
when considering the permit application. 
The application process will make 
specific reference to the Relevant 
Offences listed in Schedule 8 to the 
Gambling Act 2005.

It should be noted that a Licensing Authority 
cannot attach conditions to this type of 
permit.

Page 78



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

25

Statement of Principles

As these premises are open to children 
and young persons, the Licensing 
Authority will require additional 
information when an applicant applies for 
this Permit, as follows:

i. A scaled plan of the premises 
indicating the location of Category D 
machines, Automated Teller 
Machines and any appropriate 
notices that are to be displayed;

ii. The approximate number of 
Category D machines that will be 
provided;

iii. Evidence that applicants have a full 
understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes that are 
permissible;

iv. Evidence that staff are trained to 
have a full understanding of the 
maximum stakes and prizes that are 
permissible;

v. A Basic Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS) check dated within 
one calendar month of the date of 
the application being submitted to 
the Licensing Authority (unless the 
applicant holds a current Operator’s 
Licence issued by the Gambling 
Commission);

vi. Evidence of staff training by way of 
a Premises Log Book which should 
be signed and dated by staff to 
prove that training has been 
undertaken and understood;

vii. Training for staff as regards dealing 
with suspected truant school 
children on the premises;

viii. Policies and procedures in place to 
protect children from harm. Harm in 
this case is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child 
protection considerations 
(including safeguarding issues). 
The efficiency of such policies and 
procedures will each be considered 
on their merits, however, they may 
include appropriate measures such 
as training, covering how staff 
would deal with unsupervised very 
young children being on the 
premises or children causing 
perceived problems in or around the 
premises;

ix. The amount of space around 
gaming machines to prevent jostling 
of players or intimidation;

x. Details of opening hours;
xi. Approximate numbers of staff 

employed.

Where an applicant fails to comply with 
the above requirements, the Licensing 
Authority may refuse the application. 
Where there is reason for such a refusal, 
the Licensing Authority will notify the 
applicant of its intention to refuse and the 
reasons for the refusal. The applicant will 
then have an opportunity to make 
representations orally, in writing or both 
and will have a right of appeal against any 
decision made.

With regard to renewal applications, the 
Licensing Authority may refuse an 
application for renewal of a permit only 
on the grounds that an authorised Local 
Authority Officer has been refused 
access to the premises without 
reasonable excuse, or that renewal would 
not be reasonably consistent with the 
pursuit of the Licensing Objectives.

Where the Permit has been granted the 
Licensing Authority will issue the permit 
as soon as is reasonably practicable and 
in any event in line with the Regulations 
issued by the Secretary of State. The 
permit will then remain in effect for 10 
years unless surrendered or lapsed. 
Applicants and permit holders are 
reminded that there is no provision within 
the Gambling Act 2005 and associated 
regulations which enable the transfer of a 
permit from one person to another. The 
Licensing Authority recommends that 
applicants for unlicensed FEC Permits 
consider adopting BACTA’s voluntary 
Code of Practice for Amusement with 
Prizes Machines in Family Entertainment 
Centres.  This Code of Practice promotes 
awareness of social responsibility and 
acknowledges that proactive specific and 
appropriate commitment will be given to 
educating children and young persons, 
thereby minimising the potential for 
harm.

Page 79



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

26

2.  (Alcohol) Licensing Premises Gaming 
Machine Permits and Notifications 
(Schedule 13, Paragraph 4(1))

Automatic Entitlement:  Two machines

There is provision in the Act for premises 
licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on 
the premises, to automatically have two 
gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  
The premises merely need to notify the 
Licensing Authority and pay the prescribed 
fee.

The Licensing Authority however, can 
remove the automatic authorisation in 
respect of any particular premises if:

i. provision of the machines is not 
reasonably consistent with the 
pursuit of the licensing objectives;

ii. gaming has taken place on the 
premises that breaches a condition of 
Section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. 
that written notice has been provided 
to the Licensing Authority, that a fee 
has been provided and that any 
relevant Code of Practice issued by 
the Gambling Commission about the 
location and operation of the 
machine has been complied with);

iii. the premises are mainly used for 
gaming;  or

iv. an offence under the Gambling Act 
has been committed on the premises

Permits:  Three or more machines

If a premises wishes to have more than two 
machines, then it needs to apply for a permit 
and the Licensing Authority must consider 
that application based upon the licensing 
objectives, any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission issued under 
Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and 
“such matters as they think relevant”.  The 
Licensing Authority considers that “such 
matters” will be decided on a case by case 
basis but generally there will be regard to 
the need to protect children and vulnerable 
persons from harm or being exploited by 
gambling and will expect the applicant to 
satisfy the Authority that there will be 
sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 
year olds do not have access to the adult 
only gaming machines.  Measures which 

will satisfy the Authority that there will be no 
access may include the adult machines 
being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of 
staff who will monitor that the machines are 
not being used by those under 18.  Notices 
and signage may also be help.  As regards 
the protection of vulnerable persons 
applicants may wish to consider the 
provision of information leaflets and helpline 
numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare.
It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed 
remises may apply for a premises licence 
for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any 
such application would most likely need to 
be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult 
Gaming Centre premises licence.

It should be noted that the Licensing 
Authority can decide to grant the application 
with a smaller number of machines and/or a 
different category of machines than that 
applied for.  Conditions (other than these) 
cannot be attached.

It should also be noted that the holder of a 
permit must comply with any Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine.

Gaming in alcohol-licensed premises - 
The Licensing Authority recognises that 
low level gaming may take place in 
alcohol-licensed premises. Exempt 
gaming being equal chance gaming that 
should be ancillary to the purposes of the 
premises. This gaming, however, is 
subject to statutory stakes and prize 
limits determined by the Secretary of 
State. A nominated gaming supervisor 
should therefore supervise gaming in 
alcohol-licensed premises, (i.e. the 
Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)) 
and all gaming should comply with the 
Codes of Practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission. As there is likely 
to be limited regulatory scrutiny of 
gaming provided in these premises, the 
Licensing Authority expects the 
applicant to be aware of and adopt these 
Codes of Practice and to ensure that all 
gaming in such premises is suitably 
managed.

3.  Prize Gaming Permits

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a 
Page 80



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

27

Licensing Authority may “prepare a 
Statement of Principles that they propose to 
apply in exercising their functions under this 
schedule” which “may, in particular, specify 
matters that the Licensing Authority propose 
to consider in determining the suitability of 
the applicant for a permit”.

The Licensing Authority will require 
detailed information when an applicant 
applies for this Permit, as follows:

i. A scaled plan of the premises 
indicating the location of the 
machines, other prize gaming 
facilities, etc., and any appropriate 
notices that are to be displayed;

ii. Evidence that staff are trained to 
have a full understanding of the 
maximum stakes and prizes that are 
permissible;

iii. that they understand the limits to 
stakes and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations;

iv. and that the gaming offered is 
within the law.

v. Clear polices that outline steps to 
be taken to protect children from 
harm.

vi. A Basic Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS) check dated within 
one calendar month of the date of 
the application being submitted to 
the Licensing Authority (unless the 
applicant holds a current Operator’s 
Licence issued by the Gambling 
Commission);

vii. Evidence of staff training by way of 
a Premises Log Book which should 
be signed and dated by staff to 
prove that training has been 
undertaken and understood;

viii. The amount of space around 
gaming machines to prevent jostling 
of players or intimidation;

ix. Details of opening hours;
x. Approximate numbers of staff 

employed.

Where an applicant provides evidence 
that he has an Operating Licence and has 
as a result undergone rigorous checks by 
the Gambling Commission, then a DBS 
check will not normally be required.

When considering any convictions 
revealed in an application the Licensing 
Authority will consider the nature and 
relevance of the offence, how long ago 
the offence took place and any other 
factors, which may be relevant. The 
application will be subject to the terms of 
the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act and 
‘spent’ convictions may not be referred to 
when considering the permit application. 
The application process will make 
specific reference to the Relevant 
Offences listed in Schedule 8 to the 
Gambling Act 2005

In making its decision on an application 
for this permit, the Licensing Authority 
does not need to have regard to the 
Licensing Objectives and will take into 
account, after consultation, any 
objections that the Police may wish to 
make whether relevant to the Licensing 
Objectives. The grounds for decision 
making as regards renewals are the same 
as for initial applications.
Where the Licensing Authority intends to 
refuse the application for a permit, it will 
notify the applicant of its intention to 
refuse it stating the reasons and offering 
the applicant an opportunity to make 
representations orally or in writing or 
both.

Where an application is granted the 
Licensing Authority will issue it as soon 
as is reasonably practicable.

It should be noted that there are conditions 
in the Gambling Act 2005 by which the 
permit holder must comply, but that the 
Licensing Authority cannot attach 
conditions.  The conditions in the Act are:

i. the limits on participation fees, as set 
out in Regulations, must be complied 
with;

ii. all chances to participate in the 
gaming must be allocated on the 
premises on which the gaming is 
taking place and on one day; the 

PART C

Page 81



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

28

game must be played and completed 
on the day the chances are allocated; 
and the result of the game must be 
made public in the premises on the 
day that it is played;

iii. the prize for which the game is played 
must not exceed the amount set out 
in Regulations (if a money prize), or 
the prescribed value (if non-monetary 
prize); and

iv. participation in the gaming must not 
entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling.

4.  Club Gaming and Club Machine 
Permits

Members clubs and miners’ welfare 
institutes (but not commercial clubs) may 
apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club 
Gaming Machine Permit (Commercial Clubs 
cannot apply for a Club Gaming Permit).  
The Club Gaming Permit will enable the 
premises to provide gaming machines 
(three machines of categories B, C or D), 
equal chance gaming and games of chance 
as set out in Regulations.  A Club Gaming 
Machine Permit will enable the premises to 
provide gaming machines (three machines 
of categories B, C or D).

Gambling Commission guidance states:

Members’ clubs must have at least 25 
members and be established and 
conducted ‘wholly or mainly’ for purposes 
other than gaming, unless the gaming is 
permitted by separate Regulations.  The 
Secretary of State has made such 
Regulations and these cover bridge and 
whist clubs.  A members’ club must be 
permanent in nature and established and 
conducted for the benefit of its members 
and not as a commercial enterprise.  
Examples include working men’s clubs, 
branches of the Royal British Legion and 
clubs with political affiliations.

The Commission Guidance also notes that 
Licensing Authorities may only refuse an 
application on the grounds that:

i. for a club gaming permit:  the 
applicant is not a members’ club or 
miners’ welfare institute

ii. for a club machine permit:  the 
applicant is not a members’ club, 
miners’ welfare institute or 
commercial club 

iii. the premises are used by children 
and/or young persons 

iv. an offence or a breach of a permit 
has been committed by an applicant 

v. a permit held by the applicant has 
been cancelled in the previous ten 
years 

vi. an objection has been lodged by the 
Gambling Commission or the police.

The Licensing Authority recognises that 
there is a ‘fast track’ procedure for 
premises holding a Club Premises 
Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 
and that there is no opportunity for 
objections to be made by the 
Commission or the Police and the 
grounds upon which the Licensing 
Authority can refuse a permit are 
reduced.

The grounds on which an application under 
the process may be refused are:

i. that the club is established primarily 
for gaming, other than gaming 
prescribed under Schedule 12;

that in addition to the prescribed gaming, 
the 

ii. applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming; or

iii. that a club gaming permit or club 
machine permit issued to the 
applicant in the last ten years has 
been cancelled.

There are statutory conditions on club 
gaming permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises 
and that the holder complies with any 
relevant provision of a Code of Practice 
about the location and operation of gaming 
machines.

Page 82



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

29

Licensing Act 2003: Review of a Club 
Premises Certificate or a Premises 
Licence for a Commercial Club – Where 
the Licensing Authority is considering 
the review of a Club Premises Certificate 
or a Premises Licence, and that club 
holds a Club Gaming or Club Machine 
Permit, the Licensing Authority may, 
where appropriate, at the same time 
decide to review the status of the permit.

5.  Temporary Use Notices

Temporary Use Notices allow the use of 
premises for gambling where there is no 
premises licence but where a gambling 
operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for 
gambling.  Premises that might be suitable 
for a Temporary Use Notice, according to 
the Gambling Commission, would include 
hotels, conference centres and sporting 
venues.

The Licensing Authority can only grant a 
Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant operating 
licence i.e. a non-remote casino operating 
licence.

There are a number of statutory limits as 
regards Temporary Use Notices.  

Section 218 of the Act refers to a ‘set of 
premises’ and provides that a set of 
premises is the subject of a temporary 
use notice if ‘any part’ of the premises is 
the subject of a notice. The reference to a 
‘set of premises’ prevents one large 
premise from having a temporary use 
notice in effect for more than 21 days in a 
year by giving notification in relation to 
different parts of the premises and re-
setting the clock. The Licensing 
Authority will decide what constitutes a 
‘set of premises’ where Temporary Use 
Notices are received relating to the same 
building/site.

In considering whether a place falls 
within the definition of a ‘set of premises’ 
the Licensing Authority will look at the 
ownership/occupation and control of the 
premises and the Licensing Authority will 
consider whether different units are in 
fact different ‘sets of premises’. An 

example would be a large exhibition 
centre with different exhibition halls. This 
would be considered properly as one 
premise and would not be granted a 
temporary use notice for each of its 
exhibition halls.

The Licensing Authority expects to object to 
notices where it appears that their effect 
would be to permit regular gambling in a 
place that could be described as one set of 
premises, as recommended in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities.

6.  Occasional Use Notices

An Occasional Use Notice may be used 
where there is betting on a track on 8 
days or less in a calendar year. The OUN 
dispenses with the need for a Betting 
Premises Licence for a track and the 
Licensing Authority will maintain a 
register of all applications.

Tracks are normally thought of as 
permanent race courses, but the meaning 
of track not only covers horse 
racecourses or dog tracks, but also any 
other premises on any part of which a 
race or other sporting event takes place 
or is intended to take place.  Although the 
track need not be a permanent fixture, 
land used temporarily as a track 
providing races or sporting events may 
qualify. The Licensing Authority will, 
however, consider what constitutes a 
‘track’ on a case-by-case basis and will 
ensure that the statutory limit of 8 days in 
a calendar year is not exceeded.

7.  Small Society Lotteries

The Licensing Authority registers and deals 
with Small Society Lotteries.  Promoting or 
facilitating a lottery falls within one of the 
following categories:

i. Licensed Lotteries (requiring an 
Operating Licence from the Gambling 
Commission);

ii. Small Society Lotteries (registered 
with the Licensing Authority); and

iii. Exempt Lotteries

Page 83



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

30

Lotteries permitted to be conducted without 
a licence from the Gambling Commission 
and these are:

i. Small Society Lotteries (registered 
with the Licensing Authority);

ii. Incidental Non-Commercial Lotteries;
iii. Private Lotteries:  (Private Society 

Lottery, Work Lottery, Residents’ 
Lottery);

iv. Customer Lotteries

Societies may organise lotteries if they are 
licensed by the Gambling Commission, 
registered with the Licensing Authority or fall 
within the exempt category.  The Licensing 
Authority recommends those seeking to run 
lotteries take their own legal advice on which 
type of lottery category they fall within.  
However, guidance notes with regard to all 
lotteries, limits placed on small society 
lotteries and information setting out financial 
limits is available by referring to the 
Gambling Commission website:  
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk.

Applicants for lottery licences must apply to 
the Licensing Authority in the area where 
their principal office is located.  Where the 
Licensing Authority believes that the 
Society’s principal office is situated in 
another area it will inform the Society as 
soon as possible and where possible, will 
inform the other Licensing Authority.

The Licensing Authority will keep a Public 
Register of all applications and will provide 
information to the Gambling Commission on 
all lotteries registered by the Licensing 
Authority.  As soon as the entry on the 
Register is completed, the Licensing 
Authority will notify the applicant of 
registration.

The Licensing Authority will ask applicants 
to set out the purposes for which the Society 
is established and will ask the Society to 
declare that they represent a bona fide non-
commercial society and have no relevant 
convictions.  The Licensing Authority may 
seek further information from the Society 
and in particular may require a copy of the 
Society’s constitution.

Where the Licensing Authority intends to 
refuse registration of a Society, it will give 
the Society an opportunity to make 
representations and will inform the Society 
of the reasons why it is minded to refuse 
registration and supply evidence on which it 
has reached that preliminary conclusion.

The Licensing Authority may revoke the 
registered status of a Society if it thinks that 
they would have had to, or would be entitled 
to, refuse an application for registration if it 
were being made at that time.  However, no 
revocations will take place unless the 
Society has been given the opportunity to 
make representations.  The Licensing 
Authority will inform the Society of the 
reasons why it is minded to revoke the 
registration and will provide an outline of the 
evidence on which it has reached that 
preliminary conclusion.

With regards to where Small Society Lottery 
tickets may be sold, the Licensing Authority 
applies the following guidance criteria to all 
Small Society Lotteries it registers:

i. tickets should not be sold in a street.  
Street includes any bridge, road, 
lane, footway, subway, square, court 
or passage (including passages 
through enclosed premises such as 
shopping malls); and

ii. tickets may be sold from a kiosk, in a 
shop or door-to-door.

This approach is consistent with the 
operating licence conditions imposed by the 
Gambling Commission upon operators of 
large lotteries.

8.  Review

This Policy (Statement of Principles) will 
remain in existence for a period of three 
years. However, following consultation, the 
Licensing Authority may make revisions to it 
as deemed necessary.

Delegated Powers - Decisions on all 
licensing matters will be taken in 
accordance with an approved scheme of 
delegation, as attached at Appendix 1. 
This is aimed at underlining the 
principles of timely, efficient and effective 
decision-making.

Page 84



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

31

Inspection and Enforcement - In respect 
of compliance the Licensing Authority 
will take the lead in ensuring compliance 
with the licence and any relevant Codes 
of Practice. The Gambling Commission 
will be the enforcement body for the 
Operator and Personal Licences and 
illegal gambling. Concerns about 
manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by the 
Licensing Authority but information will 
be passed on to the Gambling 
Commission where such concerns are 
found.

In order to ensure compliance with the 
law, the Licensing Authority will prepare 
a risk based Inspection Programme and 
will carry out regular ‘routine’ 
programmed inspections, based on risk 
assessment in the categories High, 
Medium and Low and may also carry out 
‘non routine’ inspections.

Where one off events are taking place 
under a Temporary Use Notice (TUN) or 
Occasional Use Notice (OUN), the 
Licensing Authority may also carry out 
inspections to ensure the Licensing 
Objectives are being promoted.

High-risk premises are those premises 
that have a history of complaints and 
require greater attention with low risk 
premises needing only a lighter touch so 
that resources are effectively 
concentrated on problem premises.

9.  Glossary

A glossary of terms is attached at Appendix 
3.

PART C

Page 85



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

32

PART D
Appendices

Appendix 1
Summary of Licensing Authority 
Delegations Permitted Under the 
Gambling Act

Gambling Act 2005 - Scheme of Delegations

1. The power of the Licensing Authority 

i. as a responsible authority, to make 
representations in respect of premises 
licences under Part 8 of the Act;

ii. to propose to attach a condition to a 
premises licence in accordance with Section 
169(1)(a) of the Act in addition to the 
mandatory or default conditions;

iii. to propose the exclusion of a default 
condition from a premises licence under 
S169(1)(b) of the Act;

iv. as a Responsible Authority, to request a 
review of a premises licence under sections 
197 or 200 of the Act;

v. to give a notice of objection to a temporary 
use notice under S221 of the Act;

vi. to serve notification of intended refusal of 
any of the following:

a. Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Machine Permit (Sch 10 Para 10)

b. Prize Gaming Permits (Sch 14 Para 11)
c. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 

Permits (Sch 13 Para 6)
d. And also, in the latter case, notice of 

intention to grant the application but for 
a smaller number of machines than 
specified and/or a different category of 
machines from that specified in the 
application.

vii. Serve notification of lapse of a Family 
Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine 
Permit (Sch 10 Para 14 and 15 (1)(b));

viii. serve notice of intention to cancel or vary 
any of the following:

a. Club Gaming permit or Club Gaming 
Machine permit (Sch 12 Para 21)

b. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
permits (Sch 13 Para 16)

ix. create and amend the Authority’s 
application procedures in relation to 
applications for the following in accordance 
with any relevant legislation:

a. Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Machine Permits (sch10 paras 5 and 7)

b. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
Permits (Sch 13 Para 2)

c. Prize Gaming Permits (Sch 14 paras 6 
and 8); and

x. to appoint authorised persons under s 304 
of the Act

xi. determine that any representations received 
under Part 8 of the Act are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will not influence the 
Authority’s determination of an application; 
and

xii. reject all or part of any application for a 
review of a premises licence in accordance 
with Section 198 of the Act

2. In relation to the following matters in the attached 
table the Authority will, in the majority of cases, 
adhere to the table of delegated functions set out 
below.  This table indicates the lowest level of the 
Authority which will normally exercise the 
Delegation though the Authority reserves the 
right, where appropriate, for any particular matter 
to be dealt with at a higher level whilst having 
due regard to statutory requirements.  For 
example, an Officer may choose not to exercise 
their delegated power and refer the matter to the 
Sub-Committee or the Sub-Committee itself may 
choose to refer the matter to the Full Committee.

Page 86



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

33

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-Committee of Licensing Committee Authorised Officer 
of the Council

Final approval of three year 
Licensing Statement of 
Principles

x
Statement of Principles not to 
permit casinos x
Fee setting (when 
appropriate) x
Application for premises 
licenses (including 
application for reinstatement 
under S195)

Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn (S154 (4)(a))

And/or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under S169 
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under 
section 169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any 
persons making representations agree to this course 
of action and that a hearing is unnecessary

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn

The only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application

Application for a variation to a 
licence

Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn (S154 (4)(b)) 

and/or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under S169 
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under 
S169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any persons 
making representations agree to this course of action 
and that a hearing is unnecessary (S187(3))

If the application for a variation is to remove a default 
condition and there are no reps and there are no 
proposals by the Authority to otherwise alter the 
conditions this could be dealt with at officer level 
without a hearing

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn

The only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application

Application for a transfer of a 
licence

Where representations have been received from the 
Commission S154 (4)(c)

Representations made and not withdrawn under S161

Where no 
representations received 
from the Commission

Including cases where 
the only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application

Application for a provisional 
statement

Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn S154 (4)(d) 

and/or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under 
S169(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded 
under S169(1)(b)

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn

Revocation of a premises 
licence due to non-payment 
of an annual fee S193

x

Page 87



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

34

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-Committee of Licensing Committee Authorised Officer 
of the Council

Review of a premises licence x
Application for club 
gaming/club machine 
permits, renewals and 
variations (including those 
leading to cancellation of 
permit) under Sch12 para 15

Where objections have been made and not withdrawn 
(Sch 12 Para 28(2))

Refusal of permit proposed on the grounds listed in 
Sch12 para 6(1)(a)-(d), or para 10(3) as applicable 
unless Authority and all relevant parties agree that a 
hearing is unnecessary (Sch 12 para 7)

Where no objections 
made/objections have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club 
gaming/club machine permits 
Sch12 para 21

x
Applications for other permits, 
registrations and notifications

Where the officer serves notice of intention of refusal 
and representations are received or proposals to 
grant for lesser number of machines than applied for x

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits Sch 13 para 16

x
Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits for non-payment of 
fee

x

Consideration of Temporary 
Use Notice (including notices 
modified under S223)

Where an objection notice has been received unless 
each person who would be entitled to make 
representations agrees that a hearing is unnecessary

All cases where a counter notice may be required
(S232(3))

x

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a Temporary Use 
Notice

x
Registration of small society 
lotteries

Where officers believe there is a reason to refuse the 
application for registration x

Cancellation of a small 
society lottery due to 
nonpayment of annual fee

x

X Indicates at the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated.

Page 88



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

35

Appendix 2
South Holland District Council
Statement of Gambling Statement of 
Principles – Gambling Act 2005

Persons consulted:

 Parish Councils

 Lincolnshire Police
 Lincolnshire Trading Standards
 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue 
 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children’s Board
 MP
 SHDC Planning department

 Alcoholics Anonymous
 Gamblers Anonymous
 Shine Mental Health Services
 Mencap
 MIND

 BACTA
 Bingo Association
 British Bookmakers
 British Beer & Pub Association
 British Institute of Innkeeping 

 Other Lincolnshire District Councils

 Adult Gaming Centre, Family Entertainment 
Centre and Bingo premises licence holders 
within South Holland

 Gambling Commission

In addition a copy of the draft policy was 
placed on the Council’s website during the 
consultation period. 

Page 89



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

36

Appendix 3
Glossary of Terms Under the 
Gambling Act 2005

Council South Holland District Council

Applications
Applications for licences and 
permits as stated in the 
Statement of Principles

Notification Notifications of Temporary 
and Occasional Use Notices

Act The Gambling Act 2005

Regulation Regulations made under the 
Gambling Act 2005

Premises Any place, including a vehicle, 
vessel or moveable structure

Premises Licence

Issued by the Licensing 
Authority to authorize 
premises to be used for the 
activities as defined by 
Section 150 of the Gambling 
Act

Operator Licence

Issued by the Gambling 
Commission to organisations 
and individuals who are 
providing facilities for 
gambling as defined by 
Section 65 of the Gambling 
Act

Personal Licence

Issued by the Gambling 
Commission to certain 
categories of people working 
in the gambling industry as 
defined by Section 127 of the 
Gambling Act

Family 
Entertainment 
Centre

The Act creates two classes of 
Family Entertainment Centres 
– 

Licensed:  which provide 
category C and D gaming 
machines and require a 
premises licence.

Unlicensed:  which provide 
category D gaming machines 
in reliance on a Gaming 

Machine Permit.

Adult Gaming 
Centre

Premises which provide 
category B, C and D gaming 
machines and require an 
operating licence and a 
premises licence

Gaming machine

A machine which is designed 
or adapted for use by 
individuals to gamble as 
defined by Section 235 of the 
Gambling Act

Money prize 
machine

A machine in respect of which 
every prize which can be won 
as a result of using the 
machine is a money prize as 
defined in Regulation 3(7) of 
the Categories of Gaming 
Machine (Amendment) 
Regulations 2009.  Maximum 
stake 10p and the maximum 
prize must be no more than £5

Non-money prize 
machine

A machine in respect of which 
every prize which can be won 
as a result of using the 
machine is a non-money prize 
as defined in Regulation 3(7) 
of the Categories of Gaming 
Machine (Amendment) 
Regulations 2009.  For non-
money prize machines in 
general, the maximum stake 
(charge for use) must be no 
more than 30 pence, and the 
maximum prize value must be 
no more than £8.

Crane grab 
machine

A crane grab machine is defined 
as a non-money prize machine 
in respect of which two 
conditions are satisfied.  The first 
is that every prize which can be 
won as a result of using the 
machine consists of an 
individual physical object (such 
as a stuffed toy).Page 90



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

37

The second is that whether or not 
a person using the machine wins 
a prize is determined by the 
person’s success or failure in 
manipulating a device forming 
part of the machine so as to 
separate and keep separate one 
or more physical objects from a 
group of such objects.  The 
maximum stake may be anything 
up to and including £1, and the 
maximum prize value may be 
anything up to and including £50

Coin pusher or 
penny fall 
machine

These machines are commonly 
found in seaside arcades and 
are defined in Regulation 2(3) of 
the Categories of Gaming 
Machine Regulations 2007 with 
the additional requirement that 
the machine be neither a money-
prize nor a non-money prize 
machine.  The maximum stake 
may be anything up to and 
including 20 pence, and the 
maximum prize value may be 
anything up to and including 
£20 (of which no more than 
£10 may be a money prize).

Categories of 
gaming 
machine

A Maximum Stake:  
unlimited 

Maximum Prize:  
unlimited

B1 Maximum Stake:  
£5
Maximum Prize:  
£10,000

B2 Maximum Stake:  
£100 
Maximum Prize:  
£500

B3 Maximum Stake:  
£2
Maximum Prize:  
£500

B4 Maximum Stake:  
£2
Maximum Prize:  
£400

C Maximum Stake:  
£1
Maximum Prize:  

£100

D Maximum Stake:  
10p or 30p when 
non- monetary 
prize 
Maximum Prize:  
£5 cash or £8 
non-monetary 
prize

Betting 
machine 
remote

A machine designed or adapted 
for use to bet on future real 
events as defined by Section 
235(2) (c) of the Gambling Act

Gambling 
remote

Gambling in which persons 
participate by the use of remote 
communication as defined by 
Section 4 of the Gambling Act

Communication

Communication using - 
The internet 
Telephone 
Television
Radio, or
Any other type of 
electronic or other 
technology as defined 
by Section 4(2) of the 
Gambling Act.

Travelling fair

A fair wholly or principally 
providing amusements and that 
has been provided wholly or 
principally by persons who travel 
from place to place for the 
purpose of providing fairs, and

On a site used for fairs for no 
more than 27 days per calendar 
year

As defined by Section 286 of the 
Gambling Act

Code of 
Practice

Means any relevant Code of 
Practice under Section 24 of the 
Gambling Act 2005

Responsible 
Authority

For the purposes of this Act, the 
following are responsible 
authorities in relation to 
premises:

i. The Licensing Authority 
in whose area the 
premises are wholly or 
mainly situated (South 
Holland District 
Council);

Page 91



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

38

ii. The Gambling 
Commission;

iii. Lincolnshire Police;

iv. Lincolnshire Fire and 
Rescue;

v. Planning Department, 
South Holland District 
Council;

vi. Public Protection 
Manager, South Holland 
District Council

vii. Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Children’s 
Board, Lincolnshire 
County Council;

viii. HM Revenue and 
Customs.

ix. Any other person/body 
prescribed by 
Regulations.

Interested party

For the purposes of this Act, a 
person is an interested party in 
relation to a premises licence if, 
in the opinion of the Licensing 
Authority which issues the 
licence or to which the 
application is made, the person:

i. Lives sufficiently close 
to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by 

the authorised activities;

ii. Has business interests 
that might be affected 
by the authorised 
activities;

iii. c) Represents 
persons who satisfy i) or 
ii) above.

Vulnerable 
persons

Whilst there is no statutory 
definition this authority considers 
that this group includes people 
who gamble more than they want 
to;  people who gamble beyond 
their means;  and people who 
may not be able to make 
informed or balanced decisions 
about gambling due to a mental 
impairment, alcohol or drugs.

Disorder

An angry, possibly violent, 
expression of dissatisfaction by 
an individual(s) or crowd of 
people.  Linked with the crime 
and disorder licensing objective.

Nuisance
An activity or event which causes 
annoyance or disturbance to an 
affected individual(s).

Self-barring

A scheme to enable individuals 
to request exclusion from 
premises licensed for gambling 
activities.

Page 92



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

3936

Appendix 4
Map of South Holland District

Page 93



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

40

Appendix 5
Safeguarding Children

What are the risks to Children?

The risks will vary, depending on the type of 
gambling activities taking place at the 
premises. For example, at Adult Gaming 
Centres, Off-Course (High Street) Betting 
Premises or Casinos, safeguarding systems 
should be in place to prevent young people 
gaining access to the premises.

If children are permitted access to adult 
gambling activities, they may be at risk of 
being:

i. exposed to information or 
advertisements encouraging them to 
gamble

ii. allowed, or invited to gamble or bet in a 
commercial setting

iii. allowed to purchase and consume 
alcohol (casino premises)

iv. financially exploited.

They may also witness, or be involved in, other 
dangerous or threatening behaviour.

Managing the risks

To prevent children and young people 
accessing adult gambling activities, stringent 
safeguarding measures should be in place, 
examples of such measures could include:

i. the Challenge 25 scheme operated by all 
door and bar staff and only recognised 
proof of age accepted (for example photo 
driving licence or passport; PASS cards)

ii. all points of entry monitored by security 
staff/CCTV

iii. signage prominently displayed at all 
points of entry regarding the prohibition 
of under 18’s

iv. signage displayed on machines 
highlighting age restrictions

v. signage prominently displayed in bar 
areas regarding the law and the sale of 
alcohol

vi. operating a membership scheme
vii. all staff being trained to be vigilant and 

respond if a child gains illegal access to 
premises.

If a premises offers a range of gambling 
activities (for example, a licensed Family 
Entertainment Centre or Bingo Premises) 
premises must operate systems to ensure that 
under 18’s are prevented from accessing areas 
where adult activities (such as betting or high 
stakes gambling) take place; or where adult 
gaming machines are located.

The measures set out above should be used to 
help the public clearly identify from which 
areas children are prohibited.

If a premise offers a variety of activities, it 
may be necessary to operate the following 
systems:

i. designated family-friendly areas using 
physical barriers/cordons to segregate 
these from restricted areas

ii. points of access/egress located for 
easy supervision by staff and regularly 
monitored

iii. signage displayed to indicate access 
rules

iv. signage to remind parents/adults of 
their responsibilities

v. use of screens
vi. use of the Challenge 25 scheme
vii. assigning at least one member of staff as 

a ‘Children’s Safeguarding Lead’
viii. Premises should ensure that the 

environment to which they allow children 
access is safe and suitable.

Action should be taken if adults demonstrate 
irresponsible behaviour, such as showing 
signs of intoxication, using strong or offensive 
language, threatening behaviour, or violence 
towards others or towards machinery.

Adults accompanying children should be 
encouraged to supervise them, to minimise the 
risk of children being exposed to inappropriate 
or dangerous behaviour or gaining access to 
prohibited areas of the premises.

The employment of children and 
young people

The Gambling Act 2005 does not prohibit the 
employment of children and young people at 
some premises.

Page 94



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

41

However, it does restrict the type of tasks 
and areas to which children and young 
people may have access and it is important 
that premises comply with these restrictions, 
as failure to do so may result in committing 
an offence; for example, it is an offence to 
employ children and young people to 
provide facilities for gambling, or to perform 
a function in relation to a gaming machine, at 
any time.

Children should not be exposed to gambling 
as they carry out their employment 
functions.

Page 95



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

42

Appendix 6
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults

The Gambling Commission puts a high 
priority on the social responsibilities 
operators have to protect vulnerable adults 
from the harm associated with gambling; 
and policies must be in place to support the 
protection of vulnerable adults.

Who is a vulnerable adult?

Adults may be vulnerable if, for example, 
they are taking certain types of prescribed 
medication which may impair their 
judgement or prevent them making 
informed, balanced decisions about 
gambling; or if they are intoxicated from 
misusing drugs or alcohol.

If an adult has mental health issues, a 
mental impairment or problems with 
addiction, they may also be vulnerable as 
they may have difficulty controlling their 
activities or behaviour, or understanding 
the players’ guides to games.

What are the risks to vulnerable 
adults?

If vulnerable adults are not supported within 
the gambling environment they may be at 
risk of:

i. gambling beyond their financial means
ii. problems with addiction
iii. financial exploitation
iv. causing, or being a victim of 

dangerous, abusive or threatening 
behavior

v. physical, emotional or accidental 
harm.

These difficulties may have a serious impact 
upon the person’s relationships, home life 
or employment.

Managing the risks and being 
socially responsible

Premises should consider the following 
steps:

i. Designate a member of staff to lead on 
problem gambling issues.

ii. Train staff on how to recognise and 
respond to indicators of concern.

iii. Staff should be trained to recognise 
the signs of persons becoming 
aggressive and how to deal with such 
situations whilst maintaining their 
own safety.

iv. Information should be made 
readily/discreetly available to 
customers on how to gamble 
responsibly and seek help in respect of 
problem gambling.

v. Offer a self-exclusion, or self-limit 
scheme, enabling individuals to 
restrict the amount of time or money 
they spend.

vi. When offering membership schemes, 
the details of a contactable person 
should be required in the event of an 
emergency.

ding Children

Page 96



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

43

Appendix 5
Safeguarding Children

South Holland District Council
Council Offices Priory Road Spalding Lincolnshire PE11 2XE

Tel: 01775 761161

email: licensing@sholland.gov.uk www.sholland.gov.uk

Page 97

mailto:licensing@sholland.gov.uk
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


Page 98



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and/or Executive Director - Place

To: Policy Development Panel Wednesday, 19 September 2018 

(Author: Martin Cregg Housing Landlord Services Manager)

Subject Review of Housing Allocations Policy

Purpose: To report on the review and seek agreement to changes proposed in the 
Housing Allocations Policy 

Recommendation(s): 

That it be recommended:
1) That Members approve the changes proposed following the review of the Housing 

Allocations Policy 

2) That Members approve the revised policy coming into effect from 1st April 2019 once the IT 
capability is operational to enable applicants to self manage 

3) That following Members approval, the Council’s housing association and other appropriate 
external partners are advised of the changes

1.0 BACKGROUND

On 20 February 2018, Members of the Policy Development Panel, in considering the Council’s 
Housing Allocations Policy raised a number of issues. These can be summarised as follows

 That there were 350 households on the Register, which was a relatively low amount 
compared to other Lincolnshire district councils

 Concern that a review of the Policy was overdue had not taken place when originally 
planned in 2016. 

Recognising these concerns this Review has now been undertaken, completed and, subject to 
Members approval, will go out to the relevant partner organisations for consultation before fully 
implementing in April 2019 when the IT capability is planned to be operational.

Having reviewed the current policy the purpose of this report is to present to Members the changes 
that are considered appropriate to meet the following objectives

i. To provide a single point of access to affordable housing in the district 
ii. Create a simpler system to use.
iii. Applicant self management and responsibility for their application
ii.        To ensure that affordable housing is allocated in a fair and transparent manner 
iii.       To ensure the best use of the housing stock across the district 
iv.       To prevent homelessness and for the Council to meet its statutory duties. 
v.        To contribute towards the building of strong communities 

Page 99

Agenda Item 11.



vi.       To provide partner affordable housing providers with a timely allocations service 
vii.       Encourage applicants to take an informed and measured on their housing options

1.1       PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE ALLOCATIONS POLICY

The key changes determined through the review are about refocusing the policy in the district to 
ensure allocations deliver a vision around housing for the “Right Person, Right Place, Right Time 
at the Right Price”. The objective is to introduce changes that will create a simpler system to use, 
an emphasis on applicant self-management and responsibility for their housing application and the 
encouragement for people to take an informed, measured and long term view on their housing 
options.

It is also about seeking to bring about a more balanced approach to allocations and meeting 
housing need through partially relaxing qualification criteria to the Housing Register and hence 
more accurately capture housing need whilst at the same time streamlining the process through 
digitalising and reducing the number of wasted offers made to applicants. Whilst it is difficult to 
accurately predict the impact, particularly to qualification criteria, previous trends suggest an 
increase of between 100 to 150 households coming on to the Register as a consequence of the 
proposed changes.

The key changes to the revised policy document (attached as Appendix 1) are outlined below and 
focus on the four key changes below followed with an explanation of why the change is proposed:

 The housing application process – the transition to self-management
 Qualifying residency restrictions – a reduction in qualifying periods
 Sheltered accommodation – bringing in a lower age limit for automatic qualification
 Number of offers made to applicants – reducing number of offers of properties

1.1.1      THE HOUSING APPLICATION PROCESS

This change is to move from a manual interview process to a web based application which puts the 
emphasis on the applicant to self-manage. The new process is contained in the revised policy as 
below:

“Para 7.1 How to apply for housing 

All applicants and existing housing association tenants who wish to apply for housing must 
now complete the online application form and provide documents to support their 
application. 
Once the application has been submitted online applicants will have 21 days to provide 
supporting information as detailed on the online form. At this stage the status of the 
application will be “online to be validated”. Once the supporting documents have been 
provided the application will then be assessed to establish eligibility to join the register, 
local connection, bedroom need and the applicant’s priority for housing. The Council will 
not process applications until supporting information has been provided. The Council will 
aim to assess applications within 28 days of receipt of their supporting evidence. 

7.2 Assistance with making an application 
In exceptional circumstances where the applicant is unable to use a computer and has no 
friend, relative or advocate assisting them, the Council may refer the applicant to an outside 
organisation who will assist the applicant to submit an application 

Page 100



7.3 Remaining on the Housing Register / Renewals 
Applicants will be required to renew their housing application on an annual basis, on the 
anniversary of their relevant application date – known as the “renewal” date. If applicants 
fail to voluntarily renew their application they will be sent a written reminder to do so within 
28 days of the renewal date and a failure to respond to this reminder will lead to the 
cancelation of the application. 

In order to remain on the Housing Register, applicants will need to retain a continuous local 
connection 

Applicants are required to inform the council of any changes in their circumstances. Failure 
to inform the council of any changes, may result in your application being 
suspended/reviewed and any bids placed during this time may not be considered.”

1.1.2   Why this change is proposed

Currently all applicants are submitted to a lengthy interview at the time of application, this is 
resource intensive and the information provided is only relevant at the time of application, in many 
cases it may be an extensive period of time before an offer of housing is made . This change puts 
the emphasis on to the applicant to self - manage and take responsibility to keep their application 
up to date. This is reinforced by the new requirement outlined in Para 7.3 for applicants to annually 
renew their housing application. This ensures going forward that the Register remains up to date 
and a relevant indicator of housing need. This on line application process is now considered 
standard practice across the social housing sector both in terms of local authorities and housing 
associations.

1.2.1 QUALIFYING RESIDENCY RESTRICTIONS

Whilst this section introduces the statutory changes brought in by the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 it also brings in new changes to local connection that reduce the required residency 
period in South Holland District down from three to two years or if through a close family member 
connection down from five to three years residency: 

“8.2.2 Local Connection 
An applicant will only be considered to be a qualifying person if they or a member of their 
household holds a local connection with the district of South Holland. A person will be 
considered to have a local connection with the district if one or more of the following apply: 

 They have, through their own choice, lived in the district for at least two out of the last 
five years from the date of the application 
 They have a close family member that has lived in the district for at least the last three 
years. For the purposes of this policy the definition of family members is restricted to 
parents, grandparents, siblings and/or children with whom the applicant has proven regular 
and ongoing contact” 

1.2.2   Why this change is proposed

Residency periods can present a major obstacle in access to Housing Registers and are 
considered to be a significant factor in the relative low number of applicants on the South Holland 
Register. Research into other local authorities demonstrate a range of restrictions usually 
dependent upon local demand and housing markets however these proposed changes are 
consistent with a number of other Councils. 

Page 101



1.3.1 SHELTERED ACCOMMODATION

This change brings down the age for automatic qualification for sheltered housing from 62 to 55 
years of age and the age for no other member of the household being below 50 to 45 years of age

“8.2.5 Sheltered Accommodation 
Sheltered Housing provides communal living for individuals who wish to live independently. 
The following will automatically qualify for Sheltered Housing: 
 Where the main applicant is at least 55 years of age regardless of gender 
 Where no other member of the household is aged below 45 years of age, except a 
partner”

1.3.2   Why this change is proposed

This change is to broaden the potential catchment for sheltered accommodation particularly where 
there made currently be low demand in certain areas for this type of housing. It is also an 
opportunity to contribute towards more sustainable sheltered communities with “younger, older” 
residents particularly as the demographic shifts.

Research into other local authorities show that very few have the higher age limits contained within 
the current South Holland Allocations Policy, the majority reflect those proposed within this review 
but there are examples where the main applicant for sheltered housing can be as young as 45 
years of age.

1.4.1 OFFERS OF ACCOMMODATION

This change reduces the number of “reasonable” offers made to an applicant from the current 
number of three down to two.
 

“18.1 Number of offers 
South Holland District Council and its partners are committed to offering applicants as 
much choice as possible. However, with access to the register restricted to those in the 
most urgent need, the council expects that refusals of offers should be few and far 
between. Consequently, where an applicant refuses two “reasonable” offers of 
accommodation without good reason, they will have their application suspended for a 
period of six months”

1.4.2   Why this change is proposed

There are a number of reasons for this change, not least being the objective to make offers based 
on the overarching principle of “Right Person, Right Place, Right Time at the Right Price”. There is 
also the need to improve key to key turnaround performance time (as identified in the Members 
Voids Task Group) as well as reducing the resource implications of generating offers, viewings and 
having to go through the process several times on individual properties. Anecdotally there is 
evidence to suggest reasonable offers on properties are being turned down because applicants 
are aware they will receive further offers under the current existing policy of three offers.

Research across a range of other councils demonstrates that a number of local authorities are 
reducing the number of offers particularly since the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017. 

Page 102



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Approve the changes as proposed based around the application process, residency 
qualification periods, age limitations on sheltered housing and number of offers of housing

2.2 Do nothing, continue to operate under the conditions of the existing Housing 
Allocations Policy

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The reason for the changes as specified are to provide a more balanced and workable 
approach to Housing Allocations that at one end will increase the number of applicants on 
the Housing Register by partially opening up residency rules whilst making the process 
more streamlined and targeted by reducing the number of offers. Bringing down the age 
limit on sheltered housing will reduce void times in properties historically more difficult to let 
whilst increase community sustainability.   

3.2 The changes to an online application process will provide for a faster and less resource 
intensive management process whilst maintaining a more up to date Register with an 
emphasis on self management and responsibility on the part of the applicant.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefits of the changes proposed will include a more accurate assessment of 
housing demand through an up to date Housing Register. There will be a more targeted 
use of staff resources through the move to applicant self management and taking a greater 
degree of responsibility whilst providing a safety net for the most vulnerable. Bringing down 
the age limits on sheltered property and reducing the number of property offers to two from 
three will contribute to bringing down the time properties remain void and the “key to key” 
period will improve.   

4.2 IMPLICATIONS

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
4.2.1 The move to on line applications will reduce the number journeys made by applicants to the 

Council Offices

4.3 Constitutional & Legal
4.3.1 The review of the Housing Allocations Policy meets a statutory requirement

4.4 Corporate Priorities
4.4.1 The changes directly contribute to the priority to “provide the right services, at the right time 

in the right way” and, through the change to applicant self management and taking 
responsibility, towards the corporate priority to enhance “independent communities”

4.5 Health & Wellbeing

Page 103



4.5.1 The changes by a balanced further opening of the Housing Register directly contributes to 
both health & well being   

4.6 Staffing
4.6.1 The move to digitalisation will increase capacity within the existing structure

4.7 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales
4.7.1 The relevant partners of the Council will be advised of the proposed changes to the 

Housing Allocations Policy. 

5.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

5.1 All

6.0 ACRONYMS

6.1 None

Background papers:- South Holland Allocations Policy

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Martin Cregg Housing Landlord Services Manager
Telephone Number
Email: mcregg@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Y 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to both Mandatory Service and Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Draft South Holland Allocations Policy

Page 104



South Holland Housing Allocations Policy 
“Right Person, Right Place, Right Time at the Right Price”

1. Introduction 

2. Aims and Objectives 

3. Homelessness Strategy and Strategic Tenancy Strategy 

4. Consultation and Equalities Impact Assessments 

3. Key Partners 

4. Lettings Covered by this Policy 

5. Lettings not Covered by this Policy 

6. Statement on Choice 

7. Joining the Register 

7.1 How to Apply for Housing 

7.2 Assistance with Making an Application 

7.3 Remaining on the Housing Register / Renewals 

7.4 Applications from Members of Staff, Board Members, Employees and their 
Close Relatives 

7.5 Young People Aged 16 or 17 

7.6 Assistance with Joining the Register 

7.7 Consent to Access Data and Information 

7.8 Applicant Declaration and False Statements 

8. Who can Join the Register? 

8.1 Eligibility 

8.2 Qualifying Persons 

8.2.1 Reasonable Preference 

8.2.2 Local Connection 

8.2.3. Foster Carers and Adoptive Parents 

8.2.4. Existing Tenants of Partner Affordable Housing Providers 

8.2.5 Sheltered Accommodation 

8.3 Non-Qualifying Persons 

8.3.1 Unacceptable Behaviour 

8.3.2 Civil Injunctions 

Page 105



8.3.3 Being Convicted of an Offence 

8.3.4 Housing-Related Arrears 

8.3.5 Homeowners 

8.3.6 Applicants with Sufficient Income, Savings and Equity 

9. Prioritising Applications 

9.1 How applications will be Prioritised 

9.2. Priority Scheme 

9.2.1 High Priority Group 

9.2.2 Medium Priority Group 

9.2.3 Low Priority Group 

9.3. Relevant Date 

10. Social and Welfare Need 

10.1 Social and Welfare Need, and ‘Local Connection’ 

11. Hardship and Affordability 

12. Lacking Basic Facilities 

13. Additional Preference and Local Lettings Plans 

13.1 Community Contribution 

13.2 Serving and Former Members of the Armed Forces 

13.3 Those Leaving the Armed Forces 

13.4 Local Lettings Plans 

14. Allocations in Designated Rural Areas 

15. Adapted Properties 

16. Worsening of Applicant Circumstances 

17. Pathways into Independent Living 

18. Housing Assessment Panel 

19. Offers of Accommodation 

19.1 Number of Offers 

19.2 Assessment at Point of Allocation 

20. South Holland Bedroom Standards Policy 

20.1 Bedspaces and Overcrowding 

20.2 Under-Occupation 

21. The Right to a Review 

Page 106



South Holland Housing Allocations Policy 

“Right Person, Right Place, Right Time at the Right Price”

1. Introduction 

The South Holland Housing Allocations Policy sets out how the council, working in partnership 
with its partner affordable housing providers, delivers a vision of ensuring allocations for the 
“Right Person, Right Place, Right Time at the Right Price” throughout the district. It does this 
in the context of the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act and increased tenant 
responsibility ushered in through Universal Credit. As a policy it also sets out which groups 
are eligible to apply for housing, which groups are not, and how applicants will be prioritised.

The Allocations Policy details all aspects of the allocation process, including who has 
responsibility for decisions, the policy on offering choice to applicants, how applications will 
be assessed and how decisions will be made with regard to the allocation of housing in the 
district of South Holland.

 

2. Aims and Objectives 

The principle aims of the South Holland Allocations Policy are as follows: 

i. To provide a single point of access to affordable housing in the district 

ii. Create a simpler system to use.

iii. Applicant self management and responsibility for their application

iv. To ensure that affordable housing is allocated in a fair and transparent manner 

v. To ensure the best use of the housing stock across the district 

vi. To prevent homelessness and for the Council to meet its statutory duties. 

vii. To contribute towards the building of strong communities 

viii. To provide partner affordable housing providers with a timely allocations service

ix. Encourage applicants to take an informed, measured and long term view on their 
housing options

3. Homelessness Strategy and Strategic Tenancy Strategy 

This policy has been produced having had due regard to the Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy and the South Holland Strategic Tenancy Strategy. 

Page 107



4. Consultation and Equalities Impact Assessments 

In accordance with the legal requirement placed upon local authorities, in formulating this 
policy South Holland District Council has consulted each housing provider with which it has 
nomination rights. 

There is no legal requirement placed upon authorities to undertake an Equality Impact 
Assessment of their Housing Allocations Policy. However, an Equalities Impact Assessment 
of this policy has been completed and is available to view upon request. 

3. Key Partners 

This policy covers the allocation of the vacant accommodation of a range of partner affordable 
housing providers, including but not exclusive to the following: 

 South Holland District Council 

 South Holland Homes 

 Longhurst and Havelock 

 Cross Keys Homes 

 Broadgate Homes 

 Welland Homes

4. Lettings Covered by this Policy 

This policy covers the following arrangements for allocating affordable housing: 

 New applicants for assured, secure and non-secure tenancies 

 Existing tenants of a partner landlord who want to transfer to different accommodation let 
by their current landlord 

 Existing tenants who want to transfer to different accommodation let by a different partner 
landlord 

5. Lettings not Covered by this Policy 

The following are examples of lettings not covered by this policy: 

 Assignment of and succession to secure and assured tenancies 

 Mutual exchanges of assured tenancies 

 Temporary accommodation offered to homeless families whilst applications made under the 
homelessness legislation are investigated 

 Temporary accommodation to enable the landlord to carry out repairs and improvements to 
the tenants existing homes 

Page 108



6. Statement on Choice 

In applying to the housing register, applicants will be able to express choice over the following: 

 The areas of the district where they wish to be considered for an allocation of 
accommodation 

 The broad property type for which they wish to be considered (i.e. house, flat, bungalow 
etc) and that meets their needs

Applicants to the register will be able to vary their choices at any stage during the time whilst 
they hold a live housing register application. 

7. Joining the Register 

7.1 How to Apply for Housing 

All applicants and existing housing association tenants who wish to apply for housing must 
complete the online application form and provide documents to support their application. 
Applications can be made by visiting the South Holland District Council Website/housing.

Once the application has been submitted online applicants have 21 days to provide supporting 
information as detailed on the online form. At this stage the status of the application will be 
“online to be validated”. 

Once the supporting documents have been provided the application will then be assessed to 
establish eligibility to join the register, local connection, bedroom need and the applicant’s 
priority for housing. The Council will not process applications until supporting information has 
been provided. The Council will aim to assess applications within 28 days of receipt of their 
supporting evidence. 

7.2 Assistance with Making an Application 

In exceptional circumstances where the applicant is unable to use a computer and has no 
friend, relative or advocate assisting them, the Council may refer the applicant to an outside 
organisation who will assist the applicant to submit an application 

7.3 Remaining on the Housing Register / Renewals 

Applicants will be required to renew their housing application on an annual basis, on the 
anniversary of their relevant application date – known as the “renewal” date. If applicants fail 
to voluntarily renew their application they will be sent a written reminder to do so within 28 
days of the renewal date and a failure to respond to this reminder will lead to the cancelation 
of the application. 

In order to remain on the Housing Register, applicants will need to retain a continuous local 
connection 

Page 109



Applicants are required to inform the council of any changes in their circumstances. Failure to 
inform the council of any changes, may result in your application being suspended/reviewed 
and any bids placed during this time may not be considered.

7.4 Applications from Members of Staff, Board Members, Employees and their 
Close Relatives 

Members of staff of partner landlords, elected members and their close relatives may apply 
for housing in the same way as other customers. However, those that fall into these groups 
will be expected to declare their status as part of their application. 

When handling an application from an individual that falls into one or more of these groups, 
the Housing Landlord Services Manager at South Holland District Council will be the officer 
responsible for verifying and approving the following: 

 The level of priority awarded to the application 

 The vetting of offers of accommodation made as part of this scheme 

7.5 Young People Aged 16 or 17 

Young persons aged 16 and 17 year old may apply to the register in the same way as any 
other customer. However, as the law prevents those in this age group from holding a tenancy 
agreement until they turn 18 years of age, any offers of accommodation are likely to be 
dependent upon the specific requirements of the partner landlord. 

In general, applicants that fall within this age group will only be made an offer of 
accommodation where all of the following apply: 

 The applicant can provide a nominated adult who can hold the tenancy in trust until 
they reach the age of 18 

 The applicant’s support needs have been assessed and they are considered to be: 

 Able to maintain a tenancy without support; or, 

 Able to maintain a tenancy with support, and that appropriate support arrangements 
are in place 

 The applicant has the financial means to cover the rent 

The details of the specific requirements of each partner landlord can be made available on 
request. 

7.6 Assistance with Joining the Register 

A number of organisations are able to provide help to applicants who may have difficulty in 
undertaking the necessary steps to join the housing register. Organisations that may be able 
to assist include: 

 South Holland Citizens Advice Bureau 

 The Lighthouse Project 

Page 110



 Framework Rough Sleeper Outreach Service 

 National Probation Service 

 NACRO 

 Women’s Aid South Holland 

 Children’s Services, Lincolnshire County Council 

 Adult Social Services, Lincolnshire County Council 

 Addaction 

 Drug and Alcohol Recovery Team (DART) 

 Lincolnshire Action Trust 

 Lincolnshire Mental Health Services 

 Lincolnshire Home Improvement Agency 

7.7 Consent to Access Data and Information 

In order to access the housing register, the applicant must first grant the council consent to 
make necessary enquiries that will enable it to verify their circumstances. These enquiries 
may include: 

 Credit agency reference checks in order to verify present and previous addresses, 
household information, instances of housing-related debt and income details 

 Cross referencing details with Housing Benefit and Council Tax records 

 Contacting previous or existing landlords to establish whether tenancy terms have been 
adhered to 

 Contacting other partner agencies such as the Police and anti-social behaviour teams in 
order to verify incidents of anti-social behaviour 

 Contacting border agencies and embassies in order to establish whether an applicant has 
an interest in land and/or property outside of the UK 

7.8 Applicant Declaration and False Statements 

In order to access the housing register, applicants will be required to declare that the 
information provided as part of their applications is accurate and true. Applicants will also be 
asked to declare any of the following: 

 Details regarding income and assets, including any interest in land and/or property 

 Details of any criminal convictions or any incidents of anti-social behaviour where they have 
been either victim or perpetrator 

 Details of any outstanding housing-related debts, including rent and mortgage arrears 

It is an offence under s.171 of the Housing Act 1996 if an applicant makes a false statement 
or withholds information for the purposes of securing an offer of affordable housing. 

Page 111



Where it has been identified that an applicant has given false information as part of their 
housing register application, they will be excluded from the housing register for a period of 
twelve months. Where false information has resulted in an applicant receiving an allocation of 
accommodation, the landlord may bring possession proceedings in order to recover property 
that was allocated to them. 

8. Who can Join the Register? 

The council will accept an application to join the housing register from any person provided 
that they are both: 

 ‘Eligible for assistance’, and; 

 A ‘Qualifying Person’ 

8.1 Eligibility 

An applicant is not eligible for accommodation if they are a person from abroad who is ineligible 
for an allocation under s.160ZA of the Housing Act 1996. There are two categories for the 
purposes of this section of the Act: 

 A person ‘subject to immigration control’. Such a person is not eligible for an allocation 
of accommodation unless he or she comes within a class prescribed in regulations made by 
the Secretary of State. 

 A person from abroad other than a person subject to immigration control. The 
Secretary of State may make regulations to provide for other descriptions of persons from 
abroad who, although they are not subject to immigration control, are to be treated as ineligible 
for an allocation of accommodation. 

Eligibility is an extremely complex area of housing law. However, as a general rule the 
following groups will be considered to be ‘eligible for assistance’ in the following 
circumstances: 

 British citizens 

 EEA Nationals who are: 

 Workers 

 Self-employed 

 Retired former workers 

 Non EEA Nationals who: 

 Have been granted indefinite leave to remain 

 Are former asylum seekers with ‘refugee’ status 

In addition to these requirements, any applicant to the register will need to demonstrate that 
the UK is their main and permanent home in order to be considered to be eligible for 
assistance. This test is known as the ‘habitual residency’ test. 

Page 112



South Holland District Council can provide further clarification on applicant eligibility on 
request. 

8.2 Qualifying Persons 

Applications to the join the housing register will only be considered from ‘qualifying persons’. 
Qualifying persons are: 

 Those who hold a ‘local connection’ to the district (as defined within section 8.2.2), and: 

 Those entitled to priority for housing in accordance with the allocations scheme set out 
within this policy (as set out in sections 9.2.1 – 9.2.3), or; 

 Existing tenants of partner affordable housing providers that meet set pre-defined criteria 
(as set out in 8.2.4), or; 

 Prospective and existing foster carers and adopters that meet set pre-defined criteria (as 
set out in 8.2.3). 

8.2.1 Reasonable Preference 

The law requires that local authorities use their allocations schemes in order to ensure that 
‘reasonable preference’ is awarded to applicants that fall within certain groups. These groups 
are as follows: 

 People who are homeless within the meaning of the Housing Act 1996 Part VII (as amended 
by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017)

 People who are owed a duty by any local authority under Housing Act 1996 s.190 (2), s.193 
(2) or s.195 (2), or the Housing Act 1985 s.65 (2) or s.68 (2), or who are occupying 
accommodation secured by any such authority under s.192 (3) 

 People who are living in unsanitary or overcrowded housing, or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions 

 People who need to move on proven medical, support or welfare grounds 

 People who need to move to a particular locality within the district where failure to meet that 
need would cause hardship to themselves or others 

Sections 9.2.1 to 9.2.3 of the South Holland Housing Allocations policy has been framed in 
such a way as to award these groups a ‘reasonable preference’. Applicants that fall into the 
groups set out in these sections will be considered to be qualifying persons for the purposes 
of this policy. 

8.2.2 Local Connection 

An applicant will only be considered to be a qualifying person if they or a member of their 
household holds a local connection with the district of South Holland. A person will be 
considered to have a local connection with the district if one or more of the following apply: 

Page 113



 They have, through their own choice, lived in the district for at least two out of the last five 
years from the date of the application 

 They have a close family member that has lived in the district for at least the last three years. 
For the purposes of this policy the definition of family members is restricted to parents, 
grandparents, siblings and/or children with whom the applicant has proven regular and 
ongoing contact 

 The applicant or a member of their household holds a position of full or part time employment 
within the district 

 There is a need for the applicant or a member of their household to be accommodated in 
the district due to other special circumstances, as determined appropriate by the Council. 

In addition to the above circumstances, an applicant will also be considered to be a ‘qualifying 
person’ on the grounds of local connection in the following circumstances: 

 Where an applicant is accepted by South Holland District Council as being owed the full 
homelessness ‘duty’ 

 Where an applicant is a present member of the British regular or reserve forces working 
within the council’s district 

 Where an applicant is a present member of the British regular or reserve forces working 
outside of the council’s district, whose principle home prior to joining the forces was within the 
council’s district 

 Where the applicant is considered to be a ‘qualifying person’ on the grounds of being a 
prospective or existing foster carer or adoptive parent (as defined within 8.2.3) 

 Where they are an existing tenant of a partner housing association and their tenancy is for 
a property located within the district of South Holland. 

 Where an applicant is an existing social housing tenant in England who, in the view of the 
council, needs to move into the district in order to avoid hardship 

 Where an applicant is an existing social housing tenant in England who, in the view of the 
council, needs to move into the district as a result of having been offered work in the district 
and where the applicant has demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the council, a genuine 
intention to take up the offer of employment. 

8.2.3. Foster Carers and Adoptive Parents 

Across Lincolnshire there is an urgent need to improve the supply of placements for looked 
after children. Consequently, South Holland District Council believes that the housing 
allocations process should not disadvantage those that plan to or presently foster and/or 
adopt. 

Prospective or existing foster carers and/or adoptive parents will be considered to be qualifying 
persons where: 

 The applicants lacks one or more bedrooms required to facilitate adoption and/or fostering, 
and; 

 The Adoptions and Fostering Manager (or an officer of equivalent seniority) at Lincolnshire 
County Council has confirmed in writing that the applicant has been provisionally approved to 

Page 114



foster/adopt new or additional children on the basis of suitable accommodation being made 
available. 

8.2.4. Existing Tenants of Partner Affordable Housing Providers 

Existing tenants of partner affordable housing providers will only be considered to be 
‘qualifying persons’ where one or more of the following circumstances apply: 

 Where the tenant and their household is under-occupying their accommodation by one or 
more bedrooms (i.e. they have more bedrooms than they require) 

 Where the tenant and their household is over-occupying their accommodation by one or 
more bedrooms (i.e. they have fewer bedrooms than they require) 

 Where the tenant or a member of their household has a need to move on medical grounds, 
or due to a welfare need i.e. the need to give or receive support 

 Where the tenant or a member of their household has a need to relocate in order to access 
employment 

 Where the tenant is considered to be a ‘qualifying person’ on the grounds of being a 
prospective or existing foster carer or adoptive parent (as defined within 8.2.3). 

In general, tenants of partner affordable housing providers may be considered as qualifying 
persons at point of application, but will not be provided with an offer of accommodation until 
the following has been satisfied: 

 The rent account of their existing property is clear. 

 The property has been inspected and has been assessed as being in a good condition 

 There have been no further breaches of tenancy conditions 

With the exception of the tenants of South Holland District Council, tenants of partner housing 
providers who wish to transfer must obtain permission from their landlord in writing. 
Furthermore, in general all transfer applicants must have held their current tenancy for a period 
of at least twelve months before being considered for a transfer. 

8.2.5 Sheltered Accommodation 

Sheltered Housing provides communal living for individuals who wish to live independently. 

The following will automatically qualify for Sheltered Housing: 

 Where the main applicant is at least 55 years of age regardless of gender 

 Where no other member of the household is aged below 45 years of age, except a partner 

 Where all other ‘qualifying person’ criteria tests in relation to local connection, unacceptable 
behaviour, owner-occupation and ‘sufficient resources’ are met. 

Applications for sheltered housing may be considered in the following circumstances: 

 Those who fall below the automatic qualification age, but in the view of the council would 
benefit from living in the communal environment that sheltered housing provides. 

Page 115



 Those ordinarily considered being ‘non-qualifying persons’ on the grounds of being owner-
occupiers or having sufficient resources, but where individual need is demonstrated. 

When considering the circumstances of those who do not automatically qualify for sheltered 
housing, the council may take into consideration the following: 

 Whether the applicant has the financial capability to meet their needs through alternative 
forms of housing, including market housing (see appendix 3) 

 Whether the applicant has a vulnerability and/or health and wellbeing need that is best met 
in a sheltered housing environment 

 Whether the applicant has an overwhelming medical need that is best met in a sheltered 
housing environment. 

All applicants for sheltered accommodation must agree to undertake the following: 

 To have their needs assessed via a ‘pre-tenancy assessment process’ 

 To subscribe to an alarm monitoring and assistance system 

 To complete an annual Sheltered Housing Information Plan 

8.3 Non-Qualifying Persons 

A person is not a ‘qualifying person’ in any of the following circumstances: 

 They or members of their household have been previously found guilty of ‘unacceptable 
behaviour’ which would make them unsuitable to be a tenant 

 The applicant or a member of their household is the subject of an injunction or any such 
legal mechanism designed to prevent and limit anti-social behaviour 

 The applicant or a member of their household is in at least eight weeks of arrears of 
accommodation charges within their existing accommodation. 

 The applicant or member of their household owes a former landlord accommodation 
charges 

 The applicant or member of their household owns a freehold or long leasehold interest in a 
property. The only exception to this is where there is an overwhelming welfare need, as 
assessed by the Council and its partners. 

 Those whose annual income and/or savings and assets would enable them to purchase or 
rent suitable accommodation on the open market 

 Those who are presently serving a custodial sentence, and therefore unable to take up an 
offer of accommodation 

8.3.1 Unacceptable Behaviour 

An applicant is not a qualifying person if they have been guilty of unacceptable behaviour. 
Unacceptable behaviour is the behaviour of an applicant or a member of their household that 
would entitle the council to obtain at least a suspended possession order on any of the 
following grounds: 

Page 116



 Failing to pay the rent 

 Breaking the terms of a tenancy agreement 

 Causing nuisance or anti-social behaviour 

 Being convicted of using the home for immoral or illegal purposes 

 Being convicted of an offence committed in or in the vicinity of the home 

 Causing the condition of the property to deteriorate by deliberate act or by neglect 

 Making a false statement to obtain a tenancy agreement 

The council may also use its discretion where an applicant has been previously found guilty 
of action deemed to be ‘unacceptable behaviour’, but has demonstrated to the satisfaction of 
the council an ability to maintain a tenancy following a sustained period of acceptable 
behaviour. Individual cases concerning the application of discretion will be considered by the 
Housing Assessment Panel. 

8.3.2 Civil Injunctions 

An applicant is not a qualifying person if they or any member of their household are subject to 
any form of injunction or legal mechanism designed to prevent and limit anti-social behaviour. 
This includes injunctions where issues such as noise, harassment, drug dealing, racial threats 
and/or violence are prevalent. Clarification as to whether an applicant is subject to any form 
of injunction designed to address anti-social behaviour will be sought as part of the application 
process. 

8.3.3 Being Convicted of an Offence 

For the purposes of clarity, an applicant will be considered to be a non-qualifying person where 
they have been convicted of an offence of a type and severity which, if they were tenants in 
the social housing sector, would enable their landlord to obtain at least a suspended 
possession order. 

Where an applicant is deemed to be a non-qualifying person on this basis, the applicant will 
remain as a non-qualifying person until such time when the sentence imposed by the court 
has been served (including any periods of custodial sentence and/or supervision). 

Where an applicant has served a sentence but has a long history of previous criminal activity, 
the council may take the view that an applicant must first demonstrate a period of acceptable 
behaviour without being linked to further criminal activity before being considered to be a 
‘qualifying person’. Furthermore, the council may consider an applicant to be a ‘non-qualifying 
person’ where an applicant to the register has court action pending in relation to offences 
which, if later proven to be guilty, would compromise the suitability of the applicant to hold a 
tenancy in the social housing sector. Decisions of this nature will be taken by the Council’s 
Housing Assessment Panel. 

Page 117



8.3.4 Housing-Related Arrears 

An applicant is not a qualifying person if they or any member of their household has 
recoverable housing-related arrears in excess of 8 weeks’ worth of accommodation charges 
on their present accommodation, and/or where any outstanding accommodation charges are 
owed at one or more former addresses. 

For the purposes of this policy, the definition of an ‘accommodation charge’ concerns the 
following: 

 Rent and service charge arrears 

 Mortgage arrears 

 Recoverable housing benefit overpayments 

 Arrears on a debt relating to a council-led rent deposit assist scheme 

A debt is defined as not being recoverable where: 

  The debt is statute barred 

 The debt is part of an Individual Voluntary Arrangement (IVA) or bankruptcy arrangement 

The council will, however, apply its discretion on this matter in certain circumstances. The 
council may consider an applicant with a housing-related debt to be a ‘qualifying person’ where 
one of the following apply: 

 The applicant can demonstrate that the housing-related debt is the consequence of 
circumstances beyond the applicant’s immediate control (i.e. the loss of employment due to 
medical circumstances) and that every effort was made to avoid accruing the debt 

 The applicant can demonstrate that they have entered into a regular repayment 
arrangement, and that they have maintained that agreement for at least 10 weeks. 

The council may also, in exceptional cases, consider an applicant to be a ‘qualifying person’ 
where an applicant holds a former housing related debt, but has demonstrated to the 
satisfaction of the council an ability to maintain a tenancy and manage their finances. 

Individual cases concerning this matter will be considered by the Housing Assessment Panel 
(see 9.8). 

8.3.5 Homeowners 

An applicant is not a qualifying person if they own a freehold or long leasehold interest in a 
property. The only exceptions to this are where one or more of the following apply: 

 Where the council is satisfied that an applicant is threatened with homelessness 

 Where an applicant can demonstrate that there is an overwhelming welfare need, as 
assessed by the council and its partners, that is best met through accommodation in the 
affordable rented sector 

 Where the applicant is considered to be a ‘qualifying person’ on the grounds of being a 
prospective or existing foster carer or adoptive parent (as defined within 8.2.3). 

Page 118



 Where the applicant is applying for and meets the criteria for sheltered accommodation. In 
this situation an applicant will be considered to be a qualifying person but only for the purposes 
of being allocated sheltered accommodation. 

Where an applicant does not hold a direct freehold or leasehold interest in a property, but 
instead is likely to have a right to an interest in a property (financial or otherwise) by virtue of 
rights under Family Law, then the applicant will be considered to be a ‘non-qualifying person’ 
until such time when any financial matters relating to any potential interest have been settled. 
This includes situations where an applicant is not named on a mortgage or deeds of a property, 
but is married or in a civil partnership with the property owner. 

8.3.6 Applicants with Sufficient Income, Savings and Equity 

An applicant will not be considered to be a qualifying person if: 

 Their annual earned net income would enable them to purchase or rent suitable 
accommodation on the open market. 

 The value of their savings, equity and assets would enable them to purchase or rent suitable 
accommodation on the open market. 

The only exceptions to this are as follows: 

 Where an applicant for sheltered housing does not meet the automatic qualification 
criteria, but has been assessed by the council as demonstrating an individual need for 
sheltered housing (see Section 8.2) 

The council will publish, on a bi-annual basis, an appendix to this policy which sets out: 

 The level of net household income at which it is deemed feasible for a household to rent or 
purchase on the open market. 

 The level of savings, equity and assets at which it is deemed feasible for a household to 
obtain a mortgage with a deposit. 

9. Prioritising Applications 

9.1 How Applications will be Prioritised 

Applications are prioritised on the basis of the priority group into which their application has 
been placed. In situations where two or more applications share the same priority group, those 
applications will be prioritised on the basis of their ‘relevant date’. 

9.2. Priority Scheme 

This section sets out the priority scheme associated with this allocations policy. The scheme 
is based on the award of a priority group, depending upon the circumstances of an applicant. 

Applicants to the housing register will have their individual housing needs assessed and will 
be categorised within a priority group most appropriate to their application. Applicants will be 
prioritised on the basis of their highest assessed need, as opposed to being awarded priority 
for cumulative needs. 

Page 119



9.2.1 High Priority Group 

Applicants assessed as falling into the following groups will be placed into the ‘High’ priority 
group on the housing register. 

Homeless. The council considers that you are homeless through no fault of your own, your 
homelessness cannot be prevented, you have a local connection and that you are in ‘priority 
need’. 

Overcrowding. You are living in the district as a tenant of a partner affordable housing 
landlord and your family requires two more bedrooms than you presently have. Alternatively, 
you have been assessed as being statutorily overcrowded in accordance with the Housing Act 
1985 and/or the Housing Act 2004. 

Under-occupying. You are living in the district as a tenant of a partner affordable housing 
landlord and you live in a property that has two bedrooms more than you need. You must wish 
to move to a property of a size as defined as suitable for your household under the council’s 
bedrooms standards policy. You will not be entitled to ‘opt-in’ for a larger property. 

Medical. You have been assessed as living in accommodation that is totally unsuitable by 
virtue of your medical circumstances. Examples of where this level of medical priority will be 
awarded include where: 

 A medical condition is life threatening and the existing accommodation is making the 
condition worse 

 The applicant’s accommodation is so unsuitable that it cannot be adapted or otherwise used 
in such as way as to meet their needs 

Severe disrepair and/or insanitary conditions. You have been living for more than twelve 
months in a private sector property within the district where continued occupation is due to be 
prohibited by the council, or where the property is due to be demolished. 

Panel Points One. The Housing Assessment Panel has decided that the applicant’s situation 
is such that the award of a high level of discretionary priority is deemed appropriate. 

9.2.2 Medium Priority Group 

Applicants assessed as falling into the following groups will be placed into the ‘Medium’ priority 
group on the housing register. 

Homeless. The council considers that you are homeless, but that you not owed (or are no 
longer owed) the ‘full’ statutory homelessness duty. 

Threatened with Homelessness. The council considers that you are threatened with 
homelessness. Alternatively, you occupy temporary accommodation made available to you by 
the council whilst it investigates your circumstances 

Overcrowding. You are living in the district as a tenant of a partner affordable housing 
landlord and your family requires one more bedrooms than you presently have. Alternatively, 
your household requires two more bedrooms than you presently have and you are: 

 A tenant in the private rented sector 

Page 120



 A tenant of a partner landlord but your home is outside of the district 

 A tenant of a non-partner landlord 

Alternatively you are a tenant of a partner landlord who is not entitled to an additional bedroom, 
but your family composition is such that you existing accommodation is not large enough to 
meet your needs. See Section 19.1. 

Under-occupying. You are living in the district as a tenant of a partner affordable housing 
landlord and you live in a property that has one bedroom more than you need. You must wish 
to move to a property of a size as defined as suitable for your household under the council’s 
bedrooms standards policy. You will not be entitled to ‘opt-in’ for a larger property. 

Fostering/Adopting. You are a prospective or existing foster parent or adopter and you lack 
the bedrooms required to facilitate new and/or additional fostering and/or adoption. 

Medical. There is a demonstrable link between your housing and your health, and you are 
experiencing significant difficulty. This level of medical priority will be awarded where a medical 
condition is serious and rehousing will give some quality of life. 

Sharing facilities but inadequate bed spaces. You are living with family or friends in 
accommodation where you are sharing facilities (such as bathroom, kitchen or toilet) without 
sole use of a bedroom. 

Social or welfare need. Details of the circumstances under which priority will be considered 
on these grounds are set out in Section 10 of this policy. 

No Fixed Abode. You are staying between addresses due to a lack of permanent 
accommodation, and you are engaging with support services and the local authority in an 
attempt to make more settled, suitable arrangements. Alternatively, you occupy one of the 
following: 

 Short term temporary-style hostel-type accommodation 

 Accommodation for those with housing-related support needs 

Panel Points Two. The Housing Assessment Panel has decided that the applicant’s situation 
is such that the award of a medium level of discretionary priority is deemed appropriate 

9.2.3 Low Priority Group 

Applicants assessed as falling into the following groups will be placed into the ‘low’ priority 
group on the housing register. 

Overcrowding. Your household requires one more bedroom than you presently have and you 
are: 

 A tenant in the private rented sector 

 A tenant of a partner landlord but your tenancy is outside of the district 

 A tenant of a non-partner landlord 

Alternatively you fall into the category of tenant list above who is not entitled to an additional 
bedroom, but your family composition is such that you existing accommodation is not large 
enough to meet your needs. See Section 19.1. 

Page 121



Medical. You have a medical condition that is marginally impaired by your housing situation, 
but the applicant is generally able to cope. Examples of where this would apply include: 

 Where the layout of the property creates minor difficulties with mobility 

 Where the medical condition is exacerbated by issues partially related to your present 
accommodation and/or its locality (i.e. mental health). 

Social or welfare need. Details of the circumstances under which priority will be considered 
on these grounds are set out in Section 10 of this policy. 

Sharing facilities and adequate bed spaces. You are living with family or friends in 
accommodation where you are sharing facilities (such as bathroom, kitchen or toilet) but you 
have sole use of a bedroom. You have no security of tenure. 

Panel Points Three. The Housing Assessment Panel has decided that the applicant’s 
situation is such that the award of a low level of discretionary priority is deemed appropriate. 

Lacking facilities. You are living in accommodation that is permanently lacking basic 
essential facilities. See Section 12 for further details on this policy. 

Sheltered Housing. Applicants seeking sheltered accommodation who are living in adequate 
accommodation but have a need for housing-related support 

9.3. Relevant Date 

The ‘relevant date’ is normally the date on which your fully completed application to join the 
housing register is received by the authority. 

In cases where an applicant’s circumstances alter and their priority increases by virtue of an 
award of additional points, the ‘relevant date’ will be the date from which they were awarded 
those additional points. 

In cases where an applicant’s circumstances alter and their priority decreases by virtue of 
having points removed, then the ‘relevant date’ will be the date when they first joined the 
housing register. 

10. Social and Welfare Need 

The South Holland Common Allocations Policy includes within it a mechanism that seeks to 
ensure that those with social and welfare need can be awarded a degree of priority on the 
housing register. The policy makes a distinction between those with a greater level of social 
and welfare need, and those deemed to have a lesser level of need. 

An award of medium band priority may be awarded, at the discretion of the council, in 
circumstances such as those listed below: 

 The need to relocate relates to the need to access a specialist service, a suitable alternative 
of which is not available within the applicant’s existing location (i.e. specialist treatment under 
a consultant) 

 The need to relocate relates to a need to give or receive a defined level of care and support 
(i.e. 20 hours of respite care per week) 

Page 122



 A parent/guardian has a need to relocate in order to take up parental responsibilities. It is 
not reasonable, in the view of the council, to expect the applicant to fulfil these duties from 
their existing location. 

 The need to relocate relates to the inability of the applicant to take up an offer of employment 
or vocational training from their existing location. There are no other reasonable adjustments 
that the applicant could make in order to overcome any barriers to accessing this offer. 

 Where an applicant is an existing social housing tenant in England who, in the view of the 
council, needs to move into the district in order to avoid hardship 

 Where an applicant is an existing social housing tenant in England who, in the view of the 
council, needs to move into the district as a result of having been offered work in the district 
and where the applicant has demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the council, a genuine 
intention to take up the offer of employment. 

An award of low band priority may be awarded, at the discretion of the council, in 
circumstances such as those listed below: 

 There is a need to move in order to provide emotional and social support (as opposed to 
providing a defined level of care) to an individual. The council is satisfied that he individual 
would benefit from such support.

 There is a need to move in order to assist a vulnerable person in overcoming issues with 
social isolation. The council is satisfied that some benefit will be derived from relocation. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the following are examples of scenarios where priority on social 
and welfare grounds will not be considered: 

 A desire to relocate in order to access generic services, or services of choice, such as 
schools, GP surgeries and hospitals 

 A desire to relocate for the purpose of accessing childcare 

10.1 Social and Welfare Need, and ‘Local Connection’ 

In order to qualify for priority on the grounds of a social and welfare need, applicants must also 
be considered to hold a ‘local connection’ with the district in accordance with policy. 

However, where an applicant can demonstrate a need to move to the district on social or 
welfare grounds but does not hold a ‘local connection’ with the district in a conventional sense, 
the authority retains the discretion to consider an applicant to hold a ‘local connection’ on the 
basis of ‘special circumstances’. 

11. Hardship and Affordability 

The council may consider an applicant to be a qualifying person where they can demonstrate, 
to the satisfaction of the council, that they are experiencing issues with affordability in their 
existing accommodation. In assessing whether an applicant is experiencing affordability 
issues, the authority may consider one or more of the following: 

Page 123



 Whether the applicant has experienced an ‘income shock’, leading them to struggle to 
maintain payments towards accommodation costs 

 Whether there has been a sudden rise in an applicant’s rent costs, leading them to struggle 
to maintain payments towards accommodation costs 

 Whether, in the view of the council, relocation to an alternative locality within the district 
would address issues relating to hardship and/or affordability e.g. a move closer to 
employment 

 Whether without the council’s intervention, an applicant’s situation may deteriorate to a point 
where they may become threatened with homelessness 

 Whether, in the view of the council, it is no longer reasonable for the applicant to continue 
to occupy in their accommodation as a result of hardship bought about through affordability 
issues 

Where an applicant presents with affordability concerns, the council may first request that the 
applicant agrees to and follows an ‘affordability action plan’, containing actions agreed by the 
council, before priority is awarded on the grounds of accommodation affordability. 

Such cases will be considered by the Housing Assessment Panel. Priority will be recognised 
via an award of ‘Panel Points’, the appropriate level of which will be determined by the Housing 
Assessment Panel. 

12. Lacking Basic Facilities 

The South Holland Common Allocations Policy includes within it a mechanism that seeks to 
ensure that those living in accommodation which is permanently lacking basic essential 
facilities are awarded priority on the housing register. An applicant may be considered to be 
lacking facilities where one or more of the following apply: 

 The accommodation is lacking bathing facilities, cooking facilities, hot or cold water supplies, 
and/or an inside toilet. Enforcement action on behalf of the council is not possible as a means 
to address these matters. 

 The applicant is living in rented caravan accommodation, and has done so for a continuous 
period of 6 months or more. As a general rule, this excludes those living in holiday-let caravan 
accommodation. 

13. Additional Preference and Local Lettings Plans 

The Localism Act has introduced a mechanism by which local authorities, through their 
Housing Allocations policies, can award ‘additional preference’ to housing applicants that meet 
certain criteria. For the purposes of South Holland’s allocations policy, applicants to the 
housing register will be awarded ‘additional preference’ where: 

 They make a significant impact by their positive contribution to their local community 

 They are a serving member of the armed forces (including reserved forces) or the bereaved 
spouse of a member of the armed forces 

 They are a former member of the armed forces (including reserved forces) 

Page 124



Those that are entitled to additional preference on one or more of the above grounds will have 
their ‘relevant date’ of application enhanced by 90 days. 

13.1 Community Contribution 

Those who play a part in making their neighbourhood strong, stable and healthy, those who 
help to make it a good place to live, work and play are valuable people. 

Applicants will receive additional preference if they are able to demonstrate that they or a 
household member undertakes voluntary work for at least ten hours per month and has done 
so for at least six months continuously. 

13.2 Serving and Former Members of the Armed Forces 

Additional priority will be awarded to the following classes of armed forces personnel: 

 Former members of the British regular or reserve forces where the application is made 
within five years of the date of discharge 

 Serving members of the British regular or reserve forces 

 Bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the British regular forces leaving family 
accommodation following the death of their spouse or partner 

No additional preference will be awarded to a person who has been dishonourably discharged 
from the British regular or reserved forces 

13.3 Those Leaving the Armed Forces 

For the purposes of this policy, those leaving the armed forces will be considered to be 
threatened with homelessness when their date of discharge falls within six calendar months 
from their application to the council. 

13.4 Local Lettings Plans 

In addition to recognising the contribution made by certain groups through the award of 
additional preference, the council and its partners will also seek to support those that make a 
strong contribution to the economy of the district through the use of local lettings plans. Local 
lettings plans set out certain criteria that apply when allocating accommodation in a defined 
location, be it a specific street or neighbourhood. 

The council and its partners will aim to use local lettings plans as a means of ensuring that 
households in paid employment are given preference for approximately 20% of total lettings 
over each annual period. These lettings plans will be targeted in areas of the district where 
there is a demonstrable need to achieve either of the following: 

 A balanced and sustainable mix within the existing local community 

 A balanced and sustainable mix of residents within a new housing development 

Page 125



The council and its partners may, from time to time, seek to utilise Local Lettings Plans to 
address other matters, including anti-social behaviour. 

14. Allocations in Designated Rural Areas 

In rural areas there may be some housing schemes where planning consent and/or 
government funding was awarded subject to a condition that the development should be for 
people with a strong connection to that specific locality. When considering the letting of 
accommodation in areas where these constraints apply, priority will be given to people who 
hold a strong local connection to the area where the development is located. 

15. Adapted Properties 

In cases where a property has been fitted with adaptations, the council will seek to match a 
suitable applicant to the property. This may mean that higher priority applicants will be 
bypassed in order to make best use of adapted housing stock; for instance, where a property 
has been fitted with a stairlift, priority will be given to applicants that require this facility. 

When allocating general needs bungalow accommodation, the council will prioritise those with 
an assessed medical need for ground floor accommodation before other applicants without 
such a need. 

When allocating general needs ground floor flats, the council may at its discretion and a on a 
property by property basis, seek to prioritise properties for those with a need for ground floor 
accommodation. 

16. Worsening of Applicant Circumstances 

Applicants who are deemed by the council and its partners to have worsened their housing 
circumstances, either deliberately or otherwise, may be subject to sanctions designed to 
ensure that access to affordable housing remains fair for all. Details of these sanctions, and 
the circumstances in which they may be applied, are included with Appendix 2 of this policy. 

17. Pathways into Independent Living 

The South Holland Common Allocations Policy seeks to prioritise those living in supported 
accommodation, such as projects for those who require support to help prepare for 
independent living, for permanent accommodation through the housing register. 

In order to protect against the risk of tenancy failure, applicants living in supported 
accommodation will only be considered to be ‘qualifying persons’ when they have been 
assessed by their accommodation provider as being ready to ‘move on’ from a supported 
environment. The council will seek a copy of an applicant’s ‘move-on plan’ prior to facilitating 
access to the housing register. 

However, in order to appropriately reflect the achievement of those who have passed through 
a supported housing programme and have been assessed as being ready for independent 

Page 126



accommodation, the authority will seek to set an applicant’s ‘relevant date’ to the date upon 
which they first entered into the supported housing project from which they applied. 

18. Housing Assessment Panel 

Due to the broad range of circumstances in which applicants to the housing register are likely 
to find themselves, there will be occasions where the council will be required to exercise its 
discretion in order to ensure that an applicant’s priority and status on the register adequate 
reflects their situation. 

The decision as to whether to award priority on discretionary grounds will be taken by the 
Housing Assessment Panel. The panel consists of two senior officers of the council. Priority 
will be awarded in the form of ‘Panel Points’ graded between levels ‘one, ‘two’ and ‘three’. 

 Panel Points One will be awarded in circumstances where it is deemed there is a high-level 
need to move. 

 Panel Points Two will be awarded in circumstances where it is deemed that there is a 
medium-level need to move. 

 Panel Points Three will be awarded in circumstances where it is deemed that there is a low-
level priority to move. 

In exercising its discretion and deciding which level of priority to award, the council may give 
consideration to some or all of the following factors: 

 Whether, without the council’s intervention, the applicant will become homeless. 

 Whether, without the council’s intervention, the applicant will experience considerable 
hardship 

 Whether in becoming homeless, the applicant is likely to be owed a full duty by the council 
under the homelessness legislation 

 Whether by virtue of an applicant’s personal circumstances, an offer of affordable housing 
is the only viable accommodation option available to the applicant. 

 Whether alternative housing options are available to the applicant and have been 
considered 

 Whether the award of discretionary priority would lead to better use of the housing stock 

 Whether the award of discretionary priority would facilitate better use of supported housing 
provision in the district 

 Whether the award of discretionary priority will assist in ensuring the safety of the applicant 
and/or the wider public 

Applications assessed via the Housing Assessment Panel will be assessed in a standardised 
manner in accordance with the Housing Assessment Panel pro-forma. 

In addition to being responsible for exercising the council’s discretion, the Housing 
Assessment Panel will also consider requests for reviews of decisions made by the council 
under the allocations policy. For further details on reviews, see section 20. 

Page 127



19. Offers of Accommodation 

19.1 Number of Offers 

South Holland District Council and its partners are committed to offering applicants as much 
choice as possible. However, with access to the register restricted to those in the most urgent 
need, the council expects that refusals of offers should be few and far between. Consequently, 
where an applicant refuses two “reasonable” offers of accommodation without good reason, 
they will have their application suspended for a period of six months. 

A different approach will apply to applicants owed the ‘full’ homelessness duty by the authority. 
In these circumstances, the applicant owed the duty will be offered one ‘reasonable’ offer of 
accommodation. If the applicant refuses this one offer without good reason, then the duty 
owed to that applicant will cease and their priority reduced (in accordance with the priority 
scheme set out in this document). 

19.2 Assessment at Point of Allocation 

In addition to assessing an applicant’s situation at point of registration, the council and/or its 
partners will reassess an applicant’s circumstances at point of allocation. This assessment will 
include a full appraisal of the applicant’s identification and supporting documentation. This 
assessment may also include a visit to your application address from a representative of the 
landlord that has made an offer of accommodation to you. 

The purpose of this assessment and home visit is in order to ensure the following: 

 That the applicant is still eligible for assistance 

 That the applicant is still a ‘qualifying person’ 

 That the applicant’s priority on the register reflects their present circumstances 

 That the applicant gave true and accurate information regarding their circumstances at point 
of application. 

Where it is apparent that there has been a change in the applicant’s circumstances, the council 
will reassess their application in accordance with this policy. The council and its partners may 
withdraw any offer of accommodation on the basis of the outcome of this assessment. 

20. South Holland Bedroom Standards Policy 

The South Holland Bedroom Standards Policy is the standard by which applications to the 
housing register will be assessed when looking at issues relating to overcrowding, under-
occupation and property suitability. 

It is also the standard by which households of differing sizes will be matched to properties of 
different sizes when allocating accommodation through the housing register. 

The number of bedrooms needed is based on the number, age and sex of people who form 
the household on a full-time permanent basis. 

Page 128



For the purposes of this policy the standard takes into account the prevailing housing benefit 
regulations that relate to bedroom entitlement. This includes the regulations that relate to the 
housing benefit entitlement for parents who do not have full-time residence but have access 
to their children. 

The policy is as follows: 

 One bedroom for a couple who are married, in a civil partnership or cohabiting as if they 
were married or in a civil partnership 

 One bedroom for any two children of the same sex aged at least 10 and under 16 

 One bedroom for any two children regardless of sex aged less than 10 

 One bedroom for any other person aged 16 or over 

 One additional bedroom for each personal carer of a member of the household who is 
disabled or has a long-term health condition, provided that it is essential that overnight care of 
that member of that household is provided by a non-resident carer 

20.1 Bedspaces and Overcrowding 

The council’s Bedrooms Standards Policy sets out the bedroom entitlement of applicants to 
the housing register. It also provides a guide as to what constitutes overcrowding for the 
purposes of the policy. 

There will be, however, cases where an applicant does not require an additional bedroom, but 
their family composition is such that their existing accommodation is too small to appropriately 
meet their needs. This may include, for example, where a family has two children but the 
second bedroom within a dwelling is a ‘box room’ only large enough to accommodate a single 
bed. 

Where these circumstances apply, the council will allow an applicant to apply for suitable 
alternative accommodation which is of a more suitable size for their household, subject to the 
council being satisfied that the size of the dwelling is inappropriate considering the size of 
applicant’s household. The council may seek to make reference to prevailing Building 
Regulations when undertaking this assessment. 

20.2 Under-Occupation 

The council and its partner landlords retain the discretion to allow under-occupation by a 
maximum of one bedroom where one or more of the following applies: 

 An applicant can demonstrate that they are in a position to meet the accommodation costs 
associated with a property other than which they would automatically be entitled. This can 
include financial means associated with welfare payments (in addition to earned income). This 
will be subject to an affordability assessment. 

 There is a need for a separate bedroom to accommodate a disabled child, and that there is 
medical evidence to support this need 

 An applicant is of retirement age and requires a separate bedroom on medical grounds 

Page 129



The council and its partner landlords retain the discretion to allow under-occupation by a 
maximum of two bedrooms where the household are considered to be ‘qualifying persons’ by 
virtue of being a prospective or existing foster carer or adopter. 

Those who are awarded priority on the basis of the under-occupation of their existing 
accommodation will not be eligible to ‘opt-in’ for a larger property. 

The final decision as to whether to allow under-occupation will be made at point of allocation, 
and will rest with the relevant partner landlord. 

21. The Right to a Review 

Any person who is refused admission to or are removed from the Housing Register will be 
notified in writing. 

An applicant has a right to request a review of the following: 

i. Any decision about the facts of their case which is likely to be, or has been, taken into 
account in considering whether to allocate housing accommodation to them 

ii. Any decision that they are ineligible for an allocation or are not a ‘qualifying person’ 

A request for review must be made in writing and submitted to: 

The Housing Landlord Manager 

South Holland District Council 

Priory Road 

Spalding 

PE12 2XE 

Requests for review will be considered by the Housing Assessment Panel. Applicants to the 
register will be notified of the outcome of any request for a review in writing.

Page 130



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and/or Executive Director - Place

To: Policy Development Panel Wednesday, 19 September 2018 

(Author: Phil Stacey Housing Options Manager

Subject Houses in Multiple Occupation policy

Purpose: To update members on changes to legislation and to provide a policy 
framework to enable licencing Housing in Multiple Occupation

Recommendation(s): 
1) That the Policy Development Panel note the changes to legislation affecting HIMO licencing  

and endorse the policy 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Housing Act 2004 introduced a new mandatory licensing system for certain types 
of Houses in Multiple Occupation. Following the consultation by central government in 
late 2015 the Statutory Instrument 2018 No 221 was issued. From 1st October 2018 the 
scope of licenses has been increased to include all Houses in Multiple Occupation 
occupied by 5 or more people in 2 or more households. This report and Appendix sets 
out how South Holland District Council meets the requirements of the new legislation.

1.2 The Policy and Procedure for licensing HMO’s has not been updated since 2004 but 
was reviewed in 2009. The Policy replaces the previous policy taking into account the 
regulatory requirements.

.
2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the Policy Development Panel note the changes to legislation affecting HIMO 
licencing and endorse the policy

2.2 Option 2:- Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 SHDC needs to have a HIMO licencing policy that is compliant with current legislation.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 SHDC recognises the importance of HIMO’s in providing valuable good quality 
accommodation and meeting housing need. SHDC is aware that the majority of landlords 

Page 131

Agenda Item 12.



managing HIMO’s maintain those properties to a good standard, however there are some 
who neglect their responsibilities and put their tenants at risk due to the poor condition and 
management of their properties. Substandard housing can have a profound impact on 
mental and physical health of its occupants, and poorly maintained and managed HIMO’s 
also negatively impacts on its surrounding neighbourhood. The adoption of this policy will 
enable SHDC to educate and tackle these issues and improve the standards of HIMO’s in 
SHDC

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 If enforcement action is considered necessary there would be legal implications in taking 
these matters forward.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 There is a strong link between enforcement and our corporate priorities,
notably ‘to have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop
And thrive. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 Tackling HIMO licencing should make a contribution to wider efforts to address anti-social 
behaviour. 

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 Adopting HIMO licencing will generate income for SHDC in the form of licence fees.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing into
the condition of private housing in the district and the broader Health and Wellbeing
agenda.

5.9 Risk Management 

Page 132



5.9.1 There are risks to the authority associated with certain courses of action designed enforce 
licencing; an example of this might be an increase in homelessness. 

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 Five Private Sector Housing Officers are available. HIMO Licencing is a generic function 
across all these officers

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 There are no known implications for stakeholders. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 HIMO – Houses in Multiple Occupation

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Stacey Housing Options Manager
Telephone Number
Email: philstacey@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: None
Appendix A South Holland District Council HIMO Licencing Policy

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Housing Act 2004 HMO Licensing Policy

Page 135



1. Background

The Housing Act 2004 introduced a new mandatory licensing system for certain 
types of Houses in Multiple Occupation. Following the consultation by central 
government in late 2015 the Statutory Instrument 2018 No 221 was issued. From 
1st October 2018 the scope of licenses has been increased to include all Houses 
in Multiple Occupation occupied by 5 or more people in 2 or more households. 
This paper sets out how South Holland District Council meets the requirements of 
the new legislation.

The Policy and Procedure for licensing HMO’s has not been updated since 2004 
but was reviewed in 2009. This Policy replaces the previous policy taking into 
account the regulatory requirements.

2. Houses in Multiple Occupation

A house in multiple occupation (HMO) is any house or flat which is occupied by more 
than one household who share (or lack) kitchen, bathroom or toilet facilities. If these 
facilities are for exclusive use but they are not self-contained within the living 
accommodation, the property will still count as an HMO. Self-contained flats in 
converted buildings may also be HMOs if they were converted before 1991 and at 
least one third of the flats are occupied under short tenancies. HMOs include bedsits, 
some shared houses, hostels and houses converted into flats. A household is made 
up of members of the same family.

This is a summary definition. Full definitions can be found in the Housing Act 2004 
(sections 254 to 259.

3. HMO Licensing

From April 2006 the owners of certain types of HMOs must apply to the Council to 
have their property licensed. HMO licensing will apply throughout the district. The 
Council must maintain a register of licensed HMOs for the public to view.

An HMO must have a licence if the following apply:

- It has five or more people in more than one household, and
- The occupants share amenities such as bathrooms, toilets or cooking facilities.

The following properties are exempt:

- Where the whole property is in self-contained flats
- Where it is owned or managed by a housing association, local 

authority, education authority, police or health services.

The responsibility for licensing rests with the person having control of, or the person 
managing, the property. This is basically the owner, or the person who lets the 
property and collects the rent.

The full definitions regarding licensing can be found in the Housing Act 2004 section 
55 and the Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description) 
(England) Order 2018 SI 2018 No 221.

Page 136



4. Suitability for occupation

Licences must be granted if the Local Authority (LA) is satisfied that:

   The HMO is reasonably suitable for occupation by the number of persons 
permitted under the licence 
The licence holder is a fit and proper person
The proposed licence holder is the most appropriate person to hold the 
licence the proposed manager, if not the licence holder, is fit and proper and
The proposed management arrangements are satisfactory, including that the 
person involved in the management of the house is competent and the funding for 
management is suitable.

5. Fit and proper person

The Council is required to assess whether the applicant and any manager or person 
associated with them or formerly associated with them are fit and proper people to 
own or manage an HMO. In making this assessment the LA must have regard to

 Any previous convictions relating to offences involving violence, sexual 
offences, drugs or fraud

 Whether the proposed licence holder has contravened any laws relating to 
housing or landlord and tenant issues

 Whether the person has been found guilty of unlawful discrimination practices 
whether the person has managed HMOs otherwise than in accordance with 
any approved code of practice

To help with our assessment of fit and proper person, we may require licence 
applicants to carry out a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check and provide us 
with details of the results as part of their HMO licence application. Where a landlord 
is applying for a licence for more than one property, one DBS check will suffice.

LAs can take other relevant matters into account, and our assessment will consider 
whether the applicant has:

 been refused an HMO licence or been convicted of breaching the conditions 
of a licence

 been in control of a property subject to an Interim Management Order 
(IMO) or Final Management Order (FMO)

 been in control of a property where work in default was carried out by a local 
authority and the debt is outstanding

 been convicted of Housing Benefit fraud or subject to legal proceedings by a 
local authority for breaches of planning, compulsory purchase, environmental 
protection legislation or other relevant legislation;

 any outstanding debt with the Council in relation to Housing Service
 unsuitable management arrangements (e.g. long distance)
 not been deemed fit and proper by another LA or
 not been compliant with the Tenancy Deposit scheme (new national scheme).

Page 137



6. Management arrangements

Satisfactory management arrangements under section 4 above will consist of

   a system for tenants to report defects (including emergencies) and arrangements 
for responding
a system of periodic inspections to identify repair or maintenance matters 

     a declaration from the owner, where he is not the manager, that adequate
funding will be provided to the manager to deal with repairs

   compliance with The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) 
Regulations 2006 which include a requirement to for HMOs to be kept in a 
reasonable state of repair, all installations and appliances (including those for fire 
safety) to be in good working order and the common parts to be kept clean and in 
a reasonable state of decoration.

7. Duration of licences

Licences will usually be valid for five years and will specify the maximum number of 
occupiers or households. We may grant licences for shorter periods where there are 
concerns about the property or the manager.

8. Mandatory licence conditions

An HMO licence will specify the maximum number of occupants who may occupy an 
HMO. The occupancy number will depend on the number and size of rooms and the 
kitchen and bathroom facilities. It will also include conditions requiring the licence 
holder to

   Produce gas safety certificates obtained within the last year and on an annual 
basis

   Keep electrical appliances in a safe condition and supply on demand to the LA a 
declaration to that effect

   Keep furniture made available by the licence holder in a safe condition and 
supply on demand to the LA a declaration to that effect

   Ensure that smoke alarms are installed and keep them in proper working order 
and supply on demand to the LA a declaration as to the condition and positioning 
of such alarms

   Supply the occupiers with a written statement of the terms on which they 
occupy the property.

9. Discretionary licence conditions

In addition to the mandatory licensing conditions, the Council will apply the following 
discretionary conditions to all licences

   HMOs will comply with the Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(England) Regulations 2006

   Owners or managers must provide copies of up to date reports of fire 
detection, alarm system and emergency lighting to the Council annually
a requirement for regular maintenance of the property and facilities

     The name, address and telephone number of licensee or manager is to be
displayed in the common parts of the HMO
A copy of the licence must be displayed in the common parts

Page 138



the building must be adequately insured
     Tenancy agreements must set out how owners or managers intend to deal

with anti-social behaviour from tenants or visitors
   Any anti-social behaviour arising in the HMO is dealt with under the terms of 

the tenancy agreement.

Specific conditions relevant to particular properties may also be applied such as 
restrictions or prohibitions pertaining to parts of the property, requirements for 
facilities or equipment at the property, or works to be undertaken within a particular 
timescale.

10. HMO Space Standards

The standards for sharing of kitchen and bathroom facilities are set out in The 
Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. To comply with the 
regulations, each unit of living accommodation and all bathrooms must have 
adequate heating. One bathroom is required for every five sharing occupiers. Kitchen 
facilities are also required for each unit of accommodation or with adequate facilities 
for the number of occupiers sharing. Our policy requires a set of kitchen facilities for 
every five sharing occupiers.

The Council will determine the number of people an HMO is licensed for in 
accordance with our relevant HMO space standards for room sizes which are as 
follows and have not changed since they were determined in 1990. These standards 
relate to all HMOs, not just licensable properties.

Bedroom Requirements 1 Person 
Room

2 Person 
Room

3 Person 
Room

4 Person 
Room

Bedroom with no 
lounge/dining space 
elsewhere and cooking 
facilities not provided in 
bedroom

10 square 
metres

15 square 
metres

20 square 
meters

25 square 
metres

Bedroom with adequate 
lounge or dining space 
elsewhere and cooking 
facilities not provided in 
bedroom

8 square 
metres

12 square 
metres

17 square 
metres

22 square 
metres

Bedrooms with cooking 
facilities provided in the 
room

14 square 
metres

18 square 
metres

23 square 
metres

28 square 
metres

7 square metres if used by 1 to 5 
persons

Kitchen Requirements

For over 5 persons an additional 3 metre 
square per person sharing the kitchen
2 square metres per person for those 
sharing the space

Dining Space Requirements

Any dining space shared or exclusive 
use shall be suitable and conveniently 
located

Page 139



Version 1.1 26.7.18

Licence applications will need to include dimensions of rooms and details of the kitchen and 
bathroom facilities to enable assessment of the number of occupiers permitted under the 
licence. This is for guidance only and each application will be assessed on its own merits.

11. Bed and Breakfast Hotels

The Council will regard bed and breakfast hotels as HMOs if they are housing any people who 
use the hotel as their main residence for more than 30 consecutive days. We believe that 
where this accommodation is used as a main residence, the same standards as for other 
HMOs should be met.

12. Inspection Policy

Officers will not always visit HMOs when an application is received, but they must inspect the 
property within five years of the application. Each application will be risk assessed on receipt 
and high risk HMOs and properties not previously known to the Council will be visited as 
priority.

Inspections will be carried out with regard to licensing requirements. If additional licence 
conditions are required after an inspection of an HMO, the licence will be varied to include 
such conditions.

An inspection of each HMO will also be carried out under the Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System (HHSRS), which is set out in the Housing Act 2004. This will include a risk 
assessment of the effect of housing conditions on the health and safety of occupiers. The 
HHSRS involves the assessment of 29 potential hazards and scoring their severity to decide 
whether improvements are needed. If more serious “category 1” hazards are found the Council 
has a duty to require the owner to remedy the defect. If less serious “category 2” hazards are 
found, the Council has discretionary power to require action.

Where category 1 or 2 hazards are found, informal action will be used to encourage owners to 
carry out works, but if this fails enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the Act and 
our enforcement policy.

13. Licence fees

LAs have powers to set a fee for licences which are usually issued for a five year period. The 
Council can license properties for shorter periods when there is concern about the property or 
the manager.

A full schedule of fees is set out on our website. 

Fees will be doubled if an owner or landlord deliberately fails to apply for licensing and 
where legal proceedings are instigated.

14. Interim and final management orders

Where there is no prospect of an HMO being licensed, the Act requires the Council to make an 
Interim Management Order. This enables the Council to take over the management of an HMO 
and become responsible for running the property and collecting rent for up to a year. In extreme 
cases this can be extended as a Final Management Order to five years with the Council also 
having the power to grant tenancies.

We will only use these powers in exceptional circumstances. Any proposed action will have to 

Page 140



Version 1.1 26.7.18

be agreed by the Head of Housing. In addition Orders can only be made with the authorisation 
of the First Tier Property Tribunal.

15. Temporary exemption notices

Where a landlord is, or shortly will be, taking steps to make an HMO non-licensable, the 
Council may serve a Temporary Exemption Notice (TEN). A TEN can only be granted for a 
maximum period of three months. A second three-month TEN can be served in exceptional 
circumstances. A TEN will be served where an owner of a licensable HMO states in writing 
that she/he is taking steps to make an HMO non- licensable and states that the HMO will not 
be licensable within three months.

The Council does not wish these notices to be used routinely, and a second notice will only be 
allowed in exceptional and unforeseen circumstances. Any exception to the policy will be 
agreed by the Head of Housing.

16. Penalties for non-compliance

The Housing Act 2004 makes it a criminal offence if a person controlling or managing an HMO 
does not have the required licence. A person found guilty of such an offence will be subject to a 
fine up to a maximum of £20,000. Breaching any condition of a licence is also an offence, 
punishable by a fine not exceeding level 5 on the present scale unlimited fine.

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 has amended the Act to introduce the ability for the Council 
to seek to impose a civil penalty as an alternative to prosecution. A maximum fine of £30,000 
can be imposed for each individual breach of the HIMO management regulations

We will encourage owners to apply for licensing through advice and persuasion, but where 
they fail to apply as a result of such informal action we will take legal proceedings with a view 
to prosecution by the courts and/or the issue of a civil penalty. Similarly any breach of 
conditions will initially be dealt with informally, but if the breach continues legal proceedings 
will be started.

Fuller details relating to penalties can be found in SHDC Private Sector Enforcement Policy

17. Rent Repayment Orders

The new legislation allows applications to the First Tier Property Tribunal for a Rent Repayment 
Order (RRO), under the Housing and Planning Act 2016. Please refer to the Private Sector 
Housing Enforcement Policy and the Rent Repayment Policy.

18. Discretionary HMO licensing

We do not intend to apply for additional discretionary powers to extend the licensing of all 
HMOs in a specific area where HMOs are so badly managed as to give rise to particular 
problems from tenants or members of the public, such as anti-social behaviour. Such powers 
are not necessary in this District at present as there are no areas where several HMOs are 
linked to anti-social behaviour.

Similarly we do not intend to apply for new powers to introduce selective licensing for all private 
sector housing (including non HMOs) in designated areas. These powers enable LAs to license 
properties in an area where there is low housing demand or anti-social behaviour. These 
additional powers are not necessary as there are no areas of low housing demand in the 
District and no problems with anti-social behaviour associated with particular types or areas of 

Page 141



Version 1.1 26.7.18

housing at present.

19. Appeals

The Council will enable licence applicants to make representation to the Head of Housing if 
they are aggrieved with an officer’s decision to set particular conditions or to refuse, revoke 
or vary a licence. They will also be able to make representations against an intention to 
serve an IMO.

A landlord may appeal formally to the First Tier Property Tribunal if the Council decides to:
Refuse a licence
Grant a licence with conditions 
Revoke a licence
Vary a licence or
Refuse to vary a licence.

The Residential Property Tribunal has quasi-judicial status and is made up of housing lawyers, 
valuers, surveyors and lay people. Members qualified to chair committees and tribunals are 
appointed by the Lord Chancellor and other members are appointed by the ODPM. Three 
members usually sit on each committee or tribunal. An appeal against the decision of the First 
Tier Property Tribunal is to the Lands Tribunal and can only be made with the permission of 
the First Tier Property Tribunal or the Lands Tribunal.

20. Further development

This policy was developed following consultation and will be revised and reviewed as 
appropriate. It is linked to our private sector housing enforcement policy, and our private sector 
housing renewal policy. All of these policies are undergoing reviews as a result of the Housing 
Act 2004, Housing and Planning Act 2016 and Retaliatory Eviction and the Deregulation Act 
2015, Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015, Energy Efficiency 
(Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015.

Page 142



Version 1.1 26.7.18

Policy Name: HMO Licensing Policy

Responsible 
Executive:

Date of 
signing:

Responsible 
Office:

Date of 
signing:

Policy 
Register 
Number:

Service Area:

Adopted: Reviewed:

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Rob Walker – Executive Director Place

To: Policy Development Panel – 19 September 2018

Author: Phil Stacey Housing Options Manager

Subject: Addressing Long Term Empty Homes

Purpose: To update members on changes to legislation, a recent initiative taken to 
reduce the numbers of Empty Homes and to update them on current 
performance

Recommendation(s): 

That the Policy Development Panel note the progress made on addressing long term empty homes

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 On 20 February 2018, Policy Development Panel received a report on addressing long term 
empty homes.

1.2 Following on from this, changes to the operational model to address Empty Homes have 
been identified. These include as follows:

 Refreshing the Empty Homes Strategy – Work continues to a revised Empty Homes 
Strategy. Time is being taken to absorb the possible impacts of various changes to 
Government policy in accordance with Empty Homes and those changes are identified 
within the further body of this report.

 Council Tax – On 18 July 2018 the Government introduced an amendment to the Rating 
(Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Bill at the third 
reading in the House of Lords. It would allow councils to triple the council tax on homes left 
empty. Under the new provision, decisions on whether to charge a premium, and the exact 
rates to be charged would remain a matter for councils, taking local circumstances into 
account. It is anticipated that councils would be able to charge 100% premiums from April 
2019, 200% premiums from April 2020 and 300% premiums from 2021. 

 Council Tax have an empty home review programme of activity which includes canvass, 
pro-active work to follow up and increased targeted visits and inspections as they head up 
to the September deadline. This ensures Council Tax records are as up to date as 
possible.

 Council Tax provide the Private Sector Housing Team with a report quarterly with details of 
long term empty dwellings for work to be carried out to get these back into use.  There is 
prompt dialog between our services ensuring Council Tax records are updated based on 
information found.

Page 145

Agenda Item 13.



 Empty Homes Data –

 Tackling Empty Homes is a generic function across the current five Private Sector Housing 
Officers. On the whole, the team relies on the information provided by Council tax each 
quarter to act. A mixed option of incentives and/or enforcement is currently used and is 
described below

 Incentives – SHDC operates a number of incentives designed around early intervention 
and working with owners to enable them to bring their Empty Homes back into use. Internal 
processes have been redesigned, following the review, and both shortened and simplified. 
Owners of Empty Homes can also access a range of financial initiatives to help them bring 
them back into use. This financial assistance ranges across a number of loans and grants. 

 Enforcement – SHDC has available to it a number of options to enforce when an owner is 
unwilling to see their dwelling returned to use. These include: 

Compulsory Purchase Orders. This enables a public body to obtain land or property 
without the consent of the owner. They are a common tool for addressing long term empty 
dwellings. Where these powers are utilised to return vacant property to use, it is common 
for an authority to undertake this action whilst having a buyer for the dwelling in place. 

Enforced Sale. The authority can force an owner to sell their dwelling by placing a land 
charge on a property, usually following the completion of works on the dwelling in default 
(i.e. addressing serious structural issues that pose a risk, improving the visual amenity of 
the dwelling and so on). The owner is given the opportunity to repay to debt prior to sale. If 
the monies are not paid within a specified period of time the local authority can effectively 
act as a mortgagee and bring the property to sale on the open market at an auction or to a 
preferred buyer. All charges would be cleared from the proceeds of the sale, allowing the 
council to recover the cost of the works previously carried out and the remainder would be 
paid to the owner.

Empty Development Management Order -These allow a local authority to take over the 
management of an empty dwelling for a period of up to seven years. The authority then 
uses this period of time to bring the property up to a decent standard, using rental income 
from the dwelling to recuperate renovation costs. In order to obtain one, the authority must 
make a case to the Residential Property Tribunal, linking the use of this order to wider 
issues caused by the dwelling within its immediate vicinity (i.e. Anti-Social Behaviour). For 
this reason their use is rare, but they remain a tool available at the hands of the local 
authority.

Prior to undertaking enforcement activity on the scale listed above, it is commonly held that 
an authority should first to address the matter using informal means. 

 New Homes Bonus

New Homes Bonus is made up of a number of payments for each additional property 
brought into use (new build or net empty homes returned to use). Each payment for each 
property is based on the national average council tax amount. There are also small 
additional amounts for each new affordable house created. However, a new change to the 
NHB calculation has now been introduced which means the total amount of the reward is 
based on growth above a national baseline of 0.4%. So all growth below this % is not 
rewarded. From 2018/19 the total value of the award for each year is paid for the next 4 
years and then stops.  

Page 146



 Performance- 

As at 10th September 2018, the number of SHDC properties that are in the ‘Long Term 
Empty’ status is 221.This is a decrease of 43 from the 264 last reported to PDP on the 20th 
February 2018.

A recent initiative, involving a dedicated officer from the Private Sector Housing team, has 
just been completed.

This has involved the officer targeting visits to properties that were empty beyond a 6 
month period,

255 inspections were carried out over a 5 week period and daily reports on what was found 
was fed back. This included confirming that properties were either empty or actually 
occupied and gathering intelligence on the condition of the properties, as well as obtaining 
any intelligence as to what was happening to bring the property back into use. 

Where they were identified as being occupied, either the occupants were interviewed by 
the officer on site and the necessary information was taken from them to ensure proper 
council tax billing could take place or a detailed assessment of the property was made, 
which involved taking evidence (including photographs) to demonstrate the property was 
actually occupied 

As a result of this work, 39 properties that were being designated as ‘Empty’ on our records 
have now been identified as being occupied This work will reflect positively towards the 
New Home bonus as described above, as well as ensuring proper Council Tax billing can 
take place.

This work has also identified 6 possible Houses in Multiple Occupation which were not 
know to SHDC.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option 1: That the Panel considers the information and provides feedback.

2.2 Option 2:- Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted and that members of the
PDP have an up to date understanding of the changes to legislation and to note the recent 
initiative taken to reduce numbers of empty homes.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To return the maximum numbers of empty homes back into to use per annum.

4.2 To maximise New Homes Bonus income to the authority.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

Page 147



5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 If enforcement action is considered necessary there would be legal implications in taking 
these matters forward.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 There is a strong link between work around empty homes and our corporate priorities,
notably ‘to have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop
And thrive. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 There is a link about the conditions surrounding empty homes around vandalism, 
overgrown gardens, infestations etc.  –. Addressing the issue of long term properties 
should make a contribution to wider efforts to address anti-social behaviour. 

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1   It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 Bringing Empty Homes back into use contributes towards income in the form of New 
Homes Bonus and Council Tax revenues

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing into
the condition of private housing in the district and the broader Health and Wellbeing
agenda.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 There are risks to the authority associated with certain courses of action designed to bring
Empty Homes back into use. For example, the use of non-mandatory enforcement powers 
(Such as: Compulsory Purchase, Empty Dwelling Management Orders etc.) carry with them 
certain degrees of financial risk. However, decisions to utilise these powers will be made on 
a case by case basis by the Director of Place, and will only be considered where 
enforcement action is deemed as the last option available to the authority to bring a dwelling 
back into use.

5.10 Safeguarding

5,10.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.12 Staffing

Page 148



5.12.1 Five Private Sector Housing Officers are available. Tackling Empty Homes is a generic 
function across all these officers

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1 There are no known implications for stakeholders. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers: - Addressing Long Term Empty Homes in South Holland. 
February 2017

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Stacey. Housing Options Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764605
Email: philstacey@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: None

Page 149

mailto:philstacey@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and/or Executive Director - Place

To: Policy Development Panel Wednesday, 19 September 2018 

(Author: Phil Stacey Housing Options Manager)

Subject Private Sector Housing Enforcement policy

Purpose: To update members on changes to legislation and to provide a policy 
framework to enable Private Sector Housing Enforcement

Recommendation(s): 
1) That the Policy Development Panel note the changes to legislation affecting Private Sector 

Enforcement and endorse the policy 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 has bought in a series of changes to legislation that 
SHDC need to enact. These include licencing of HIMOs and measures to tackle rogue 
landlords. They will also operate within the additions brought in by that Act to the 
enforcement regime, including the financial penalty procedures and banning orders.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the Policy Development Panel note the changes to legislation affecting Private Sector 
Enforcement and endorse the policy

2.2 Option 2:- Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 SHDC needs to have an enforcement policy that is compliant with current legislation.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 SHDC recognises the importance of the private rented housing sector in providing valuable 
good quality accommodation and meeting housing need. SHDC is aware that the majority of 
landlords maintain their properties to a good standard, however there are some who neglect 
their responsibilities and put their tenants at risk due to the poor condition of their properties. 
Substandard housing can have a profound impact on mental and physical health of its 
occupants, and poorly maintained property also negatively impacts on its surrounding 
neighbourhood. The adoption of this policy will enable SHDC to educate and tackle these 

Page 151

Agenda Item 14.



issues and improve the standards of Privately Rented accommodation in SHDC

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 If enforcement action is considered necessary there would be legal implications in taking 
these matters forward.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 There is a strong link between enforcement and our corporate priorities,
notably ‘to have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop
And thrive. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 Tackling rogue landlords should make a contribution to wider efforts to address anti-social 
behaviour. 

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 Enforcement options include; for example- rent repayment orders, civil penalty notices and 
licencing fees all of which can generate income for SHDC 

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing into
the condition of private housing in the district and the broader Health and Wellbeing
agenda.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 There are risks to the authority associated with certain courses of action designed to 
enforce in the privately rented sector; for example prohibition notices may result in an 
increase in homelessness. 

5.10 Safeguarding

Page 152



5.10.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 Five Private Sector Housing Officers are available. Private Sector Enforcement is a generic 
function across all these officers

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 There are no known implications for stakeholders. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Stacey Housing Options Manager
Telephone Number
Email: philstacey@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: None
Appendix A South Holland District Council Private Sector Housing Enforcement 

Policy

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 2 
of 22

South Holland District Council

Private Sector Housing

Enforcement Policy

Page 155



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 3 
of 22

Contents
1. Introduction .......................................................................................................................3

2. Scope of the policy and service standards .......................................................................3

3. Providing assistance, information and education .............................................................3

4. Accreditation .....................................................................................................................3

5. Housing Health and Safety Rating System.......................................................................4

6. Outline of enforcement options.........................................................................................4

7. Power to charge for enforcement action...........................................................................5
8. Additional charges ............................................................................................................5

9. Non-compliance with notices ............................................................................................6

10. Enforcement..................................................................................................................6
11. Civil penalties ................................................................................................................6

12. Owner occupiers ...........................................................................................................7

13. Outline of the licensing of houses in multiple occupation..............................................7

13.1. Licensing and the HHSRS .....................................................................................8

13.2. Unlicensed HMOs ..................................................................................................8

13.3. Non-licensable HMOs ............................................................................................8

13.4. Management Orders ..............................................................................................9

13.5. Selective licensing of other residential accommodation ........................................9

13.6. Overcrowding.........................................................................................................9

14. Rent Repayment Orders .............................................................................................10

15. Banning Orders……………………………………………………………………………….11

16. Database of Rogue Landlords and Letting Agents……………………………………….11

17. Energy efficiency in private rented property................................................................11

18. Smoke and carbon monoxide alarm regulations.........................................................12

19. Illegal eviction and harassment...................................................................................13

20. Redress schemes for lettings agency and property management work .....................13

21. Empty Properties.........................................................................................................14

22. Boarding up properties................................................................................................14

23. Other enforcement powers..........................................................................................14
24. Powers of entry ...........................................................................................................15

25. Housing immigration – inspections and accommodation certificates..........................15

26. Delegated authority and competency of officers .........................................................15
27. Feedback and review of this policy .............................................................................16
Appendix A - Civil Penalties .................................................................................................15
Appendix B – Smoke and CO alarm ....................................................................................19
Appendix C – Policy revisions ..............................................................................................21

Page 156



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 4 
of 22

1. Introduction
Local authorities have powers and responsibilities to assess housing conditions and 
enforce minimum standards through a range of measures. South Holland District 
Council (“The Council”) will seek to tackle poor housing conditions using actions that 
are appropriate to individual situations. The purpose of this policy is to outline how 
the Council will work to improve private sector housing standards, by providing 
advice and guidance or, if necessary, by means of appropriate formal action to 
improve, repair, close or demolish dwellings that are not fit for purpose.
The Council recognises the importance of the private rented housing sector in 
providing valuable good quality accommodation and meeting housing need. The 
Council recognises that the majority of landlords maintain their properties to a good 
standard, however there are some who neglect their responsibilities and put their 
tenants at risk due to the poor condition of their properties. Substandard housing 
can have a profound impact on mental and physical health of its occupants, and 
poorly maintained property also negatively impacts on its surrounding 
neighbourhood

The Council’s primary role is to educate and advise owners, landlords and agents on 
the standards they are expected to meet in their properties, to seek to assist tenants 
in understanding their rights and responsibilities, and to encourage dialogue between 
parties to resolve issues amicably and without recourse to formal action.

2. Scope of the policy and service standards
This policy details the way the Council will deliver private sector housing 
enforcement under respective legislation and what landlords and tenants can expect 
from the service.
The Corporate Enforcement Policy is the overarching policy for all enforcement 
functions of the Council. The Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy covers 
specific functions in more detail but will at all times meet the overall aims and 
objectives of the Corporate Enforcement Policy.
Revisions to this policy and relevant dates are at Appendix C.

3. Providing assistance, information and education
The Council will work with our service users to help them comply with all relevant 
regulatory requirements before considering formal enforcement action. The Council 
will provide clear, accessible advice and guidance and provide contact details where 
further information is required. Information will be provided in a range of formats 
such as newsletters, guides, local events and on the Council’s website.

Page 157



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 5 
of 22

4. Accreditation
The Council will support and work closely with DASH (Decent and Safe Homes) 
landlord accreditation scheme and will actively encourage landlords to join the 
scheme. The scheme provides a number of industry relevant benefits including 
landlord newsletters, training, events, and guidance, so helping the Council to 
achieve the aim in section 3 above.

5. Housing Health and Safety Rating System
Assessment of housing standards shall be in accordance with the Housing Health 
and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). This is a risk based assessment which rates 
the extent of hazards to health and safety.
The underlying principle of HHSRS is that any residential premises should provide a 
safe and healthy environment for any potential occupier or visitor. An assessment of 
a dwelling will involve a physical survey that will include the identification and rating 
of hazards in the building. The technical guidance for the system includes a wealth 
of statistical information on the various hazards. The application of the system will 
result in a score which will be the basis of the Council’s action to deal with the 
hazards identified.
Where a category 1 hazard exists (high risk of likely occurrence within the next 12 
months resulting in harm) the Council has a duty to take enforcement action relating 
to the hazard.
Where a category 2 hazard exists (above average risk of a likely occurrence within 
the next 12 months resulting in harm) the Council has a discretionary power to take 
enforcement action. The Council will use this power in situations where there is a 
permanent and persistent risk to the health, safety and/or comfort of the occupiers, 
where the vulnerability of residents is a particular factor which needs to be 
considered or the number or extent of hazards are such that cumulatively, action to 
formally secure improvements are warranted.

6. Outline of enforcement options
The Council will start from the position of working with our service users to help them 
comply with their regulatory requirements. Subsequently the Housing Act 2004 (“the 
Act”) gives housing enforcement authorities options to formally secure 
improvements. This will be on the basis of the principles set out in the Corporate 
Enforcement Policy. Enforcement can be affected by:

 Service of an improvement notice requiring remedial works in accordance 
with section 11 and/or section 12 of the Act.

 Making a prohibition order, preventing the use of the whole or part of 
a dwelling or restricting the number or class of permitted occupants in 
accordance with section 20 and/or section 21 of the Act.

 Suspension of either of the above until such time as directed in the order.

Page 158



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 6 
of 22

 Service of a hazard awareness notice in accordance with section 28 and/or 
section 29 of the Act.

 Making a demolition order in accordance with section 265 of the Housing Act 
1985.

 Declaring a clearance area in accordance with section 289 of the Housing 
Act 1985.

 Taking emergency remedial action under section 40 of the Act.
 Service of an emergency prohibition order under section 43 of the Act.

7. Power to charge for enforcement action
The Council will make a reasonable charge as specified in section 49 of the Act, to 
recover certain administrative and other expenses incurred in taking enforcement 
action.
At the time of writing (April 2018), the charge is £285, plus any additional costs 
incurred where works are carried out. Any annual review of a notice where applied 
will be charged at £55. Where suspended notices are served, the full charge will be 
liable on breach of the notice. Additional costs may also be payable if external 
specialist advice is needed, e.g. a structural report. All charges will be the subject of 
annual review.
Details of current charges are given on the website. Enforcement action which will
Incur a charge are deemed to be:

 Serving an improvement notice

 Serving a prohibition order

 Notice of emergency remedial action

 Serving an emergency prohibition order

 Making a demolition order
The Council will charge for taking enforcement action unless there are extenuating 
circumstances. Where this occurs the Head of Housing will make the final 
decision. All requests for this consideration should be put in writing and a 
response will be given within 21 calendar days of receipt.
On appeal of any such notice, the charge will be suspended pending the outcome of 
the appeal. If the notice is upheld, charges will be pursued.

Page 159



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 7 
of 22

8. Additional charges
Should works in default be carried out, the Council will endeavor to ensure that the 
costs of works are reasonable and recovered from the relevant person. The costs 
will be in addition to the administrative and any other relevant expenses.
When the Council carries out work in default, an invoice requesting payment for the 
work will be sent to the appropriate person. If this is not paid within the required 
period the matter will be pursued through our corporate debt recovery processes and 
may result in County Court action.

9. Non-compliance with notices
If a notice is complied with, no further action will be necessary. However if the notice 
is not complied with the Council will consider the following options:

 Prosecution

 Civil penalty

 Carrying out the works in default

 A combination of the above
 Administering a simple caution

 Granting of additional time for compliance. This will only be for extenuating 
circumstances and must be requested and formally agreed with the 
Council.

Determination of the most appropriate course of action will be in accordance with this 
policy and the Corporate Enforcement Policy.

10. Enforcement
Where enforcement action is considered necessary, and in deciding the course of 
enforcement to take, the Council will have regard to circumstances including, but not 
restricted to, those listed below:

 The statutory obligations of the Council

 The seriousness of the offence committed

 The consequences of non-compliance

 The level of culpability of the offender

 The track record of the offender

 The likely effectiveness of the various enforcement options

 Whether the enforcement option is a proportionate response

 Public interest and concern

 The views of other relevant service departments within the Council

 The views of other organisations such as the Police and Fire and Rescue.

Page 160



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 8 
of 22

11. Civil penalties
The Housing and Planning Act 2016 has amended the Act to introduce the ability for 
the Council to seek to impose a civil penalty as an alternative to prosecution. The 
offences within the Act where a civil penalty can be imposed are:

 Failing to comply with an improvement notice under section 30

 Offences relating to the licensing of a house in multiple occupation under 
section 72

 Offences relating to the contravention of overcrowding notices (section 139)

 Failure to comply with the Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(England) Regulations 2006 in respect of HMOs (section 234)

The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for prosecution. 
This means that before taking formal action, the Council will be satisfied that if the 
case were to be prosecuted, there would be a realistic prospect of conviction, having 
regard to the Crown Prosecution’s Service Code for Crown Prosecutors12.
When making the decision to issue a civil penalty as an alternative to prosecution, 
and what level of penalty would be appropriate, the Council will make that 
determination in line with the guidance at Appendix A.
A civil penalty will not be applied if a person has already been convicted of that 
offence or where criminal proceedings have already been instigated. Income 
received from a civil penalty will be used to maintain the Council’s statutory functions 
in relation to the private rented housing sector.

12. Owner occupiers
Where a charge is being considered for action against an owner occupier, hardship 
factors will be taken into consideration and payment of the fee may be considered at 
the discretion of the Head of Housing.

13. Outline of the licensing of houses in multiple occupation
The Act provides a mandatory system of licensing for all houses in multiple 
occupation (HMOs) of three or more stories and five or more occupants who 
constitute more than one household. This policy sets out how the Council will license
relevant HMOs and how enforcement powers available to the Council will be used to 
ensure the health, safety and welfare of occupants.
To be eligible for licensing, the HMO must be reasonably suitable for occupation by 
the number of persons permitted under the license and having regard to the 
minimum prescribed standards of amenities and facilities. These include the 
number, type and quality of shared bathrooms, toilets and cooking facilities.
Adopted standards will be advertised and communicated to landlords and agents. 
The Council may also attach additional conditions to a license to ensure the HMO is 
suitable for occupation. The license holder must also be a fit and proper person.
Controlling or managing an HMO which ought to be licensed, but is not licensed,
without a reasonable excuse for doing so, is a criminal offence and the Council will 
take action as detailed above.

Page 161



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 9 
of 22

13.1. Licensing and the HHSRS
The HHSRS does not need to be considered before a license is issued. The issue of 
a license does not imply that housing standards are acceptable and that no 
subsequent enforcement action will be taken to secure standards in health, safety or 
amenity of that property. If the Council becomes aware of potential hazards during 
the licensing process, action will be taken at the earliest opportunity as detailed in 
this policy.
The license will specify the conditions that the licensee must meet. A breach of 
conditions may result in the licence being withdrawn. The operation of an HMO in 
contravention of a licensing requirement is an offence.
The Council will consider whether any licence applicant is a ‘fit and proper person’ as 
required by the Act. Landlords applying for an HMO licence will be required to 
declare that they have no unspent convictions for relevant offences. The Council 
may investigate suspected breaches of this declaration. Written evidence in support 
of the declaration will be sought from the applicant where the Council has 
reasonable suspicion that an unspent conviction exists or in the case of particular 
property uses such as that provided for vulnerable adults. Where the Council has 
evidence that a landlord is no longer a fit and proper person, licence(s) will be 
revoked.
A licence fee will be charged to cover the administrative costs. The fee will be 
reviewed annually.
Enforcement of housing and management standards of all HNMOs (including non- 
licensable HMOs) will be in accordance with this policy.
The Council will consider alternative works proposed by the responsible person for 
the property (as defined by legislation) where these will achieve the same end as 
those required by the Council.

From 1st October 2018 mandatory licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
will apply to all HMOs if they are occupied by five or more persons in two or more 
separate households. This is in addition to the current requirement for those of three 
storeys or more.

Page 162



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 10 
of 22

13.2. Unlicensed HMOs
When an HMO is brought to the attention of the Council it will investigate whether the 
property should be licensed.
It is an offence for properties with three or more storeys and five or more persons in 
more than one household that is required to have a licence, to operate without a 
licence. Where such premises are found, the owner/person having control will be 
invited to submit a valid licence application within 28 calendar days. All practical 
steps will be taken to assist the owner of the property to satisfy the licensing 
requirements except in the case of deliberate, repeat or persistent contravention 
where formal action will be pursued.
Licences will only be issued following receipt of a valid application, a verification visit 
to the premises and satisfactory fit and proper person checks.

13.3. Non-licensable HMOs
HMOs that do not require a licence are still subject to legislation governing how they 
are managed and standards that must be met. These type of properties can include 
houses made into bedsits and common areas of flats. All non-licensed HMOs known 
to the Council will be regularly inspected having regard to the management 
regulations14. The frequency of inspections will be on the basis of an assessment of 
risk, taking into account such factors as property type and condition, number of 
households within the property, amenities, fire precautions, and confidence in 
management. The inspection frequency will be dependent on risk.
The regulations set out the expected standards of management in relation to 
providing information, standards of accommodation, safety measures and waste 
disposal facilities. The Council will inspect properties and carry out actions to ensure 
that HMO management standards are maintained.

13.4. Management Orders
If a property should be licensed, but there is no reasonable prospect of granting a 
licence, the Council may apply a Management Order. The Council will make an 
order where the health and safety condition as described in the Act is met.
The Council may consider using the same power to take over the management of an 
empty property or properties in order to bring them back into use. Management 
orders may also be made on properties where anti-social behaviour is occurring.
Management orders will result in the Council (or an appointed agent) operating as if 
it were the landlord, including collecting rents, forming tenancies, carrying out 
improvements and repairs and other related management matters depending on the 
order granted. Relevant costs are recoverable.
The following orders are available:

 An interim management order

Page 163



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 10 
of 22

 A final management order

 A special interim management order

 An interim or final empty dwelling management order
All orders can be varied or revoked in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
where determined necessary by the Council.

13.5. Selective licensing of other residential accommodation
Part 2 of the Act also gives a power for local authorities to introduce additional 
licensing of other HMOs as the local authority deems appropriate. In addition, under 
Part 3 of the Act, local authorities can introduce selective licensing to deal with 
particular issues in its area as the local authority deems necessary or desirable.
At the time of writing there are no additional or selective licensing requirements in 
place in the district. The introduction of any such schemes will only take place 
following, and in accordance with, the necessary consultations.

13.6. Overcrowding
The Act provides local authorities with power to investigate complaints in respect of 
overcrowded living conditions of any HMO where no interim or final management 
order is in force and it is not required to be licenced under Part 2. Such complaints 
may be received from private sector tenants, third parties concerned about children 
or vulnerable adults living in overcrowded conditions, or where overcrowded 
conditions are legitimately impacting on a neighbours’ health, safety or welfare.

Council officers will liaise as necessary where enforcement action could likely result 
in a family having to move out of their home, to mitigate the impact of any 
subsequent action.

14. Rent Repayment Orders
The Housing and Planning Act 2016 confers power on the First-Tier Tribunal to 
make a rent repayment order where a landlord has committed one of the following 
offences:

 Have been prosecuted for operating an unlicensed HMO;

 Have failed to comply with an improvement notice;

 Has failed to comply with a prohibition order;

 Is in breach of a banning order;

 Has used violence to secure entry to a property; or

 Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers

Page 164



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 11 
of 22

A rent repayment order will require the landlord to repay an amount of rent paid by 
the tenant or pay the Council an amount in respect of a relevant award of Universal 
Credit/Housing Benefit paid.
If a person is convicted of an offence as a consequence of action brought by the 
Council, application for a rent repayment order will be considered. The Council may 
also help a tenant to apply for a rent repayment order where legislation permits.

15. Banning Orders

A Banning Order offence is an offence of a description specified in The Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 (Banning Order Offences) Regulation 2017.

Rogue Landlords who ignore their legal obligations and rent out accommodation which 
are substandard may find themselves receiving a Banning Order.

A banning order is an order by the First Tier Tribunal that bans a landlord from:
 Letting housing in England
 Engaging in English letting agency work
 Engaging in English property management work; or
 Doing two or more of those things

16. Database of Rogue Landlords and Letting Agents

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 (“The Act”) introduced a range of measures to 
help local housing authorities tackle rogue landlords and drive up standards in the 
private rented sector. There measures include establishing and operating a database 
of rogue landlords and property agents.

Local housing authorities must make an entry on the database for a person or 
organisation who has received a Banning Order. Section 30 of The Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 allows local authorities to make entries for a person who has:

 Been convicted of a banning order that has committed at a time when the 
person was a residential landlord or property agent; and/or

 Received two or more financial penalties in respect of a banning order offence 
within a period of 12 months committed at a time when the person was a 
residential landlord or a property agent

17. Energy efficiency in private rented property
Energy efficiency regulations (“the Regulations”) establish a minimum standard for 
domestic privately rented property, subject to certain requirements and exemptions:

 From the 1st April 2018, landlords of relevant domestic private rented 
properties may not grant a tenancy to new or existing tenants if their property 
has an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating of band F or G.

 From 1st April 2020, landlords must not continue letting a relevant domestic 
property which is already let if that property has an EPC rating of F or G (as 
shown on a valid EPC for the property).

Page 165



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 12 
of 22

Where a landlord wishes to continue letting property which is sub-standard, they will 
need to ensure that energy efficiency improvements are made which raise the EPC 
rating to a minimum of E.

Under prescribed circumstances within the Regulations, the landlord may claim an 
exemption from prohibition on letting a sub-standard property. Where a valid 
exemption applies the landlord must register the exemption on the national Private 
Rented Sector Exemptions Register.
The minimum standard will apply to any domestic privately rented property which is 
legally required to have an EPC and which is let on certain tenancy types. Landlords 
of property for which an EPC is not a legal requirement are not bound by the 
prohibition on letting sub-standard property.
The Council will:

 Check that properties in the district falling within the scope of the Regulations 
meet minimum levels of energy efficiency.

 Issue a compliance notice requesting information where it appears that a 
property has been let in breach of the Regulations.

 Serve a penalty notice where satisfied that the landlord is, or has in the past 
18 months, been in breach of the requirement to comply with a compliance 
notice or has provided false or misleading information on the exemptions 
register.

The Council will have regard to guidance in the application of this legislation, the 
penalty amount and the publication of the penalty.

18. Smoke and carbon monoxide alarm regulations
The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 require 
landlords of private rented accommodation to:
 Have at least one smoke alarm installed on every storey of their rental 

property which is used as living accommodation, and

 Have a carbon monoxide alarm in any room used as living accommodation 
which contains a solid fuel burning appliance.

 Ensure that each prescribed alarm is in proper working order on the day the 
tenancy begins if it is a new tenancy.

This policy gives specific consideration in relation to the above legislation, and 
Appendix B provides a statement of principles that the Council will apply in 
exercising its powers to require a relevant landlord to pay a financial penalty, which it 
will follow when determining the amount of a penalty charge.

Page 166



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 13 
of 22

19. Illegal eviction and harassment
The Council will consider action under the Protection from Eviction Act 1977 which 
makes it an offence to:
 Do acts likely to interfere with the peace or comfort of a tenant or anyone 

living with them;

 Persistently withdraw or withhold services for which the tenant has a 
reasonable need to live in the premises as a home; or

 Unlawfully deprive or attempt to deprive the residential occupier of any 
premises they occupy or any part thereof.

For any tenancies started on or after 1st October 2015 where a tenant makes a 
genuine complaint about the condition of their property that has not been addressed 
by their landlord, the Council will inspect and may serve a notice requiring works to 
be carried out, following which, for a period of six months, a section 21 notice 
requiring vacant possession may be deemed invalid.
The Council will both support tenants and deal with landlords and agents where 
these issues arise.

20. Redress schemes for lettings agency and property 
management work

All letting agents and property managers must belong to one of three Government 
approved schemes:

 Ombudsman Services Property (www.ombudsman- services.org/property.html)

 Property Redress Scheme (www.theprs.co.uk)
 The Property Ombudsman (www.tpos.co.uk)

The Council will take action where is it satisfied that, on the balance of probability, 
someone is engaged in letting or management work and is required to be a member 
of a redress scheme but has not joined.

The Council may impose further penalties if a lettings agent or property manager 
continues to fail to join a redress scheme despite having previously had a penalty 
imposed. There is no limit to the number of penalties that may be imposed on an 
individual lettings agent or property manager and further penalties may be applied if 
they continue to be in breach of the legislation.

Page 167



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 14 
of 22

21. Empty Properties
Where a residential property is found empty, the Council’s Empty Homes Policy will 
apply. Owners of empty dwellings will be encouraged to bring them back in to use 
through a range of informal action but where this is not successful then enforcement 
will be considered to address the problems and bring the property back into use.
Examples of such powers include the use of empty dwelling management orders, 
compulsory purchase orders, and enforced sale.

22. Boarding up properties
The Council has powers to board up properties that are insecure after all efforts have 
been made to contact and work with the owner, to make the property safe and 
correct any hazards found in the properties. When deemed appropriate to do so, the 
Council will consider taking such action and will detail works required and the 
reason(s) why, e.g. prevention of unauthorised entry.  The Council will look to 
recover expenses reasonably incurred where such works are undertaken.

23. Other enforcement powers
The Council will consider the use of statutory powers to deal with various housing 
issues, including statutory nuisance, dangerous structures, filthy and verminous 
premises, defective drainage and, specifically, the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 on a case-by-case basis in accordance with legislation, approved 
guidance and codes of practice etc., and in accordance with the Corporate 
Enforcement Policy and Enforcement Service Standards.

Page 168



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 15 
of 22

24. Powers of entry
Entry to a property is usually required to enable authorised officers to carry out 
statutory functions. Apart from in emergency situations, or where otherwise deemed 
counterproductive, the Council will make an appointment in the first instance and will 
give 24 hours’ notice to the occupants and owners of the intention to inspect the 
property.
Powers of entry allow an officer, at any reasonable time, to enter a property to carry 
out an inspection and gather evidence, take someone with them, take appropriate 
equipment or materials and take any measurements, photographs, recordings and 
samples as necessary. In some cases, powers of entry will be used to carry out 
works.
The Council will exercise its statutory powers to gain entry without giving prior notice 
to investigate an alleged offence or to carry out a statutory duty where it is necessary 
to protect the health and safety of any person or to protect the environment without 
avoidable delay. Application will be made to a Magistrates Court for a warrant to 
enter the premises if necessary.

25. Housing immigration – inspections and accommodation 
certificates

When an immigration application is made to come to the UK, one of the documents 
that must be provided is a letter confirming:
 The property the applicant intends to live in has been inspected

 The property is of an acceptable for occupation

 The property will not become overcrowded if they live there
As this is not a statutory function, the Council will provide this service taking into 
consideration other operational demands. A fee will be payable in advance for the 
inspection and the letter27. The current fee is charged is given on our website and 
will be subject to annual review.

26. Delegated authority and competency of officers
All officers involved with the enforcement of legislation covered by the policy will be 
competent to perform their duties in accordance with the legislation and agreed 
internal procedures and will carry out continuous professional development to do so.
The Council has delegated the authority to serve notices under various Acts, 
including the Housing Act 2004, to the Head of Housing who has in turn delegated 
the service of some of these directly to enforcement officers. All notices will be 
served having regard to this delegation scheme.

Page 169



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 16 
of 22

27. Feedback and review of this policy
This policy will be reviewed from time to time and refreshed should any changes in 
legislation or relevant codes of practice or guidance require it to be updated. The 
Council will publish this and our service standards on our website and welcomes and 
will respond to any comments on the content of the policy at any time. This policy 
and any updates or changes to it will be ratified in accordance with our constitution 
and changes will be listed in Appendix C.
Details of our general service standards and what you can expect from our officers 
can be found on our website. If an alleged offender is being prosecuted or subject to 
formal legal action then in most cases the court process has its own channels for 
legally challenging the action of the Council or the outcome, through a court appeal.

If a matter has not yet reached court or in any other case where a person is 
dissatisfied, see our Customer Feedback Policy for further advice on how to 
proceed.
You can contact the Council by the following means:
Address: South Holland District Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, 
Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Email: privatehousing@sholland.gov.uk 
Telephone 01775 761161
Website: www.sholland.gov.uk/article/5182/Private-Sector-Housing

Page 170

mailto:privatehousing@sholland.gov.uk
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/5182/Private-Sector-Housing


Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 17 
of 22

Appendix A - Civil Penalties

Prior to taking formal action against a relevant person, consideration will be given to 
current enforcement policies and the two stage test contained in the Code for Crown 
Prosecutors:

 The evidential test: that there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic 
prospect of a conviction for each offence, having regard to any potential 
defence.

 The public interest test: that it is in the public interest to pursue legal sanction 
and what sanction would be the most appropriate given the circumstances.

At the conclusion of this decision making process, the Council may determine that 
one of the following outcomes is most appropriate:

 Pursue a prosecution for the offence(s)

 Impose a civil penalty

 Apply a simple caution

 Gather additional evidence so that it can be further considered

 Find resolution using informal methods

 Take no further action
If the Council decide that the imposition of a civil penalty is the most appropriate 
course of action, then the Council will determine the level of penalty based on the 
cumulative sum of penalties for each offence, plus the sum of penalties for any 
additional offences, plus a level of penalty determined by an impact scoring matrix, 
as shown in table 1.

Table 1: Civil penalty level for Housing Act 2004 offences
(Column 1 + column 2 + column 3 = column 4).

1 2 3 4

Offence 
specific 
penalties

Further 
penalties (if 

any)
Table 3 impact 
matrix score Level of penalty Cumulative 

total

60 - 110 £1,000

120 - 170 £5,000

180 - 230 £10,000

Total for 
each 

penalty 
shown in 
Table 2, 

column A

Total for 
each 

penalty 
shown in 
Table 2, 

columns B 
and / or C 240 £20,000

Level of civil 
penalty to be 

applied
(maximum
£30,000)

Page 171



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 17 
of 22

ui Hos Colu
mn A

Colu
mn B

Co
lumn

CPenalty 
imposed for:

o t mn Penalty imposed 
where:

o t mn
Penalty 
imposed

o t mnau au whe
re:

au

Table 2: Offence specific penalty and other penalties

A B C

s.30 Non-compliance with 
improvement notice. £500 There are 2 or more category 1 

hazards. £2,000
Where there are 3 or 
more high scoring 
category 2 hazards.29

£1,000

s.72 Failure to obtain a 
property licence. £10,000

The licence holder/manager permits 
more persons or households to occupy 
than authorised by the licence.

£2,000

The HMO is licenced 
under this section 
and there is a breach 
of licence conditions 
(penalty per breach).

£1,000

s.95 Failure to obtain a 
property licence.30 £3,000

The HMO is licenced under this section 
and there is a breach of licence 
conditions (penalty per breach).

£1,000

s.139 Non-compliance with an 
overcrowding notice. £500 Penalty added for every person the 

property is overcrowded by. £200

s.234
Failure to comply with 
management regulations 
in respect of HMOs 
(penalty per breach).

£500

29 A high scoring category 2 hazard is defined as a hazard achieving a score rating of D or E under the HHSRS
30 NKDC does not operate an additional property licensing scheme. The implementation of such a scheme will be in accordance with local 
policy and statutory requirement

P
age 172



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 18 
of 22

Table 3: Impacts scoring matrix
Answer each of the questions 1 – 5 below and apply the score shown in the column header.

Score 10 20 30 40

1

Severity of harm or 
potential harm 
caused x 2

(the relevant 
column score is 
double)

Low
No harm caused. 
Potential harm 
unchanged in HHSRS 
assessment.
Previous/current 
occupant not in 
vulnerable category.

Moderate
Moderate level health 
risk(s) to relevant 
persons.
Previous/current 
occupant in vulnerable 
category.

High
High level health risk(s) to 
relevant persons.
Potential harm outcome
increased in HHSRS 
assessment.
Previous/current occupant in 
vulnerable category.
Occupants affected
frequently or by occasional 
high impact occurrences.

Severe
High level of health risk(s) to 
relevant persons.
Previous/current occupant in
vulnerable category. 
Multiple occupants at risk. 
Potential harm outcome 
increase in HHSRS 
assessment.
Occupants are severely and/or
continually effected.

2
Number of
properties 
owned/managed

1-2 3-4 5-8 8+

3 Enforcement 
history

No previous 
enforcement history.

1 previous 
enforcement notice 
served.
Moderate severity.

1 or more enforcement notice 
served previously.
Moderate to large severity.

Serial offender.
Multiple enforcement notices 
served previously.
Moderate to large severity.

4 Removal of
financial incentive

Little or no income
received

Low income received Moderate income received High income received

5 Deterrence and 
prevention

High confidence that
penalty will deter 
repeat offence.

Medium confidence
that penalty will deter 
repeat offence.

Low confidence that penalty 
will deter repeat offence.

No confidence that penalty will 
deter repeat offence.

P
age 173



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 19 
of 22

Table 3 guidance
The principle aim of imposing a financial penalty on landlords and or agents is to help 
prevent the exposure of tenants to health risks as a consequence of poor housing 
conditions which are in the control of their landlord or agent. It is for this reason a 
weighted score has been applied to the severity of harm outcome (question 1).
The number of properties owned by the landlord or managed by the agent will be 
indicative of their culpability in respect of the offence. It is assumed that a person 
owning, managing or letting properties is aware of any legal responsibilities or 
obligations.
In consideration of enforcement history, cases which were closed within the previous 7 
years will be used in determination of this question.

The term ‘serial offender’ will be applied at the discretion of the Council in consideration 
of the overall number of property enforcement-related issues brought to the attention of 
the Council in respect of the person/company over the previous 7 years. Issues 
believed by the Council to be false or malicious will not be taken into account.
The investigation of a relevant person’s/company’s financial means will involve using all 
investigatory powers available to the Council and will take into consideration all assets 
including personal assets both within and outside of the district.
In determination of the confidence level that the penalty will act as a deterrent, this will 
be to deter both the relevant person/company and other persons in the business of 
letting properties in the area from causing offences under the Act. Council records and 
First-tier Tribunal cases will be considered and a written justification retained on our 
record for future reference.
A person in a vulnerable category is defined as someone who forms part of a vulnerable 
group under the HHSRS relating to the hazard(s) present in the property, or an 
occupant or group of occupants considered by the Council to be at particular risk of 
harm that the offender ought to have regard to.
The class of harm/health risks is defined as a physical or mental illness or injury that 
corresponds to one of the four classes of harm under Schedule 2 of the Housing Health 
and Safety Rating System (England) Regulations 2005. These four classes of harm will 
be used in consideration of both the actual or potential severity of harm and justification 
of that calculation in respect of the scoring matrix and will be held within the Council’s 
records.
The financial circumstances of an individual/company will enable the Council to both 
determine the ability of the relevant person/company to pay the penalty and ensure the 
level of the penalty will act as a deterrent against the occurrence of future offences. In 
calculation of an offender’s income level, the national average gross income level will be 
considered a moderate income, and 10% increments above/below will determine their 
level of income for the purpose of the scoring matrix. If the Council has insufficient 
information to make a determination of the financial circumstances of the offender, it 
may make such a determination as it thinks fit. Where an offender can demonstrate that 
their income is less than £400 per week by providing sufficient documented evidence of 
their income, the overall financial penalty will be reduced by 50%, subject to the 
discretion of the Council.

Page 174



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 20 
of 22

Appendix B – Smoke and CO alarm

Legislative background
The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 came into force on 
1st October 2015 and introduced the following duties for “relevant landlords” when 
premises are occupied under a “specified tenancy”:

 a smoke alarm is equipped on each storey of the premises on which there is a room 
used wholly or partly as living accommodation; and

 a carbon monoxide alarm is equipped in any room of the premises which is used 
wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a solid fuel burning 
combustion appliance; and

 checks are made by or on behalf of the landlord to ensure that each prescribed 
alarm is in proper working order on the day the tenancy begins if it is a new tenancy.

Where the Council has reasonable grounds to believe that a relevant landlord is in breach 
of one or more of these duties, the Council will serve a remedial notice on the landlord.
Reasonable grounds include evidence from an officer of the Council, Lincolnshire Fire and
Rescue, Lincolnshire Police etc. The Council will take a staged approach, in line with our 
Corporate Enforcement Policy, giving the landlord 7 days to comply where there is no 
history of non-compliance. If there is a history of non-compliance or compliance is not 
achieved within 7 days a remedial notice will be served.
Where a remedial notice has been served and the Council is satisfied on the balance of 
probabilities that the landlord on whom a remedial notice was served has failed to take the 
remedial action specified in the notice within the specified period, the Council will (where 
the occupier consents) arrange for the remedial action to be undertaken and will require the 
landlord to pay a penalty charge.

Principles followed in determining the amount of Penalty Charge
The purpose is to protect the safety of residents in rented accommodation. Where 
legislation is not complied with the financial penalty aims to:

 Change the behaviour of the landlord and deter future non-compliance;
 Eliminate any financial gain associated with non-compliance;

 Be proportionate (giving consideration to seriousness, past performance; risk and 
relevant government guidance); and

 Reimburse the Council for costs incurred in enforcement.

Penalty Charge
The Regulations allow a civil penalty of up to £5,000 to be imposed on landlords who fail to 
comply with a remedial notice. Having regard to proportionality and the Corporate 
Enforcement Policy, a lesser penalty will be merited on the occasion of a first offence and 
that prompt payment of the penalty on that first occasion should attract a reduced penalty in 
recognition of early admission of liability.
However, repeat offences shall attract a higher penalty in view of an offenders continuing 
disregard for the legal requirements and tenant safety.

Page 175



Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Page 21 
of 22

The level of penalty covers the cost of all works in default, officer costs, inspections and 
administration, and on a basic cost recovery basis. In addition to this an appropriate and 
proportionate penalty fine will be levied.

Level of Penalty Charge

Penalty charge
Discount for payment

within 14 days
First Offence £700 £200

Second Offence £2500 None
Third and Subsequent Offences £5000 None

Recovery of Penalty Charge
The Council may recover the penalty charge as laid out in the Regulations on the order of a 
Court, as if payable under a Court Order.

Appeals in relation to a penalty charge notice
The landlord may request in writing, in a period that must not be less than 28 days 
beginning with the day on which the penalty notice was served, that the Council review the 
penalty charge notice. The Council will consider any representation and decide whether to 
confirm, vary or withdraw the penalty charge notice. This review will be carried out by the 
Head of Environment and Public Protection. In the event of an appeal the penalty notice will 
be suspended until such time the matter has been reviewed.

A landlord who is served with a notice confirming or varying a penalty charge notice may 
appeal to the First Tier Tribunal against the Council’s decision.

Page 176



Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 
Version 1.1
Amendment Date & Type of Amendment 25.7.18 – content change Review Date April 2019    

Private Sector Housing Enforcement 

Appendix C – Policy revisions

Date Revisions

Final Version

Revision A

Page 177



Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 
Version 1.1
Amendment Date & Type of Amendment 25.7.18 – content change Review Date April 2019    

Policy 
Name: Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy

Responsible 
Executive:

Date of 
signing:

Responsible 
Officer:

Date of 
signing:

Policy 
Register 
Number:

Service 
Area:

Adopted: Reviewed:

Page 178



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr J R Astill Chairman Reduction in Paper and Postage Task Group

To: Policy Development Panel Wednesday, 19 September 2018

(Author: Andy Prior Digital and Customer Access Manager)

Subject Reduction of Paper and Postage Task Group

Purpose: Provide progress update following the sign off of recommendations of the 
Reduction in Printing & Postage Task Group in February 2017

Recommendation(s): 

1) To consider and comment on the update and consider if further actions are required

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 The Task Group was established to look at printing and postage across the council; 
it commenced its work on 24th October 2016 and concluded on the 9th February 
2017.

1.1.2 The scope of the Task Group was:
 To review the use of printed materials and postage regarding committee 

agendas
 To review the use of printed material produced by the South Holland Centre
 To review the use of printed materials produced in relation to electoral 

information, council tax and business rates
 To review the use of printed materials by officers
 To formulate a policy
 To make recommendations for reduction in use of printed material

1.1.3 The membership of the Task Group consisted of Councillors J R Astill, (Chairman) 
H Drury, M Pullen and A Woolf. The Lead officer was A Prior.

1.2       Recommendation made by the group and approved

1.2.1 The following recommendations were made with the majority subsequently 
approved by Cabinet. Those not approved or actioned are detailed in the appendix.

 That further training should be provided to members and officers on the use of Mod.Gov 
application to review and annotate agendas.

 That meeting rooms 1 and 2 plus the Council Chamber should have fixed projectors or 
display equipment installed, and that use of these becomes commonplace within ALL 
meetings.

Page 179

Agenda Item 15.



 That as part of the ICT Refresh, collaboration software is deployed (e.g. Microsoft Lync) 
to enable individuals in ANY location to be able to share information or video 
conference between their devices.

 That where possible officers should produce reports (containing items other than text) 
capable of being printed in black and white (rather than colour) to further reduce printing 
costs.

 From 1st May 2017:
o Recipients should opt-in to receive paper copies of agendas.
o Any agendas being posted are sent 2nd Class.
o Planning agendas are not automatically printed for those not on the committee.
o Democratic Services no longer produce spare copies of agendas for members 

use or copies for officer’s use.
o Full Council agenda is reduced in size by including electronic links to Committee 

Minutes.

 That South Holland District Council actively pursues an online/paperless approach for 
council tax and business rate bills.

 Further investigation is required on how the eCitizen service can be configured to 
provide a more positive user experience.

 Further integration is required between the My Council and eCitizen service to provide a 
single customer logon.

 That the South Holland Centre investigate implementing an up to date online booking 
system that offers better reporting/customer management and works across all types of 
web browser or device.

2.0 BENEFITS ACHIEVED
Benefits achieved are contained in the following Appendix:
2.1.1 PDP Task Group Report

3.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

3.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
3.1.1 The work undertaken to date has resulted in the Council’s carbon footprint being 

reduced

3.2 Corporate Priorities

Page 180



3.2.1 The recommendations were all in line with the council’s transformation aims

3.3 Financial
3.4

3.5 The report highlights cashable savings of £1480 per year although total savings are 
higher as a number of initiatives cannot be exactly quantified at this stage 

4.0      WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

4.1 The conclusions of the report will impacted all members’ officers and residents of South 
Holland.

4.2

5.0 ACRONYMS

5.1 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Andy Prior Digital and Customer Access Manager
Telephone Number
Email: Andy.Prior@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A PDP Task Group Report - Committee Agenda Printing - September 

2018

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



South Holland District Council 

Review of 

Printing and Postage

Update for September 2018 Following Introduction of Recommendations

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the Reduction of Paper and 
Postage Task Group on behalf of Policy Development Panel                                     

10th September 2018

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 184



Contents 

1. Introduction

2. Scope of the Review

3. Summary of Findings

4. Conclusions

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 186



1. Introduction.

1.1 In 2017 the final report of the task group and its recommendations was 
presented to Cabinet for consideration.  The recommendations were as follows:
 
Non-cash:

 That further training should be provided to members and officers on the 
use of Mod.Gov application to review and annotate agendas.

Cash:

 That meeting rooms 1 and 2 plus the Council Chamber should have fixed 
projectors or display equipment installed, and that use of these becomes 
commonplace within ALL meetings.

 That as part of the ICT Refresh, collaboration software is deployed (e.g. 
Microsoft Lync) to enable individuals in ANY location to be able to share 
information or video conference between their devices.

 That where possible officers should produce reports (containing items 
other than text) capable of being printed in black and white (rather than 
colour) to further reduce printing costs.

 From 1st May 2017:
o Recipients should opt-in to receive paper copies of agendas.
o Any agendas being posted are sent 2nd Class.
o Planning agendas are not automatically printed for those not on the 

committee.
o Democratic Services no longer produce spare copies of agendas 

for members use or copies for officer’s use.
o Full Council agenda is reduced in size by including electronic links 

to Committee Minutes.

1.2 The recommendations were accepted by Cabinet, and following a slight delay 
were implemented from 1st September 2017, with the exception of the following:

 That as part of the ICT Refresh, collaboration software is deployed (e.g. 
Microsoft Lync) to enable individuals in ANY location to be able to share 
information or video conference between their devices

 Any agendas being posted are sent 2nd Class
 Full Council agenda is reduced in size by including electronic links to Committee 

Minutes

1.3 This report focusses on savings achieved for committee agendas.  However, an 
update re progress on Officer and South Holland Centre recommendations can be 
found in sections 3.2 and 3.3.

2. Scope of the Update.

2.1 The scope of this update was to:

 Review the distribution of agendas for the period from 1st September 2017 
to 31st August 2018.

 To estimate the reductions in:

Page 187



o Paper usage.
o Reduction in cost of printing.
o Reduction in cost of postage.
o Reduction in officer time spent printing and collating agendas.

 Update on progress re Officer printing and use of paper and postage at 
the South Holland Centre.

Page 188



3. Summary of Findings.

3.1 Member Agenda Printing

3.1.1 The breakdown of how members review their agendas:

 13 Members have opted to receive only electronic agendas.
 17 Members have a mix of paper and electronic agendas.
 7 Members rely on paper only agendas.

3.1.2 Of those relying on paper agendas:

 3 Members have all their agendas posted.
 12 Members have some of their agendas posted.

3.1.3 The breakdown of agendas produced is as follows:

Committee Members Electronic Printed Posted

Cabinet 14 8 6 2
Committee of the Licensing Authority 15 9 4 3
Full Council 37 23 14 8
Governance and Audit 7 5 2 1
Joint PMP/PDP 25 21 4 3
Licensing Committee 14 10 4 3
Licensing Panel 13 9 4 3
Performance Monitoring Panel 15 11 4 3
Planning 37 22 15 10
Policy Development Panel 16 15 1 1
Spalding Town Forum 11 11 0 0

3.1.4 Summary of Findings:

Summary Prior to 
Task Group

Post
Task Group Reduction Percentage

Reduction
     
Agendas Printed 1134 386 748 66
Agendas Posted 887 239 648 73
Cost of Consumables 781 277 504 65
Officer Time (in hours) 113 39 75 66
Cost of Postage 1,238 336 902 73

Page 189



3.1.5 Reduction in Number of Agendas Printed.

The number of agendas printed has reduced from 1134 to 386, a reduction of 
748, or 66% in percentage terms.

Cabinet 84 36 48
Committee of the Licensing Authority 45 12 33
Full Council 296 112 184
Governance and Audit 42 12 30
Joint PMP/PDP 50 8 42
Licensing Committee 42 12 30
Licensing Panel 13 4 9
Performance Monitoring Panel 75 20 55
Planning 407 165 242
Policy Development Panel 80 5 75

Totals 1134 386 748

Committee
Agendas Printed

(For ALL 
Members)

Agendas Printed
(For Members 
not Paperless)

Reduction

3.1.6 Reduction in Number of Agendas Posted.

The number of agendas posted has reduced from 1237 to 335, a reduction of 
902, or 73% in percentage terms.

Cabinet 42 12 30
Committee of the Licensing Authority 30 9 21
Full Council 216 64 152
Governance and Audit 30 6 24
Joint PMP/PDP 42 6 36
Licensing Committee 27 9 18
Licensing Panel 13 3 10
Performance Monitoring Panel 65 15 50
Planning 352 110 242
Policy Development Panel 70 5 65

Totals 887 239 648

Committee
Agendas Posted

(For ALL 
Members)

Agendas Posted
(For Members 
not Paperless)

Reduction

Page 190



3.1.7 Reduction in Estimated Postage Costs.

The estimated cost of posting agendas has reduced from £1238 to £336, a 
saving of £902, or 73% in percentage terms.

Cabinet £58.80 £16.80 £42.00
Committee of the Licensing Authority £26.80 £8.04 £18.76
Full Council £310.23 £91.92 £218.31
Governance and Audit £43.20 £8.64 £34.56
Joint PMP/PDP £53.76 £7.68 £46.08
Licensing Committee £24.12 £8.04 £16.08
Licensing Panel £14.30 £3.30 £11.00
Performance Monitoring Panel £101.79 £23.49 £78.30
Planning £517.76 £161.80 £355.96
Policy Development Panel £87.08 £6.22 £80.86

Totals £1,237.84 £335.93 £901.91

Committee
Cost of Postage

(For ALL 
Members)

Cost of Postage
(For Members 
not Paperless)

Reduction

3.1.8 Reduction in Cost of Consumables.

The estimated cost of consumables used to print agendas has reduced from 
£781 to £278, a reduction of £504 or 65%.

Cabinet £62.67 £26.86 £35.81
Committee of the Licensing Authority £6.32 £1.69 £4.64
Full Council £242.71 £91.83 £150.87
Governance and Audit £32.90 £9.40 £23.50
Joint PMP/PDP £21.70 £3.47 £18.23
Licensing Committee £3.99 £1.14 £2.85
Licensing Panel £2.90 £0.89 £2.01
Performance Monitoring Panel £59.33 £15.82 £43.51
Planning £304.41 £123.41 £181.00
Policy Development Panel £44.04 £2.75 £41.29

Totals £780.98 £277.27 £503.71

Committee

Cost of 
Consumables

(For ALL 
Members)

Cost of 
Consumables
(For Members 
not Paperless)

Reduction

Page 191



3.1.9 Reduction in Officer Time (spent collating agendas).

The estimated officer time spent to print and collate agendas has reduced 
from 114 hours to 38 hours, a reduction of 75 hours, or 66%.

Cabinet 8.40 3.60 4.80
Committee of the Licensing Authority 4.50 1.20 3.30
Full Council 29.60 11.20 18.40
Governance and Audit 4.20 1.20 3.00
Joint PMP/PDP 5.00 0.80 4.20
Licensing Committee 4.20 1.20 3.00
Licensing Panel 1.30 0.40 0.90
Performance Monitoring Panel 7.50 2.00 5.50
Planning 40.70 16.50 24.20
Policy Development Panel 8.00 0.50 7.50

Totals 113.40 38.60 74.80

Committee

Total of Officer 
Time 

(Collating  ALL 
Agendas)

Total of Officer 
Time

(Collating 
Agendas for 

Members not 
Paperless)

Reduction

3.1.10 Return of Household Canvass Forms.

As at 28th August, Democratic Services had received back 35 out of the 37 
Household Canvass forms issued to Members households.

The method of return for these forms is as follows:

 Completed online: 15 Members (43%).
 Completed manually and returned by post: 20 members (57%).

Page 192



3.2 Officer Printing and Use of Paper.

A number of initiatives have been put in place to reduce printing and postage by 
officers. In addition to the measures to reduce the need for printing agenda packs 
and the move towards smart technology screens in all key rooms, a review of 
photocopiers is taking place which is resulting in a reduction in the number of 
machines available and the forcing of black and white printing over colour. This 
initiative also included moving the photocopy from the Member’s room so that it can 
now be shared between officers and members.

3.3 South Holland Centre.

South Holland Centre has successfully procured the new Spektrix ticket booking 
system. Training is currently underway with the switch over date scheduled for later 
this month. This system represents a significant improvement over the old system 
and amongst the key improvements are the ability to be able to book tickets and 
seats via Apple devices. In conjunction with the launch of the new system online 
booking charges are being removed to encourage the online purchase of tickets. 
These charges are anticipated to significantly reduce the printing and postage costs 
as online booking grow. The Marketing focus of the theatre and its performances 
continues to migrate away from print media to online channels however the customer 
base of the centre continues to biased towards older people therefore care needs to 
be taken to ensure these people are still reached. 

Page 193



4. Conclusions.

4.1 Member Agenda Printing.

 That Members have embraced the recommendations to reduce the use of 
paper, and that the outcomes are better than initially expected.

 That it remains difficult to see how additional savings could be made 
without mandating the use of electronic agendas.

 That the Councillor Development Group should consider what training is 
required to help new members (in May 2019) use only electronic agendas.

4.2 Officer printing and Use of Paper.

 In parallel with the reduction of members agenda printing there has also 
been a reduction in officers’ agenda printing. In addition to this other 
initiatives such as the rationalisation of photo copy facilities and the 
technical improvements to  meeting rooms have also resulted in reduced 
use of printers and where this is not possible the adoption of black and 
white over colour.

4.3 South Holland Centre.

 South Holland Centre embraced the recommendations and is currently in 
the process of installing a new booking system which will result in a 
reduction of printing and postage

Page 194



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

To: Policy Development Panel – 19 September 2018

(Author: Gregory Watkinson Democratic Services Officer)

Subject Policy Development Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 

Recommendation: 

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Background

1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide 
the opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

Page 195

Agenda Item 16.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is considered identifies how strongly the 
topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 
Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.
Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Gregory Watkinson Democratic Services Officer
Telephone Number 01775 764599Tel: 01775 764599
Email: gwatkinson@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar
Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2017/18

Page 196



APPENDIX A

Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items

Date of Meeting Agenda items
19 September 2018  Policy Register – standing agenda item. Consideration of 

issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Housing Allocation Policy (Martin Cregg)
 Houses in Multiple Occupation Licensing Policy (Phil 

Stacey)
 Gambling Act Statement of Principles (Donna Hall)
 Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (Phil Stacey)
 Street Naming and Numbering Policy (Phil Norman)
 Update on current situation around long-term empty 

homes (previous updates 22/7/15, 13/1/16, 5/7/16 and 
28/2/17).

 Update report on progress of recommendations of the 
Paper and Postage Costs Task Group (Task Group 
Chairman, Councillor Astill)

6 November 2018  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Corporate Enforcement Policy (Sarah Shipley) – update 
 Safeguarding Policy (Donna Hall)

15 January 2019  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

5 March 2019  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Strategic Tenancy Policy (Matthew Hogan)

Future (Unscheduled) Meetings
April/May/June 2019  Review of the HMO licensing Policy – Phil Stacey

Note: Taxi Licensing Policy – this policy will now be considered at a future meeting when 
updates have been received on relevant legislation.

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAM ME 2017/2018

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership of 
Task Group

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel

Public Open Spaces 
Task Group

Scope to be agreed at first meeting
To look at the Council’s current policies 
on Public Open Spaces and what could 
be developed to help in the future.
In addition, following the Performance 
Monitoring Panel’s review of implemented 
planning decisions, some of the 
recommendations arising from this review 
to be addressed through the Task Group.

5 July 2016 23 November 
2017

J Astill
L Eldridge
J Reynolds
J Tyrrell(Chairman)
B Alcock (PMP)
A M Newton (PMP)

Data Protection/Data 
Retention Task Group

To consider the implications of 
forthcoming changes to the Data 
Protection Policy as follows:
 To develop the new policy in light of 

issues raised in the gap analysis and 
legislative changes and that a more 
detailed suggested scope would be 
circulated prior to the first Task Group 
meeting.

3 October 
2017

11 December 
2017

H Drury
M D McLean
A R Woolf 
(Chairman)
A Harrison 

To PDP 1 May 2018 
To Cabinet 29 May 2018

Planning Design Scope to be agreed at a later date.
Issues raised are detailed within PDP 
minutes of 25 July 2017.

25 July 2017 To 
commence 
2018, after 
end of 
examination 
period of 
Local Plan.

To be confirmed

P
age 199



Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) and 
Homelessness

An officer of the Private Sector Housing 
Team attended meeting on 5 December 
2017 to explain processes and issues 
around HMOs. Officer will report back 
after new legislation has come into force 
in 2018. Consideration to be then given to 
setting up a task group and scope.
Issues raised are detailed within PDP 
minutes of 25 July 2017.

25 July 2017 To 
commence 
following 
completion of 
Planning 
Design Task 
Group

To be confirmed

Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
of the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

To make recommendations, regarding 
the present and future leisure     provision 
in South Holland.
1. By establishing what leisure provision 

the District Council presently 
provides, examining costs, resident 
satisfaction and competitiveness in 
order to identify ways of increasing 
income or reducing expenditure;

2. To understand what the District 
Council wishes to provide and what 
the public and major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future 
provision either to be supplied by the 
Council, the private sector or shared 
management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A 
date for completion of the Business Plan 
looking at Leisure Services provision, 
being drawn together by the Community 
Development and Health Manager, be 
confirmed by the Assistant Director 
Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel, for 
consideration of the document, be 

30 April 2013 21 January 
2014

G Aley (Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G Dark
R Perkins (Vice-
Chairman)
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: Phil 
Adams

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Interim report presented 
to joint PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014
To Cabinet  7 October 
2014
Tracking of 
recommendations to 
PDP 10 February 2015 
Update on Leisure 
options to PMP 3 March 
2015 (PDP members to 
attend PMP meeting)

P
age 200



arranged.
Following consideration of the update to 
PMP on 3 March 2015 (PDP members 
were invited to attend), it was agreed that 
leisure provision must be a priority for the 
Council, and must be considered as a 
priority by the next administration 
following the District Council election.

P
age 201



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Key Decision Plan
	Plan

	8. Policy Register
	9. Revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy
	Appendix 1 for Revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy

	10. Gambling Act - Statement of Principles
	Gambling Act Statement of Principles

	11. Review of Housing Allocations Policy
	Appendix 1 for Review of Housing Allocations Policy

	12. Houses In Multiple Occupation Policy
	Appendix 1 for HIMO Licensing Policy

	13. Addressing Long Term Empty Homes
	14. Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy
	20180911093550_002667_0005531_AppendixAPrivateSectorHousingEnforcementPolicyVersion11

	15. Reduction of Paper and Postage Task Group
	Appendix 1 for Reduction of Paper and Postage Task Group

	16. Policy Development Work Programme
	Appendix 1 for Policy Development Work Programme
	Appendix 2 for Policy Development Work Programme


